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SUBCHAPTER A—REGULATIONS UNDER SECTION 15C OF 
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

PART 400—RULES OF GENERAL 
APPLICATION 

Sec. 

400.1 Scope of regulations. 

400.2 Office responsible for regulations; fil-

ing of requests for exemptions, for inter-

pretations, and of other materials. 

400.3 Definitions. 

400.4 Information concerning associated 

persons of financial institutions that are 

government securities brokers or dealers. 

400.5 Amendments to application for reg-

istration and to notice of status as a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer. 

400.6 Notice of withdrawal from business as 

a government securities broker or dealer 

by a financial institution. 

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 78o–5. 

SOURCE: 52 FR 27926, July 24, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 400.1 Scope of regulations. 
(a) Title I of the Government Securi-

ties Act of 1986 (Pub. L. 99–571, 100 Stat. 

3208) amends the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 (48 Stat. 881–905; 15 U.S.C. 

chapter 2B) (‘‘Act’’) by adding section 

15C, authorizing the Secretary of the 

Treasury to promulgate regulations 

concerning the financial responsibility, 

protection of customer securities and 

balances, recordkeeping and reporting 

of brokers and dealers in government 

securities. Those regulations con-

stitute subchapter A of this chapter. 

Unless otherwise explicitly provided, 

all regulations in this subchapter apply 

to all government securities brokers or 

dealers, including registered brokers or 

dealers and financial institutions. Reg-

istered brokers or dealers include OTC 

derivatives dealers. 

(b) Section 15C(a)(1)(A) of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78o–5(a)(1)(A)) requires all gov-

ernment securities brokers and govern-

ment securities dealers, except those 

who are brokers or dealers registered 

pursuant to section 15 or section 15B of 

the Act or financial institutions, to 

register with the Securities and Ex-

change Commission (‘‘Commission’’). 

Regulations concerning registration 

are at § 240.15Ca2–1 et seq. of this title. 

The Commission is responsible for the 

interpretation of the definitions of gov-

ernment securities broker and govern-

ment securities dealer and of the regu-

lations at § 240.15Ca2–1 et seq. 

(c) Section 15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Act 

(15 U.S.C. 78o–5(a)(1)(B)(i)) requires all 

government securities brokers or deal-

ers that are also registered brokers or 

dealers to notify the Commission of 

their status as government securities 

brokers or dealers. Regulations con-

cerning notice are at § 240.15Ca1–1 of 

this title. 

(d) Section 15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Act 

also requires all government securities 

brokers or dealers that are financial in-

stitutions to notify the appropriate 

regulatory agency, as defined in sec-

tion 3(a)(34)(G) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 

78c(a)(34)(G)), of their status as govern-

ment securities brokers or dealers. The 

form of notice, Form G-FIN, is at § 449.1 

of this chapter. Forms are available 

from the appropriate regulatory agen-

cy. 

(e) Section 104 of the Government Se-

curities Act Amendments of 1993 (Pub. 

L. 103–202, 107 Stat. 2344) amended Sec-

tion 15C of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o–5) by 

adding a new subsection (f), author-

izing the Secretary of the Treasury to 

adopt rules to require specified persons 

holding, maintaining or controlling a 

large position in to-be-issued or re-

cently-issued Treasury securities to re-

port such a position and make and 

keep records related to such a position. 

Part 420 of this subchapter contains 

the rules governing large position re-

porting. 

[52 FR 27926, July 24, 1987, as amended at 61 

FR 48348, Sept. 12, 1996; 71 FR 54410, Sept. 15, 

2006] 

§ 400.2 Office responsible for regula-
tions; filing of requests for exemp-
tions, for interpretations and of 
other materials. 

(a) Office responsible. The regulations 

in this chapter are promulgated by the 

Assistant Secretary (Domestic Fi-

nance) pursuant to a delegation of au-

thority from the Secretary of the 
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17 CFR Ch. IV (4–1–18 Edition) § 400.2 

Treasury. The office responsible for im-

plementing the regulations, including 

interpretations and action on requests 

for exemption, classification, or modi-

fication, is the Office of the Commis-

sioner, Bureau of the Fiscal Service. 

(b)(1) Exemptions and classifications. 
Section 15C(a)(4) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 

78o–5(a)(4)) authorizes the Secretary to 

exempt any government securities 

broker or dealer or class thereof, condi-

tionally or unconditionally, from the 

requirements of registration or regula-

tions promulgated under section 15C. 

In addition, section 15C(b)(3) of the Act 

(15 U.S.C. 78o–5(b)(3)) provides for clas-

sification, by the Secretary, of govern-

ment securities brokers or dealers and 

authorizes the whole or partial exemp-

tion of classes from rules under section 

15C or the application of different 

standards to different classes. 

(2) Interpretations. Although the ap-

propriate regulatory agencies, as de-

fined in § 400.3, and the self-regulatory 

organizations, as defined in section 

3(a)(26) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(26)), 

have enforcement responsibility under 

section 15C of the Act, Treasury is re-

sponsible for interpretation of section 

15C(b) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o–5(b)) 

and related sections and for interpreta-

tion and amendment of the regulations 

under this chapter (with the exception 

of Forms G-FIN and G-FINW, §§ 449.1 

and 449.2 of this chapter, which are the 

responsibility of the Board of Gov-

ernors of the Federal Reserve System 

[‘‘Board’’]). 

(c) Requests for interpretations, exemp-
tions, classifications. (1) Interpretations 

under this chapter may be provided, at 

the discretion of the Department, to 

firms or individuals actually or poten-

tially affected by the Act or regula-

tions, or to their representatives. 

(2) Exemptions and classifications 

under sections 15C (a), (b) and (d) of the 

Act (15 U.S.C. 78o–5 (a), (b), and (d)) and 

related sections and Treasury regula-

tions thereunder may be provided at 

the discretion of the Department and 

after consultation with the SEC and 

the Board, to firms or individuals actu-

ally or potentially affected by the Act 

or regulations, or to their representa-

tives. 

(3) All requests for exemptions and 

classifications, and all requests for 

binding interpretations, shall be in 

writing, and shall conform to the fol-

lowing procedures. 

(i) The names of the company or 

companies and all other persons in-

volved shall be stated. Letters per-

taining to unnamed companies or per-

sons or hypothetical situations will not 

be answered. 

(ii) The letter must contain a concise 

but complete statement of all material 

facts, a complete and accurate descrip-

tion of the entire transaction if the re-

quest is transactional (even though a 

request may apply to only a portion of 

a transaction), and a concise and un-

ambiguous statement of the request, 

including precise statutory and regu-

latory citations. 

(iii) The letter shall indicate why the 

writer believes a problem exists or in-

terpretation is needed, the writer’s 

opinion on the matter, and the basis 

for such opinion. 

(iv) In addition to requests for con-

fidential treatment under paragraph 

(c)(7)(ii) of this section, a person may 

request confidential treatment of in-

formation that is submitted as part of, 

or in support of, a request for interpre-

tation, exemption, or classification. A 

separate request for confidential treat-

ment and the basis for such request 

shall be submitted at the time the in-

formation for which confidential treat-

ment is requested is submitted. The re-

quest for confidential treatment must 

specifically identify the information 

for which such confidential treatment 

is requested. To the extent practicable, 

the information should be segregated 

from information for which confiden-

tial treatment is not requested and 

should be clearly marked as confiden-

tial. 

(v) Information designated as con-

fidential in accordance with paragraph 

(c)(3)(iv) of this section shall not be 

disclosed to a person requesting such 

information other than in accordance 

with the procedures outlined in the De-

partment’s regulations published at 31 

CFR 1.6. 

(vi) An original and two copies of 

each request letter shall be submitted 

to the Office of the Commissioner, Gov-

ernment Securities Regulations Staff, 

Bureau of the Fiscal Service, 5th Floor, 

401 14th Street SW., Washington, DC 
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Department of the Treasury § 400.3 

20227. The envelope shall be marked 

‘‘Government Securities Act Request.’’ 

The letter shall indicate in the upper 

right hand corner of the first page the 

particular sections of the Act and of 

the regulations at issue. 

(4) A written response by the Depart-

ment to a request filed as stated in 

paragraph (c)(3) of this section shall be 

binding, with respect to the requester, 

on the Department, but shall cease to 

be binding if the facts are not as stated 

in the request or, prospectively, if the 

Department issues a superseding inter-

pretation. In responding to such a re-

quest, the Department will, where ap-

propriate, consult with and may obtain 

the formal concurrence of the appro-

priate regulatory agencies or their 

staffs. The Department understands 

that even if formal concurrence is not 

received the appropriate regulatory 

agencies and self-regulatory organiza-

tions will give appropriate deference to 

binding interpretations of the Depart-

ment. The Department also expects the 

SEC staff to reflect such interpreta-

tions in responding, pursuant to the es-

tablished procedures of the Commis-

sion, to no-action requests concerning 

rules the SEC enforces. 

(5) The Department may decline to 

issue an interpretation for any reason 

and, in particular, may require that a 

requester make inquiry of its appro-

priate regulatory agency, the Commis-

sion or designated examining authority 

before the Department responds to a 

request. 

(6) The Department will also provide 

informal oral and written advice, but 

such advice is not binding on the De-

partment or on any other agency or or-

ganization. 

(7)(i) Except as provided in para-

graphs (c)(3)(iv) and (c)(7)(ii) of this 

section, every letter or other written 

communication requesting the Depart-

ment to provide interpretive legal ad-

vice under the Act or to grant, deny or 

modify an exemption, classification or 

modification of the regulations, to-

gether with any written response 

thereto, shall be made available for in-

spection and copying as soon as prac-

ticable after the response has been sent 

or given to the person requesting it. 

These documents will be made avail-

able at the following location: Treas-

ury Department Library, 1500 Pennsyl-
vania Avenue NW., Annex, Room 1020, 
Washington, DC 20220. 

(ii) Any person submitting a letter or 
communication may also simulta-
neously submit a request that the let-
ter or communication and the Depart-
ment’s response be accorded confiden-
tial treatment for a specified period of 
time not to exceed 120 days from the 
date the response has been made or 
given to such person. The request shall 
state the basis upon which the request 
for confidential treatment has been 
made. If the Department determines 
that the request for confidential treat-
ment should be denied, the requester 
will be given 30 days to withdraw ei-

ther the request for confidential treat-

ment or the letter or communication 

requesting an interpretation, classi-

fication, or exemption. 
(d) Effect of Commission interpreta-

tions. Interpretations of the Commis-

sion and its staff (including no-action 

positions) and of the designated exam-

ining authorities, of any Commission 

regulation expressly adopted by ref-

erence in these regulations shall be of 

the same effect as if the regulation 

being interpreted were solely the Com-

mission’s regulation. However, in the 

event the Treasury has issued a formal 

interpretation on the subject, the 

Treasury understands that the Com-

mission will give that interpretation 

appropriate deference, particularly 

with respect to both subsequent no-ac-

tion positions and the continued valid-

ity of prior no-action positions. 

[52 FR 27926, July 24, 1987, as amended at 53 

FR 28984, Aug. 1, 1988; 72 FR 54410, Sept. 15, 

2006; 79 FR 38454, July 8, 2014] 

§ 400.3 Definitions. 
Unless otherwise explicitly provided, 

in this subchapter and for the purposes 

of these regulations: 
Act means the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 (48 Stat. 881, 15 U.S.C. chap-

ter 2B, as amended); 
Appropriate regulatory agency has the 

meaning set out in section 3(a)(34)(G) 

of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(34)(G)), and, 

with respect to a financial institution 

for which an appropriate regulatory 

agency is not explicitly designated, the 

appropriate regulatory agency is the 

SEC; 
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17 CFR Ch. IV (4–1–18 Edition) § 400.3 

Associated person means a person 
other than a person whose functions 
are solely clerical or ministerial: 

(1) Directly engaged in any of the fol-
lowing activities in either a super-
visory or non-supervisory capacity: 

(i) Underwriting, trading or sales of 

government securities; 
(ii) Financial advisory or consultant 

services for issuers in connection with 

the issuance of government securities; 
(iii) Research or investment advice, 

other than general economic informa-

tion or advice, with respect to govern-

ment securities in connection with the 

activities described in paragraphs 

(c)(1)(i) and (c)(1)(ii) of this section; 
(iv) Activities other than those spe-

cifically mentioned which involve com-

munication, directly or indirectly, 

with public investors in government se-

curities in connection with the activi-

ties described in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) 

and (c)(1)(ii) of this section; or 
(2) Directly engaged in the following 

activities in a supervisory capacity: 
(i) Processing and clearance activi-

ties with respect to government securi-

ties; 
(ii) Maintenance of records involving 

any of the activities described in para-

graph (c)(1) of this section; 

Provided, however, 

(3) That in the case of a financial in-

stitution, 
(i) Persons whose government securi-

ties functions: (A) Consist solely of car-

rying out the financial institution’s ac-

tivities in a fiduciary capacity and (B) 

are subject to examination by the ap-

propriate regulatory agency for com-

pliance with requirements applicable 

to activities by the financial institu-

tion in a fiduciary capacity, shall not 

be considered ‘‘associated persons’’; 
(ii) Persons whose sole government 

securities activities are, without exer-

cising any investment discretion and 

solely at the direction of customers, to 

receive and/or transmit customer or-

ders to purchase or sell government se-

curities, but who do not give invest-

ment advice or receive transaction- 

based compensation shall not be con-

sidered ‘‘associated persons’’; and 
(iii) Directors and senior officers of 

the financial institution who may from 

time to time set broad policy guide-

lines affecting the financial institution 

as a whole that are not directly related 

to the conduct of the financial institu-

tion’s government securities business 

are not considered to be ‘‘directly en-

gaged’’ in the activities described in 

this paragraph (c); 

Board means the Board of Governors 

of the Federal Reserve System; 

Branch or agency of a foreign bank 
means a Federal branch or Federal 

agency of a foreign bank or a State 

branch or State agency of a foreign 

bank as such terms are used in the 

International Banking Act of 1978, Pub. 

L. 95–369, 92 Stat. 607; 

CFTC means the Commodity Futures 

Trading Commission; 

Commission or SEC means the Securi-

ties and Exchange Commission; 

Designated examining authority and 

Examining Authority mean (1) in the 

case of a registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer that belongs to 

only one self-regulatory organization, 

such self-regulatory organization, and 

(2) in the case of a registered govern-

ment securities broker or dealer that 

belongs to more than one self-regu-

latory organization, the self-regulatory 

organization designated by the Com-

mission pursuant to section 17(d) of the 

Act (15 U.S.C. 78q(d)) as the entity with 

responsibility for examining such reg-

istered government securities broker 

or dealer; 

Fiduciary capacity includes trustee, 

executor, administrator, registrar, 

transfer agent, guardian, assignee, re-

ceiver, managing agent, and any other 

similar capacity involving the sole or 

shared exercise of discretion by a fi-

nancial institution having fiduciary 

powers that is supervised by a Federal 

or state financial institution regu-

latory agency; 

Financial institution has the meaning 

set out in section 3(a)(46) of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78c(a)(46)), and such term explic-

itly does not include a subsidiary or af-

filiate of an institution described in 

such section unless such subsidiary or 

affiliate is itself described in such sec-

tion; 

Government securities broker has the 

meaning set out in section 3(a)(43) of 

the Act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(43)), and ex-

plicitly includes not only registered 

government securities brokers, but 
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Department of the Treasury § 400.4 

also registered brokers and financial 

institutions; 

Government securities dealer has the 

meaning set out in section 3(a)(44) of 

the Act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(44)), and ex-

plicitly includes not only registered 

government securities dealers, but also 

registered dealers and financial insti-

tutions; 

Government securities has the meaning 

set out in section 3(a)(42) of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78c(a)(42)); 

OTC derivatives dealer has the same 

meaning set out in 17 CFR 240.3b–12. 

Registered broker or dealer means a 

broker or dealer registered pursuant to 

section 15 or section 15B of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78o, 78o–4)) but does not include 

a municipal securities dealer that is a 

bank or a separately identifiable de-

partment or division of a bank; 

Registered government securities broker 
or dealer means a government securi-

ties broker or dealer registered pursu-

ant to section 15C(a)(1)(A) of the Act 

(15 U.S.C. 78o–5(a)(1)(A)); 

Secretary means the Secretary of the 

Treasury; and 

Treasury or Department means the De-

partment of the Treasury, including in 

particular the Bureau of the Fiscal 

Service. 

[52 FR 27926, July 24, 1987, as amended at 55 

FR 6604, Feb. 26, 1990; 71 FR 54410, Sept. 15, 

2006; 79 FR 38455, July 8, 2014] 

§ 400.4 Information concerning associ-
ated persons of financial institu-
tions that are government securi-
ties brokers or dealers. 

(a) Every associated person of a fi-

nancial institution that is a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer that is 

not exempt pursuant to Part 401 of this 

chapter shall file with such financial 

institution a completed Form G-FIN-4 

(§ 449.4 of this chapter) unless such per-

son has on file with such financial in-

stitution a completed and current 

Form U–4 (promulgated by a self-regu-

latory organization) or Form MSD–4 

(as required for associated persons of 

bank municipal securities dealers). 

(b) To the extent any information 

furnished by an associated person pur-

suant to paragraph (a) of this section 

(including information on a Form U–4 

or Form MSD–4) is or becomes materi-

ally inaccurate or incomplete, such as-

sociated person shall promptly furnish 

in writing to such financial institution, 

in a form acceptable to the appropriate 

regulatory agency for such financial 

institution, a statement correcting 

such information. 

(c) For the purpose of verifying the 

information furnished by an associated 

person pursuant to paragraph (a) of 

this rule, every government securities 

broker or dealer that is a financial in-

stitution shall make inquiry of all 

other employers of such associated per-

son during the immediately preceding 

three years concerning the accuracy 

and completeness of such information. 

(d) Every government securities 

broker or dealer that is a financial in-

stitution not exempt from this section 

pursuant to Part 401 of this chapter 

shall: 

(1) Promptly obtain and, within 10 

days thereafter, file with the appro-

priate regulatory agency, in a form ac-

ceptable to such appropriate regu-

latory agency, the information re-

quired by paragraph (a) of this section 

(which shall consist of all Forms G- 

FIN–4 filed and a list of all associated 

persons who have filed Forms MSD–4 or 

U–4 with the financial institution since 

the last such filing, designating wheth-

er the associated person is serving in a 

supervisory or non-supervisory capac-

ity) and by paragraph (b) of this sec-

tion; and 

(2) File with the appropriate regu-

latory agency within 30 days after the 

termination of the status of an indi-

vidual as an associated person a Form 

G-FIN-5 (§ 449.4 of this chapter), un-

less— 

(i) The financial institution is re-

quired to and has filed a Form U–5 or 

Form MSD–5 with respect to such per-

son; or 

(ii) The financial institution notifies 

the appropriate regulatory agency that 

the individual will remain in the finan-

cial institution’s employment and the 

financial institution will continue to 

update the information about such in-

dividual as provided in paragraph (b) of 

this section and will file a Form G- 

FIN-5 within 30 days after the termi-

nation of such individual’s employment 

with the financial institution. 

(e) Every notice and form filed pursu-

ant to this section shall constitute a 
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‘‘report’’ within the meaning of sec-

tions 15, 15C and 32(a) of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78o, 78o–5, 78ff(a)). 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27926, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 11026, Mar. 1, 1995] 

§ 400.5 Amendments to application for 
registration and to notice of status 
as a government securities broker 
or dealer. 

(a)(1) If the information contained in 

any application for registration as a 

government securities broker or dealer 

(other than the statements required by 

§ 240.15Ca2–2 of this title) or in any 

amendment thereto, becomes inac-

curate for any reason, the registered 

government securities broker or dealer 

shall file within 30 days thereafter an 

amendment on Form BD (§ 249.501 of 

this title) correcting such information, 

in accordance with the instructions 

provided therein. 

(2) If the information contained in 

any notice of status as a government 

securities broker or dealer filed by a 

registered broker or dealer, or in any 

amendment thereto, becomes inac-

curate for any reason, the registered 

broker or dealer shall file within 30 

days an amendment on Form BD 

(§ 249.501 of this title) correcting such 

information, in accordance with the in-

structions provided therein. 

(b) If the information contained in 

any notice of status as a government 

securities broker or dealer filed by a fi-

nancial institution, or any amendment 

thereto, becomes inaccurate for any 

reason, the financial institution shall 

file within 30 days an amendment on 

Form G-FIN (§ 449.1 of this chapter) 

correcting such information, in accord-

ance with the instructions provided 

therein. 

(c) Every amendment filed pursuant 

to this section shall constitute a ‘‘re-

port’’ within the meaning of sections 

15, 15C and 32(a) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 

78o, 78o–5, 78ff(a)). 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27926, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 11026, Mar. 1, 1995] 

§ 400.6 Notice of withdrawal from busi-
ness as a government securities 
broker or dealer by a financial in-
stitution. 

(a) Whenever a financial institution 
that is a government securities broker 
or dealer that is not exempt from the 
notice requirements of section 
15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o– 
5(a)(1)(B)(i)) and of § 400.5 pursuant to 
part 401 of this chapter, ceases to act 
as a government securities broker or 
dealer, it shall file with the appro-
priate regulatory agency notice of such 
cessation on Form G-FINW (§ 449.2 of 
this chapter) in accordance with the in-
structions contained therein. 

(b) Except as provided in paragraph 
(c) of this section, a notice that a fi-
nancial institution has ceased to act as 
a government securities broker or deal-
er shall become effective for all pur-
poses on the 60th day after the filing 
thereof with the appropriate regu-
latory agency or within such shorter 
period of time as the appropriate regu-
latory agency determines. 

(c) If the notice described in para-
graph (a) of this section is filed with 
the appropriate regulatory agency any 
time after the date of the issuance of a 
notice or order by the appropriate reg-
ulatory agency instituting proceedings 
pursuant to section 15C(c)(2)(A) of the 
Act (15 U.S.C. 78o–5(c)(2)(A)) to censure, 
suspend, limit, or bar from acting as a 
government securities broker or gov-
ernment securities dealer the entity 
filing such notice, or if the appropriate 
regulatory agency has instituted any 
action against the entity filing such 
notice pursuant to section 15C(2)(B) of 
the Act (15 U.S.C. § 78o–5(c)(2)(B)), the 
notice shall become effective pursuant 
to paragraph (b) of this section at such 
time and upon such terms and condi-
tions as the appropriate regulatory 
agency deems necessary or appropriate 
in the public interest for the protection 
of investors. 

(d) Every notice filed pursuant to 
this section shall constitute a ‘‘report’’ 
within the meaning of sections 15, 15C 

and 32(a) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o, 78o– 

5, 78ff(a)). 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27926, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 18734, Apr. 13, 1995] 
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PART 401—EXEMPTIONS 

Sec. 

401.1 Exemption for organizations handling 

transactions in United States Savings 

Bonds. 

401.2 Exemtion for depository institutions 

that submit tenders for the account of 

customers for purchase on original issue 

of United States Treasury securities. 

401.3 Exemption for financial institutions 

that are engaged in limited government 

securities brokerage activities. 

401.4 Exemption for financial institutions 

engaged in limited government securities 

dealer activities. 

401.5 Exemption for corporate credit unions 

transacting limited government securi-

ties business with other credit unions. 

401.6 Exemption for branches and agencies 

of foreign banks that deal solely with 

non-United States citizens resident off-

shore. 

401.7 Exemption for certain foreign govern-

ment securities brokers or dealers. 

AUTHORITY: Sec. 101, Pub. L. 99–571, 100 

Stat. 3209 (15 U.S.C. 78o–5(a)(4)). 

SOURCE: 52 FR 27930, July 24, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 401.1 Exemption for organizations 
handling transactions in United 
States Savings Bonds. 

An organization that handles United 

States Savings Bond transactions, in-

cluding a qualified issuing or paying 

agent or an organization that accom-

modates customers or employees by 

forwarding requested transactions to 

qualified issuing or paying agents or 

the Treasury and whose transactions in 

government securities are limited to 

these transactions and such other ac-

tivities that are exempted by the regu-

lations under this subchapter, shall be 

exempt from the provisions of section 

15C (a), (b) and (d) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 

78o–5 (a), (b), (d)) and the regulations of 

this subchapter. For the purposes of 

this section, the term ‘‘United States 

Savings Bond’’ means any savings-type 

security offered by the Treasury, in-

cluding all series of United States Sav-

ings Bonds, United States Savings 

Notes and United States Savings 

Stamps. 

§ 401.2 Exemption for depository insti-
tutions that submit tenders for the 
account of customers for purchase 
on original issue of United States 
Treasury securities. 

(a) Subject to the requirements of 

paragraph (b) of this section, a deposi-

tory institution that submits tenders 

or subscriptions for purchase on origi-

nal issue of United States Treasury se-

curities for the account of customers 

on a fully disclosed basis, whose trans-

actions in government securities are 

limited to such transactions and such 

other activities as have been exempted 

by regulation under this subchapter 

shall be exempt from the provisions of 

section 15C (a), (b) and (d) of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78o–5 (a), (b), (d)) and the regula-

tions of this subchapter. 

(b) A depository institution that re-

lies on the exemption contained in 

paragraph (a) of this section is required 

to comply with the regulations of part 

450 of this chapter concerning custodial 

holdings of government securities. 

(c) For the purposes of this section, 

‘‘depository institution’’ has the mean-

ing stated in clauses (i) through (vi) of 

section 19(b)(1)(A) of the Federal Re-

serve Act (12 U.S.C. 461(b)(1)(A)(i)–(vi)) 

and also includes a foreign bank, an 

agency or branch of a foreign bank and 

a commercial lending company owned 

or controlled by a foreign bank (as 

such terms are used in the Inter-

national Banking Act of 1978, Pub. L. 

95–369, 92 Stat. 607). 

§ 401.3 Exemption for financial institu-
tions that are engaged in limited 
government securities brokerage 
activities. 

(a)(1) Subject to the requirements of 

paragraph (b) of this section, a finan-

cial institution shall be exempt from 

the provisions of sections 15C (a), (b), 

and (d) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o–5 (a), 

(b), (d)) and the regulations of this sub-

chapter, unless it acts as a government 

securities broker by: 

(i) Holding itself out as a government 

securities broker or interdealer broker; 

or 

(ii) Actively soliciting purchases or 

sales of government securities on an 

agency basis; 
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(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of 

paragraph (a)(1) of this section, a finan-

cial institution shall not be regarded as 

acting as a government securities 

broker within the meaning of this sec-

tion if it: 

(i) Effects fewer than 500 government 

securities brokerage transactions 

(other than transactions described in 

§§ 401.1 or 401.2) per year; or 

(ii) Effects all such transactions 

(other than transactions described in 

§§ 401.1 or 401.2) pursuant to a contrac-

tual or other arrangement with one or 

more government securities brokers or 

dealers each of which has registered or 

filed notice pursuant to section 

15C(a)(1) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o– 

5(a)(1)) (each referred to as the 

‘‘transacting government securities 

broker or dealer’’) under which the 

transacting government securities 

broker or dealer will offer securities 

services on or off the premises of the fi-

nancial institution, provided that: 

(A) The transacting government se-

curities broker or dealer is clearly 

identified to customers as the person 

performing the securities services; 

(B) Financial institution employees 

perform only clerical and ministerial 

or order-taking functions in connection 

with government securities trans-

actions unless such employees are asso-

ciated persons (as defined in § 400.3 of 

this chapter) or registered representa-

tives of the transacting government se-

curities broker or dealer; 

(C) Financial institution employees 

do not receive compensation for gov-

ernment securities activities other 

than clerical or ministerial functions 

unless such employees are associated 

persons (as defined in § 400.3 of this 

chapter) or registered representatives 

of the transacting government securi-

ties broker or dealer; and 

(D) Such services are provided on a 

fully disclosed basis by the transacting 

government securities broker or deal-

er, i.e., the transacting government se-

curities broker or dealer receives and 

maintains all required information 

concerning each customer, its trading 

and account. 

(b)(1) A financial institution that re-

lies on the exemption contained in 

paragraph (a) of this section is required 

to comply with the regulations of part 

450 of this chapter concerning custodial 

holdings of government securities for 

customers. 

(2) A branch or agency of a foreign 

bank that relies on the exemption con-

tained in paragraph (a) of this section 

is in addition required to comply with 

§ 403.5(e) of this chapter. 

(c) For the purposes of this section 

‘‘financial institution’’ includes an in-

sured credit union, as defined in 12 

U.S.C. 1752(7). 

[52 FR 27930, July 24, 1987, as amended at 71 

FR 54411, Sept. 15, 2006] 

§ 401.4 Exemption for financial institu-
tions engaged in limited govern-
ment securities dealer activities. 

(a) Subject to the requirements of 

paragraph (b) of this section, a finan-

cial institution shall be exempt from 

the provisions of sections 15C (a), (b), 

and (d) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o–5 (a), 

(b), (d)) and the regulations of this sub-

chapter if its government securities 

dealer activities are limited to one or 

more of the following activities: 

(1) Sales or purchases in a fiduciary 

capacity; 

(2) The sale and subsequent repur-

chase and the purchase and subsequent 

resale of government securities pursu-

ant to a repurchase or reverse repur-

chase agreement; and 

(3) Such other activities as have been 

exempted by regulation under this sub-

chapter. 

(b)(1) A financial institution that re-

lies on the exemption contained in 

paragraph (a) of this section is required 

to comply with: 

(i) The regulations of part 450 of this 

chapter concerning custodial holdings 

of government securities for cus-

tomers; and 

(ii) Section 403.5(d) of this chapter 

concerning certain repurchase trans-

actions with customers. 

(2) A branch or agency of a foreign 

bank that relies on the exemption con-

tained in paragraph (a) of this section 

is in addition required to comply with 

§ 403.5(e) of this chapter. 

(c) For the purposes of this section 

‘‘financial institution’’ includes an in-

sured credit union, as defined in 12 

U.S.C. 1752(7). 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 14:21 May 30, 2018 Jkt 244060 PO 00000 Frm 01256 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\17\17V4.TXT 31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
D

S
K

54
D

X
V

N
1O

F
R

 w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



1247 

Department of the Treasury § 401.7 

§ 401.5 Exemption for corporate credit 
unions transacting limited govern-
ment securities business with other 
credit unions. 

(a)(1) Subject to the requirements of 

paragraph (b) of this section, a cor-

porate credit union shall be exempt 

from the provisions of section 15C (a), 

(b) and (d) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o–5 

(a), (b), (d)) and the regulations there-

under if its government securities deal-

er activities are limited to the sale and 

subsequent repurchase and the pur-

chase and subsequent resale, each pur-

suant to a repurchase or reverse repur-

chase agreement, of government secu-

rities to other credit unions and such 

other activities as have been exempted 

by regulation under this part. 

(2) For the purposes of this section, 

‘‘corporate credit union’’ means a cred-

it union whose membership consists 

primarily of other credit unions and 

that is (i) a Federal credit union as de-

fined in 12 U.S.C. 1752(1), (ii) an insured 

credit union as defined in 12 U.S.C. 

1752(7), or (iii) a member of the Na-

tional Credit Union Administration 

Central Liquidity Facility. 

(b) A credit union that relies on the 

exemption contained in paragraph (a) 

of this section is required to comply 

with: 

(1) The regulations of part 450 of this 

chapter concerning custodial holdings 

of government securities; and 

(2) Section 403.5(d) concerning certain 

repurchase transactions with cus-

tomers. 

§ 401.6 Exemption for branches and 
agencies of foreign banks that deal 
solely with non-United States citi-
zens resident offshore. 

(a) Subject to the requirements of 

paragraph (b) of this section, a branch 

or agency of a foreign bank shall be ex-

empt from the provisions of section 15C 

(a), (b), and (d) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 

78o–5 (a), (b), (d)) and the regulations of 

this subchapter, if all the customers 

with or on behalf of whom it engages in 

government securities transactions are 

limited to foreign governments, agen-

cies of foreign governments and other 

persons and entities who are not citi-

zens of the United States and who re-

side or, in the case of a corporation, 

partnership or other entity, have their 

principal place of business, outside of 

the United States. 

(b) A branch or agency that relies on 

the exemption contained in paragraph 

(a) of this section is required to comply 

with the regulations of part 450 of this 

chapter concerning custodial holdings 

of government securities. 

§ 401.7 Exemption for certain foreign 
government securities brokers or 
dealers. 

A government securities broker or 

dealer (excluding a branch or agency of 

a foreign bank) that is a non-U.S. resi-

dent shall be exempt from the provi-

sions of sections 15C(a), (b), and (d) of 

the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o–5(a), (b) and (d)) 

and the regulations of this subchapter 

provided it complies with the provi-

sions of 17 CFR 240.15a–6 (SEC Rule 15a– 

6) as modified in this section. 

(a) For purposes of this section, non- 
U.S. resident means any person (includ-

ing any U.S. person) engaged in busi-

ness as a government securities broker 

or dealer entirely outside the U.S. that 

is not an office or branch of, or a nat-

ural person associated with, a reg-

istered broker or dealer, a registered 

government securities broker or dealer 

or a financial institution that has pro-

vided notice pursuant to § 400.1(d) of 

this chapter. 

(b) Within § 240.15a–6 of this title, ref-

erences to ‘‘security’’ and ‘‘securities’’ 

shall mean ‘‘government securities’’ as 

defined in § 400.3 of this chapter. 

(c) Section 240.15a–6(a) of this title is 

modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(a) A foreign broker or dealer shall 

be exempt from the registration or no-

tice requirements of section 15C(a)(1) of 

the Act to the extent that the foreign 

broker or dealer:’’ 

(d) Paragraph 240.15a–6(a)(2)(iii) of 

this title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(iii) If the foreign broker or dealer 

has established a relationship with a 

registered broker or dealer for the pur-

pose of compliance with paragraph 

(a)(3) of this rule, this relationship is 

disclosed in all research reports and all 

transactions with the foreign broker or 

dealer in securities discussed in the re-

search reports are effected only 

through that registered broker or deal-

er, pursuant to the provisions of para-

graph (a)(3); and’’ 
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(e) Paragraph 240.15a–6(a)(3)(i)(B) of 

this title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(B) Provides its appropriate regu-

latory agency (upon request or pursu-

ant to agreements reached between any 

foreign securities authority, including 

any foreign government as specified in 

section 3(a)(50) of the Act, and the 

Commission or the U.S. Government) 

with any information, documents, or 

records within the possession, custody, 

or control of the foreign broker or deal-

er, any testimony of foreign associated 

persons, and any assistance in taking 

the evidence of other persons, wherever 

located, that the appropriate regu-

latory agency requests and that relates 

to transactions under paragraph (a)(3) 

of this rule, except that if, after the 

foreign broker or dealer has exercised 

its best efforts to provide this informa-

tion, including requesting the appro-

priate governmental body and, if le-

gally necessary, its customers (with re-

spect to customer information) to per-

mit the foreign broker or dealer to pro-

vide this information to its appropriate 

regulatory agency, the foreign broker 

or dealer is prohibited from providing 

this information by applicable foreign 

law or regulations, then this paragraph 

(a)(3)(i)(B) shall not apply and the for-

eign broker or dealer will be subject to 

paragraph (c) of this rule;’’ 

(f) Paragraphs 240.15a–6(a)(3)(iii)(A) 

(4), (5) and (6) of this title are modified 

to read as follows: 

‘‘(4) Maintaining required books and 

records relating to the transactions, 

including those required by § 404.1 of 

this title for registered brokers and 

dealers (excluding registered govern-

ment securities brokers and dealers 

and noticed financial institutions), 

§§ 404.2 and 404.3 of this title for reg-

istered government securities brokers 

or dealers, and § 404.4 of this title for 

noticed financial institutions; 

‘‘(5) Complying with part 402 of this 

title with respect to the transactions; 

and 

‘‘(6) Receiving, delivering, and safe-

guarding funds and securities in con-

nection with the transactions on behalf 

of the U.S. institutional investor or the 

major U.S. institutional investor in 

compliance with § 403.1 of this title for 

registered brokers and dealers (exclud-

ing registered government securities 

brokers and dealers and noticed finan-

cial institutions); §§ 403.2, 403.3, 403.4 

and 403.6 of this title for registered 

government securities brokers and 

dealers, and § 403.5 of this title for no-

ticed financial institutions.’’ 

(g) Paragraph 240.15a–6(a)(3)(iii)(C) of 

this title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(C) Has obtained from the foreign 

broker or dealer, with respect to each 

foreign associated person, the types of 

information specified in Rule 17a– 

3(a)(12) under the Act (17 CFR 240.17a– 

3(a)(12)), provided that the information 

required by paragraph (a)(12)(d) of that 

Rule shall include sanctions imposed 

by foreign securities authorities, ex-

changes, or associations, including, 

without limitation, those described in 

paragraph (a)(3)(ii)(B) of this rule. Not-

withstanding the above, a registered 

broker or dealer that is a noticed fi-

nancial institution shall comply with 

the provisions of paragraphs 

404.4(a)(3)(i) (B) and (C) of this title, in 

lieu of Rule 17a–3(a)(12), provided that 

the information required by paragraphs 

404.4(a)(3)(i) (B) and (C) of this title 

shall include sanctions imposed by for-

eign securities authorities, exchanges, 

or associations, including, without lim-

itation, those described in (a)(3)(ii)(B) 

of this rule;’’ 

(h) Paragraph 240.15a–6(a)(3)(iii)(D) of 

this title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(D) Has obtained from the foreign 

broker or dealer and each foreign asso-

ciated person written consent to serv-

ice of process for any civil action 

brought by or proceeding before its ap-

propriate regulatory agency or a self- 

regulatory organization (as defined in 

section 3(a)(26) of the Act), providing 

that process may be served on them by 

service on the registered broker or 

dealer in the manner set forth on the 

registered broker’s or dealer’s current 

Form BD or other appropriate proce-

dure as specified by the appropriate 

regulatory agency; and’’ 

(i) Paragraph 240.15a–6(a)(3)(iii)(E) of 

this title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(E) Maintains a written record of 

the information and consents required 

by paragraphs (a)(3)(iii) (C) and (D) of 

this rule, and all records in connection 

with trading activities of the U.S. in-

stitutional investor or the major U.S. 

institutional investor involving the 
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foreign broker or dealer conducted 

under paragraph (a)(3) of this rule, in 

an office of the registered broker or 

dealer located in the United States 

(with respect to nonresident registered 

brokers or dealers, pursuant to Rule 

17a–7(a) under the Act (17 CFR 240.17a– 

7(a)), provided that in Rule 17a–7(a) ref-

erences to broker or dealer shall in-

clude government securities brokers or 

dealers, as those terms are defined in 

§§ 400.3 of this title), and makes these 

records available to the appropriate 

regulatory agency upon request; or’’ 

(j) Paragraph 240.15a–6(a)(4)(i) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(i) A registered broker or dealer, 

whether the registered broker or dealer 

is acting as principal for its own ac-

count or as agent for others, or a finan-

cial institution acting pursuant to 

§§ 401.3(a)(2)(ii) or 401.4(a)(1) of this 

title;’’ 

(k) Paragraph 240.15a–6(b)(2) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(2) The term foreign associated person 
shall mean any natural person domi-

ciled outside the United States who is 

an associated person (a person associ-

ated with a government securities 

broker or a government securities deal-

er as defined in section 3(a)(45) of the 

Act) of the foreign broker or dealer and 

who participates in the solicitation of 

a U.S. institutional investor or a major 

U.S. institutional investor under para-

graph (a)(3) of this rule.’’ 

(l) Paragraph 240.15a–6(b)(3) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(3) The term ‘‘foreign broker or 

dealer’’ shall mean any non-U.S. resi-

dent person (including any U.S. person 

engaged in business as a broker or deal-

er entirely outside the United States, 

except as otherwise permitted by this 

rule) that is not an office or branch of, 

or a natural person associated with, a 

registered broker or dealer, whose se-

curities activities, if conducted in the 

United States, would be described by 

the definition of ‘‘government securi-

ties broker’’ or ‘‘government securities 

dealer’’ in sections 3(a)(43) and 3(a)(44) 

of the Act.’’ 

(m) Paragraph 240.15a–6(b)(5) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(5) Only for the purposes of this 

rule, the term ‘‘registered broker or 

dealer’’ shall mean a person that is reg-

istered with the Commission under sec-

tion 15C(a)(2) of the Act or a broker or 

dealer or a financial institution who 

has provided notice to its appropriate 

regulatory agency under section 

15C(a)(1)(B)(ii) of the Act.’’ 

(n) For the purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15a–6(b) of this title shall include a 

new paragraph (8) to read as follows: 

‘‘(8) The term registered government se-

curities broker or dealer has the meaning 

set out in § 400.3 of this title.’’ 

(o) For the purposes of this section, 

240.15a–6(b) of this title shall include a 

new paragraph (9) to read as follows: 

‘‘(9) The term noticed financial institu-

tion means a financial institution as 

defined at § 400.3 of this title that has 

provided notice to its appropriate regu-

latory agency pursuant to § 400.1(d) of 

this title.’’ 

(p) For the purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15a–6(b) of this title shall include a 

new paragraph (10) to read as follows: 

‘‘(10) The term appropriate regulatory 

agency has the meaning set out in 

§ 400.3 of this title.’’ 

(q) Section 240.15a–6(c) of this title is 

modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(c) The Secretary of the Treasury, 

upon receiving notification from an ap-

propriate regulatory agency that the 

laws or regulations of a foreign coun-

try have prohibited a foreign broker or 

dealer, or a class of foreign brokers or 

dealers, engaging in activities exempt-

ed by paragraph (a)(3) of this rule, from 

providing, in response to a request 

from an appropriate regulatory agency, 

information, documents, or records 

within its possession, custody, or con-

trol, testimony of foreign associated 

persons, or assistance in taking the 

evidence of other persons, wherever lo-

cated, related to activities exempted 

by paragraph (a)(3) of this rule, may 

consider to be no longer applicable the 

exemption provided in paragraph (a)(3) 

of this rule with respect to the subse-

quent activities of the foreign broker 

or dealer or class of foreign brokers or 

dealers if the Secretary finds that con-

tinuation of the exemption is incon-

sistent with the public interest, the 
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protection of investors and the pur-
poses of the Government Securities 
Act.’’ 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[55 FR 27462, July 3, 1990; 55 FR 29293, July 18, 

1990, as amended at 60 FR 11026, Mar. 1, 1995; 

71 FR 54411, Sept. 15, 2006. Redesignated at 79 

FR 38455, July 8, 2014] 

PART 402—FINANCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY 

Sec. 
402.1 Application of part to registered bro-

kers and dealers and financial institu-

tions; special rules for futures commis-

sion merchants and government securi-

ties interdealer brokers; effective date. 
402.2 Capital requirements for registered 

government securities brokers and deal-

ers. 
402.2a Appendix A—Calculation of market 

risk haircut for purposes of § 402.2(g)(2). 
402.2b [Reserved] 
402.2c Appendix C—Consolidated computa-

tions of liquid capital and total haircuts 

for certain subsidiaries and affiliates. 
402.2d Appendix D—Modification of 

§ 240.15c3–1d of this title, relating to sat-

isfactory subordination agreements, for 

purposes of § 402.2. 

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 78o–5(b)(1)(A), (b)(4), 

Pub. L. 111–203, 124 Stat. 1376. 

SOURCE: 52 FR 27931, July 24, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 402.1 Application of part to reg-
istered brokers and dealers and fi-
nancial institutions; special rules 
for futures commission merchants 
and government securities inter-
dealer brokers; effective date. 

(a) Application of part. This part ap-

plies to all government securities bro-

kers and dealers, except as otherwise 

provided herein. 
(b) Registered brokers or dealers. This 

part does not apply to a registered 

broker or dealer (including an OTC de-

rivatives dealer) that is subject to 

§ 240.15c3–1 of this title (SEC Rule 15c3– 

1). 
(c) Financial institutions. This part 

does not apply to a government securi-

ties broker or dealer that is a financial 

institution and that is: 
(1) Subject to the rules and regula-

tions of its appropriate regulatory 

agency concerning capital require-

ments, or 

(2) A branch or agency of a foreign 

bank subject to regulation, super-

vision, and examination by state or 

Federal authorities having regulatory 

or supervisory authority over commer-

cial bank and trust companies. 

(d) Futures commission merchants. A 

futures commission merchant subject 

to § 1.17 of this title that is a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer but is 

not a registered broker or dealer shall 

not be subject to the limitations of 

§ 402.2 but rather to the capital require-

ment of § 1.17 or § 240.15c3–1, except 

paragraph (e)(3) thereof, of this title, 

whichever is greater. 

(e) Government securities interdealer 
broker. (1) A government securities 

interdealer broker, as defined in para-

graph (e)(2) of this section, may, with 

the prior written consent of the Sec-

retary, elect not to be subject to the 

limitations of § 402.2 but rather to be 

subject to the requirements of 

§ 240.15c3–1 of this title (SEC Rule 15c3– 

1), except paragraphs (c)(2)(ix) and 

(e)(3) thereof, and paragraphs (e)(3) 

through (8) of this section by filing 

such election in writing with its des-

ignated examining authority. A gov-

ernment securities interdealer broker 

may not revoke such election without 

the written consent of its designated 

examining authority. 

(2)(i) Government securities interdealer 
broker means an entity engaged exclu-

sively in business as a broker that ef-

fects, on an initially fully disclosed or 

identified group basis, transactions in 

government securities for counterpar-

ties that are government securities 

brokers or dealers who have registered 

or given notice pursuant to section 

15C(a)(1) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o– 

5(a)(1)), and that promptly transmits 

all funds and delivers all securities re-

ceived in connection with its activities 

as a government securities interdealer 

broker and does not otherwise hold 

funds or securities for or owe money or 

securities to its counterparties and, ex-

cept as provided in paragraph (e)(2)(ii) 

of this section, does not have or main-

tain any government securities in its 

proprietary or other accounts. For the 

purpose of this paragraph (e)(2)(i), 

‘‘identified group basis’’ means that a 

counterparty has consented to the 
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identity of the specific group of enti-

ties from which the other counterparty 

is chosen. 
(ii) A government securities inter-

dealer broker may have or maintain 

government securities in its propri-

etary or other accounts only as a re-

sult of: 
(A) Engaging in overnight reverse re-

purchase or securities borrowed trans-

actions solely for the purpose of facili-

tating the process of clearing govern-

ment securities transactions; 
(B) Engaging in overnight repurchase 

or securities loaned transactions solely 

for the purpose of reducing its financ-

ing expense in connection with the 

clearance of government securities 

transactions; 
(C) Subordinated loans subject to sat-

isfactory subordination agreements 

pursuant to § 240.l5c3–1(d) of this title; 
(D) Collateral or depository require-

ments of a clearing corporation or as-

sociation with which it participates in 

the clearance of government securities 

transactions; or 
(E) The investment of its excess cash. 

The maturities of any government se-

curities held or maintained under para-

graph (e)(2)(ii) (C), (D), or (E) of this 

section may not exceed one year. 
(3) In order to qualify to operate 

under this paragraph (e), a government 

securities interdealer broker shall at 

all times have and maintain net cap-

ital, as defined in § 240.15c3–1(c)(2) of 

this title with the modifications of this 

paragraph (e), of not less than 

$1,000,000. 
(4) For purposes of this paragraph (e), 

a government securities interdealer 

broker need not deduct loans to com-

mercial banks for one business day of 

immediately available funds (com-

monly referred to as ‘‘sales of federal 

funds’’) held by the government securi-

ties interdealer broker in connection 

with the clearance of securities on the 

day the loan is made. 
(5) For purposes of this paragraph (e), 

a government securities interdealer 

broker need not deduct net pair-off re-

ceivables and money differences until 

the close of business of the third busi-

ness day following the day the funds 

are due and give-up receivables out-

standing no more than 30 days from the 

billing date, which shall be no later 

than the last day of the month in 

which they arise, as otherwise would be 

required under § 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(iv)(B) of 

this title. 

(6) For purposes of this paragraph (e), 

a government securities interdealer 

broker shall deduct from net worth 1⁄4 

of 1 percent of the contract value of 

each government securities failed-to- 

deliver contract which is outstanding 5 

business days or longer. Such deduc-

tion shall be increased by any excess of 

the contract price of the failed-to-de-

liver contract over the market value of 

the underlying security. 

(7) For purposes of this paragraph (e), 

a government securities interdealer 

broker may exclude from its aggregate 

indebtedness computation indebtedness 

adequately collateralized by govern-

ment securities outstanding for not 

more than one business day and offset 

by government securities failed to de-

liver of the same issue and quantity. In 

no event may a government securities 

interdealer broker exclude any over-

night bank loan attributable to the 

same government securities failed-to- 

deliver contract for more than one 

business day. A government securities 

interdealer broker need not deduct 

from net worth the amount by which 

the market value of securities failed to 

receive outstanding longer than thirty 

(30) calendar days exceeds the contract 

value of those failed to receive as re-

quired by § 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(iv)(E) of this 

title. 

(8)(i) For purposes of this paragraph 

(e), a government securities interdealer 

broker shall deduct from net worth 5 

percent of its net exposure to each 

counterparty. 

(ii) Net exposure. For purposes of this 

paragraph (e), net exposure shall equal: 

(A) The sum of the dollar amount of 

funds, debt instruments, other securi-

ties, and other inventory at risk, in the 

first instance, to the government secu-

rities interdealer broker in the event of 

the counterparty’s default, 

(B) Reduced, but not to less than 

zero, by the sum of: 

(1) The dollar amount of funds, debt 

instruments, other securities, and 

other inventory at risk, in the first in-

stance, to the counterparty in the 

event of the government securities 

interdealer broker’s default; 
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(2) The deductions taken from net 

worth for unsecured receivables, repur-

chase and reverse repurchase deficits, 

aged fails to deliver, and aged fails to 

receive arising from transactions with 

the counterparty; 
(3) Demand deposits in the case 

where the counterparty is a commer-

cial bank; 
(4) Loans for one business day of im-

mediately available funds (commonly 

referred to as ‘‘sales of federal funds’’) 

held by the government securities 

interdealer broker in connection with 

the clearance of securities on the day 

the loan is made in the case where the 

counterparty is a commercial bank; 
(5) Custodial holdings of securities in 

the case where the counterparty is a 

clearing bank or clearing broker of the 

government securities interdealer 

broker; and 
(6) Exposure to a counterparty due to 

holding marketable instruments sub-

ject to market risk haircuts under ap-

pendix A to this section (§ 402.2a) for 

which the counterparty is the obligor. 
(9) On the application of the govern-

ment securities interdealer broker, the 

designated examining authority may 

extend the periods of time in this para-

graph (e) if it determines that the ex-

tension is warranted because of excep-

tional circumstances and that the gov-

ernment securities interdealer broker 

is acting in good faith. 
(f) This part shall be effective July 

25, 1987. 

[52 FR 27931, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 11024, Mar. 1, 1995; 71 FR 54411, Sept. 15, 

2006; 79 FR 38455, July 8, 2014] 

§ 402.2 Capital requirements for reg-
istered government securities bro-
kers and dealers. 

(a) General rule. No government secu-

rities broker or dealer shall permit its 

liquid capital to be below an amount 

equal to 120 percent of total haircuts as 

defined in paragraph (g) of this section. 
(b)(1) Minimum liquid capital for bro-

kers or dealers that carry customer ac-
counts. Notwithstanding the provisions 

of paragraph (a) of this section, a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

that carries customer or broker or 

dealer accounts and receives or holds 

funds or securities for those persons 

within the meaning of § 240.15c3– 

1(a)(2)(i) of this title, shall have and 

maintain liquid capital in an amount 

not less than $250,000, after deducting 

total haircuts as defined in paragraph 

(g) of this section. 

(2) Minimum liquid capital for brokers 

or dealers that carry customer accounts, 

but do not generally hold customer funds 

or securities. Notwithstanding the pro-

visions of paragraphs (a) and (b)(1) of 

this section, a government securities 

broker or dealer that carries customer 

or broker or dealer accounts and is ex-

empt from the provisions of § 240.15c3–3 

of this title, as made applicable to gov-

ernment securities brokers and dealers 

by § 403.4 of this part, pursuant to para-

graph (k)(2)(i) thereof (17 CFR 240.15c3– 

3(k)(2)(i)), shall have and maintain liq-

uid capital in an amount not less than 

$100,000, after deducting total haircuts 

as defined in paragraph (g) of this sec-

tion. 

(c)(1) Minimum liquid capital for intro-

ducing brokers that receive securities. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of 

paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section, a 

government securities broker or dealer 

that introduces on a fully disclosed 

basis transactions and accounts of cus-

tomers to another registered or noticed 

government securities broker or dealer 

but does not receive, directly or indi-

rectly, funds from or for, or owe funds 

to, customers, and does not carry the 

accounts of, or for, customers shall 

have and maintain liquid capital in an 

amount not less than $50,000, after de-

ducting total haircuts as defined in 

paragraph (g) of this section. A govern-

ment securities broker or dealer oper-

ating pursuant to this paragraph (c)(1) 

may receive, but shall not hold cus-

tomer or other broker or dealer securi-

ties. 

(2) Minimum liquid capital for intro-

ducing brokers that do not receive or han-

dle customer funds or securities. Notwith-

standing the provisions of paragraphs 

(a), (b), and (c)(1) of this section, a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

that does not receive, directly or indi-

rectly, or hold funds or securities for, 

or owe funds or securities to, cus-

tomers, and does not carry accounts of, 

or for, customers and that effects ten 

or fewer transactions in securities in 
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any one calendar year for its own in-

vestment account shall have and main-

tain liquid capital in an amount not 

less than $25,000, after deducting total 

haircuts as defined in paragraph (g) of 

this section. 

(d) Liquid capital. ‘‘Liquid capital’’ 

means net capital as defined in 

§ 240.15c3–1(c)(2) of this title with the 

following modifications: 

(1) The percentages used to calculate 

the deductions for failed to deliver con-

tracts required by § 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(ix) 

of this title when the underlying in-

strument is a Treasury market risk in-

strument as defined in paragraph (e) of 

this section are the appropriate net po-

sition haircut factors specified in para-

graph (f)(2) of this section; 

(2) The percentages used to calculate 

deductions required by § 240.15c3– 

1(c)(2)(iv)(B) of this title for securities 

that are Treasury market risk instru-

ments are the appropriate net position 

haircut factors specified in paragraph 

(f)(2) of this section; 

(3) The deduction required by 

§ 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(iv)(F)(3)(i) of this title 

relating to repurchase agreement defi-

cits shall be determined without ref-

erence to § 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(iv)(F)(3)(i)(B) 

or § 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(iv)(F)(3)(i)(C); 

(4) The deductions from net worth re-

quired by §§ 240.15c3–1 (c)(2)(vi) and 

(c)(2)(viii) of this title and the adjust-

ments to net worth set forth in 

§ 240.15c3–1a and § 240.15c3–1b of this 

title (Appendices A and B to SEC Rule 

15c3–1) are omitted; 

(5) Net pair-off receivables and 

money differences need not be deducted 

as otherwise would be required under 

§ 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(iv)(B) of this title until 

the close of business of the third busi-

ness day following the day the funds 

are due; 

(6) Give-up receivables outstanding 

no more than 30 days from the billing 

date, which shall be no later than the 

last day of the month in which they 

arise, need not be deducted as other-

wise would be required under § 240.15c3– 

1(c)(2)(iv)(B) of this title; 

(7) Loans to commercial banks for 

one business day of immediately avail-

able funds (commonly referred to as 

‘‘sales of federal funds’’) held by the 

government securities broker or dealer 

in connection with the clearance of se-

curities on the day the loan is made 

need not be deducted; and 

(8) In determining net worth, all long 

and short positions in unlisted options 

that are Treasury market risk instru-

ments shall be evaluated in the manner 

set forth in § 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(i)(B)(1) and 

not in the manner set forth in 

§ 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(i)(B)(2) of this title. 

(e) Treasury market risk instruments. 
(1) For purposes of this part, the term 

‘‘Treasury market risk instrument’’ 

means the following dollar-denomi-

nated securities, debt instruments, and 

derivative instruments: 

(i) Government securities, except eq-

uity securities and those mortgage- 

backed securities described in para-

graph (e)(2) of this section; 

(ii) Zero-coupon receipts or certifi-

cates based on marketable Treasury 

notes or bonds; 

(iii) Marketable certificates of de-

posit of no more than one year to ma-

turity; 

(iv) Bankers acceptances; 

(v) Commercial paper of no more 

than one year to maturity and which 

has only a minimal amount of credit 

risk as determined by the government 

securities broker or dealer pursuant to 

reasonably designed written policies 

and procedures the government securi-

ties broker or dealer establishes, main-

tains, and enforces to assess and mon-

itor creditworthiness. These policies 

and procedures should result in credit-

worthiness assessments that typically 

are consistent with market data; 

(vi) Securities, other than equity se-

curities, issued by international orga-

nizations that have a statutory exemp-

tion from the registration require-

ments of the Securities Act of 1933 and 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

provided their changes in yield are 

closely correlated to the changes in 

yield of similar Treasury securities, in-

cluding STRIPS; 

(vii) Futures, forwards, and listed op-

tions on Treasury market risk instru-

ments described in paragraphs (e)(1)(i)- 

(vi) of this section or on time deposits 

whose changes in yield are closely cor-

related with the Treasury market risk 

instruments described in paragraph 

(e)(1)(iii) of this section, settled on a 

cash or delivery basis; 
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(viii) Options on those futures con-

tracts described in paragraph (e)(1)(vii) 

of this section, settled on a cash or de-

livery basis; and 

(ix) Unlisted options on marketable 

Treasury bills, notes or bonds. 

(2) ‘‘Treasury market risk instru-

ment’’ does not include mortgage- 

backed securities that do not pass 

through to each security holder on a 

pro rata basis a distribution based on 

the monthly payments and prepay-

ments of principal and interest on the 

underlying pool of mortgage collateral 

less fees and expenses. 

(f)(1) Haircut categories. For purposes 

of this part, the applicable categories 

within which non-zero-coupon and 

zero-coupon Treasury market risk in-

struments are classified are: 

Category Term or type for non-zero-coupon instruments Term for zero-coupon instruments 

A ..................... Less than 45 days ...................................................... Less than 45 days. 
B ..................... At least 45 days but less than 135 days .................... At least 45 days but less than 135 days. 
C ..................... At least 135 days but less than 9 months ................. At least 135 days but less than 9 months. 
D ..................... At least 9 months but less than 1 year, 6 months ..... At least 9 months but less than 1 year, 6 months. 
E ..................... At least 1 year, 6 months but less than 3 years, 6 

months.
At least 1 year, 6 months but less than 3 years. 

F ..................... At least 3 years, 6 months but less than 7 years, 6 
months.

At least 3 years but less than 5 years, 6 months. 

G ..................... At least 7 years, 6 months but less than 15 years .... At least 5 years, 6 months but less than 9 years. 
H ..................... 15 years and over ...................................................... At least 9 years but less than 12 years. 
I ....................... ..................................................................................... At least 12 years but less than 21 years 
J ...................... ..................................................................................... 21 years and over. 
MB .................. All fixed rate mortgage-backed securities that are 

Treasury market risk instruments..
AR ................... All adjustable rate mortgage-backed securities that 

are Treasury market risk instruments.

(2) Haircut factors. For purposes of 

this part, the applicable net position 

and offset haircut factors to be used in 

the calculation of the Treasury market 

risk haircut are as follows: 

Category 

Haircut factors 

Net posi-
tion hair-
cuts (per-

cent) 

Offsets 
(percent) 

A .................................................... None None 
B .................................................... 0.12 0.02 
C .................................................... 0.20 0.03 
D .................................................... 0.45 0.07 
E .................................................... 1.10 0.22 
F .................................................... 2.20 0.44 
G .................................................... 3.30 0.50 
H .................................................... 4.50 0.90 
I ...................................................... 7.75 1.55 
J ..................................................... 11.25 3.38 
MB ................................................. 3.30 0.66 
AR .................................................. 1.10 0.22 

(3) Category pair hedging disallowance 
haircut factors. For purposes of this 

part, the applicable category pair hedg-

ing disallowance haircut factors to be 

used in the calculation of the Treasury 

market risk haircut are as follows: 

Category 
Percent disallowed 

C D E F G H I J MB 

B ...................... 30 40 
C ...................... .... 20 30 

Category 
Percent disallowed 

C D E F G H I J MB 

D ...................... .... .... 20 30 40 
E ...................... .... .... .... 20 30 40 
F ....................... .... .... .... .... 20 30 40 .... 30 
G ...................... .... .... .... .... .... 20 30 .... 30 
H ...................... .... .... .... .... .... .... 20 40 40 
I ........................ .... .... .... .... .... .... .... 40 

(g) Total haircuts. ‘‘Total haircuts’’ 

equals the sum of the credit risk hair-

cut and the market risk haircut. 

(1) Credit risk haircut. The ‘‘credit 

risk haircut’’ equals the sum of the 

total counterparty exposure haircut, 

the total concentration of credit hair-

cut and the credit volatility haircut. 

(i) Net credit exposure. For purposes of 

this part, net credit exposure shall 

equal: 

(A) The sum of the dollar amount of 

funds, debt instruments, other securi-

ties, and other inventory at risk to the 

government securities broker or dealer 

in the event of the counterparty’s de-

fault and the market value of pur-

chased unlisted options written by the 

counterparty that are Treasury market 

risk instruments, 

(B) Reduced, but not to less than 

zero, by the sum of: 
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(1) The dollar amount of funds, debt 

instruments, other securities, and 

other inventory at risk to the 

counterparty in the event of the gov-

ernment securities broker’s or dealer’s 

default and the market value of un-

listed options written by the govern-

ment securities broker or dealer and 

held by the counterparty that are 

Treasury market risk instruments; 

(2) The deductions taken from net 

worth for unsecured receivables, repur-

chase and reverse repurchase agree-

ment deficits, aged fails to deliver, and 

aged fails to receive arising from trans-

actions with the counterparty; 

(3) Demand deposits in the case 

where the counterparty is a commer-

cial bank; 

(4) Loans for one business day of im-

mediately available funds (commonly 

referred to as ‘‘sales of federal funds’’) 

held by the government securities 

broker or dealer in connection with the 

clearance of securities on the day the 

loan is made in the case where the 

counterparty is a commercial bank; 

(5) Custodial holdings of securities in 

the case where the counterparty is a 

clearing bank or clearing broker of the 

government securities broker or deal-

er; and 

(6) Exposure to a counterparty due to 

holding marketable instruments sub-

ject to market risk haircuts under ap-

pendix A to this section (§ 402.2a) for 

which the counterparty is the obligor. 

(ii) Total counterparty exposure hair-
cut. The ‘‘total counterparty exposure 

haircut’’ equals the sum of the 

counterparty exposure haircuts taken 

for all counterparties except a Federal 

Reserve Bank, of the government secu-

rities broker or dealer. The 

‘‘counterparty exposure haircut’’ 

equals the product of a counterparty 

exposure haircut factor of 5 percent 

and the net credit exposure to a single 

counterparty not in excess of 15 per-

cent of the government securities bro-

ker’s or dealer’s liquid capital. 

(iii) Total concentration of credit hair-
cut. The ‘‘total concentration of credit 

haircut’’ equals the sum of the con-

centration of credit haircuts taken for 

all counterparties of the government 

securities broker or dealer. The ‘‘con-

centration of credit haircut’’ equals 

the product of a concentration of credit 

haircut factor of 25 percent and the 

amount by which the net credit expo-

sure to a single counterparty is in ex-

cess of 15 percent of the government se-

curities broker’s or dealer’s liquid cap-

ital. 

(iv) Credit volatility haircut. The 

‘‘credit volatility haircut’’ equals the 

product of a credit volatility haircut 

factor of 0.15 percent and the dollar 

amount of the larger of the gross long 

position or gross short position in 

those Treasury market risk instru-

ments described in paragraphs 

(e)(1)(iii), (iv) and (v) of this section 

that have a term to maturity greater 

than 44 days, including futures and for-

wards thereon, settled on a cash or de-

livery basis, and futures and forwards 

on time deposits described in para-

graph (e)(1)(vii) of this section, that 

have a term to maturity greater than 

44 days, settled on a cash or delivery 

basis. 

(2) Market risk haircut. The ‘‘market 

risk haircut’’ equals the sum of the 

Treasury market risk haircut and the 

other securities haircut, calculated in 

accordance with the provisions of ap-

pendix A of this section, § 402.2a. 

(h) Debt-equity requirements. No gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

shall permit the total of outstanding 

principal amounts of its satisfactory 

subordination agreements as defined in 

§ 240.15c3–1d of this title (appendix D to 

SEC Rule 15c3–1) modified as provided 

in appendix D to this section, § 402.2d, 

to exceed the allowable levels set forth 

in § 240.15c3–1(d) of this title. 

(i) Provisions relating to the withdrawal 
of equity capital—(1) Notice provisions. 
No equity capital of the government 

securities broker or dealer or a sub-

sidiary or affiliate consolidated pursu-

ant to appendix C to this section, 

§ 402.2c, may be withdrawn by action of 

a stockholder or partner, or by redemp-

tion or repurchase of shares of stock by 

any of the consolidated entities or 

through the payment of dividends or 

any similar distribution, nor may any 

unsecured advance or loan be made to 

a stockholder, partner, sole proprietor, 

employee or affiliate without providing 

written notice, given in accordance 

with paragraph (i)(1)(iv) of this section, 

when specified in paragraphs (i)(1) (i) 

and (ii) of this section: 
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(i) Two business days prior to any 

withdrawals, advances or loans if those 

withdrawals, advances or loans on a 

net basis exceed in the aggregate in 

any 30 calendar day period, 30 percent 

of the government securities broker’s 

or dealer’s excess liquid capital. A gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer, in 

an emergency situation, may make 

withdrawals, advances or loans that on 

a net basis exceed 30 percent of the 

government securities broker’s or deal-

er’s excess liquid capital in any 30 cal-

endar day period without giving the ad-

vance notice required by this para-

graph, with the prior approval of its 

designated examining authority. When 

a government securities broker or deal-

er makes a withdrawal with the con-

sent of its designated examining au-

thority, it shall in any event comply 

with paragraph (i)(1)(ii) of this section; 

and 

(ii) Two business days after any with-

drawals, advances or loans if those 

withdrawals, advances or loans on a 

net basis exceed in the aggregate in 

any 30 calendar day period, 20 percent 

of the government securities broker’s 

or dealer’s excess liquid capital. 

(iii) This paragraph (i)(1) of this sec-

tion does not apply to: 

(A) Securities or commodities trans-

actions in the ordinary course of busi-

ness between a government securities 

broker or dealer and an affiliate where 

the government securities broker or 

dealer makes payment to or on behalf 

of such affiliate for such transaction 

and then receives payment from such 

affiliate for the securities or commod-

ities transaction within two business 

days from the date of the transaction; 

or 

(B) Withdrawals, advances or loans 

which in the aggregate in any such 30 

calendar day period, on a net basis, 

equal $500,000 or less. 

(iv) Each required notice shall be ef-

fective when received by the Commis-

sion in Washington, DC, the regional or 

district office of the Commission for 

the area in which the government secu-

rities broker or dealer has its principal 

place of business, and the government 

securities broker’s or dealer’s des-

ignated examining authority. 

(2) Withdrawal limitations. No equity 

capital of the government securities 

broker or dealer or a subsidiary or af-

filiate consolidated pursuant to appen-

dix C to this section, § 402.2c, may be 

withdrawn by action of a stockholder 

or a partner, or by redemption or re-

purchase of shares of stock by any of 

the consolidated entities or through 

the payment of dividends or any simi-

lar distribution, nor may any unse-

cured advance or loan be made to a 

stockholder, partner, sole proprietor, 

employee or affiliate if, after giving ef-

fect thereto and to any other such 

withdrawals, advances or loans and any 

Payments of Payment Obligations (as 

defined in § 240.15c3–1d of this title, ap-

pendix D to SEC Rule 15c3–1, modified 

as provided in appendix D to this sec-

tion, § 402.2d) under satisfactory subor-

dination agreements which are sched-

uled to occur within 180 calendar days 

following such withdrawal, advance or 

loan, either: 

(i) The ratio of liquid capital to total 

haircuts, determined as provided in 

§ 402.2, would be less than 150 percent; 

or 

(ii) Liquid capital minus total hair-

cuts would be less than 120 percent of 

the minimum capital required by 

§ 402.2(b) or § 402.2(c) as applicable; or 

(iii) In the case of any government 

securities broker or dealer included in 

such consolidation, the total out-

standing principal amounts of satisfac-

tory subordination agreements of the 

government securities broker or dealer 

(other than such agreements which 

qualify as equity under § 240.15c3–1(d) of 

this title) would exceed 70% of the 

debt-equity total as defined in 

§ 240.15c3–1(d). 

(3) Miscellaneous provisions. (i) Excess 

liquid capital is that amount in excess 

of the amount required by the greater 

of § 402.2(a) or, §§ 402.2 (b) or (c), as ap-

plicable. For the purposes of para-

graphs (i)(1) and (i)(2) of this section, a 

government securities broker or dealer 

may use the amount of excess liquid 

capital, liquid capital and total hair-

cuts reported in its most recently re-

quired filed Form G–405 for the pur-

poses of calculating the effect of a pro-

jected withdrawal, advance or loan rel-

ative to excess liquid capital or total 

haircuts. The government securities 

broker or dealer must assure itself that 

the excess liquid capital, liquid capital 
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or the total haircuts reported on the 
most recently required filed Form G– 
405 have not materially changed since 
the time such report was filed. 

(ii) The term equity capital includes 
capital contributions by partners, par 
or stated value of capital stock, paid-in 
capital in excess of par, retained earn-
ings or other capital accounts. The 
term equity capital does not include 
securities in the securities accounts of 
partners and balances in limited part-
ners’ capital accounts in excess of their 
stated capital contributions. 

(iii) Paragraphs (i)(1) and (i)(2) of this 

section shall not preclude a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer from 

making required tax payments or pre-

clude the payment to partners of rea-

sonable compensation, and such pay-

ments shall not be included in the cal-

culation of withdrawals, advances or 

loans for purposes of paragraphs (i)(1) 

and (i)(2) of this section. 
(iv) For the purposes of this sub-

section (i), any transaction between a 

government securities broker or dealer 

and a stockholder, partner, sole propri-

etor, employee or affiliate that results 

in a diminution of the government se-

curities broker’s or dealer’s liquid cap-

ital shall be deemed to be an advance 

or loan of liquid capital. 
(j) Modification of appendices to 

§ 240.15c3–1 of this title. For purposes of 

this section, appendix C to this section 

(§ 402.2c) is substituted for appendix C 

to Rule 15c3–1 (§ 240.15c3–1c of this 

title), and appendix D to Rule 15c3–1 

(§ 240.15c3–1d of this title), relating to 

Satisfactory Subordination Agree-

ments, is modified as provided in ap-

pendix D to this section (§ 402.2d). 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27931, July 24, 1987, as amended at 53 

FR 28984, Aug. 1, 1988; 60 FR 11024, Mar. 1, 

1995; 79 FR 38455, July 8, 2014] 

§ 402.2a Appendix A—Calculation of 
market risk haircut for purposes of 
§ 402.2(g)(2). 

The market risk haircut is the sum 

of the Treasury market risk haircut 

and the other securities haircut, cal-

culated as follows. 
(a) Treasury market risk haircut. The 

‘‘Treasury market risk haircut’’ equals 

the sum of the total governments off-

set portion haircut, the total futures 

and options offset haircut, the total 

hedging disallowance haircut, and the 

residual net position haircut, cal-

culated with respect to financings and 

positions in Treasury market risk in-

struments, except to the extent that a 

permissible election is made pursuant 

to paragraph (b)(1) of this section to in-

clude qualified positions in the calcula-

tion of the other securities haircut. 

(1) Total governments offset portion 
haircut. The ‘‘total governments offset 

portion haircut’’ equals the sum of the 

governments offset portion haircuts 

calculated for each category in 

§ 402.2(f)(1). The ‘‘governments offset 

portion haircuts’’ equal, for each cat-

egory in § 402.2(f)(1), the product of the 

offset haircut factor for that category 

set out in § 402.2(f)(2) and the smaller of 

the absolute values of the gross long 

immediate position or gross short im-

mediate position for that category. 

Schedules B and C in paragraph (c) of 

this section can be used to make this 

calculation. 

(i)(A) The ‘‘gross long immediate po-

sition’’ for purposes of this part equals, 

for each category except categories MB 

and AR in § 402.2(f)(1), the sum of the 

market values of each long immediate 

position in Treasury market risk in-

struments with a term to maturity (or, 

in the case of a floating rate note, the 

time to the next scheduled interest 

rate adjustment or the term to matu-

rity, whichever is less) corresponding 

to such category, the contract values 

of each reverse repurchase agreement 

with a term to maturity or time to the 

next scheduled interest rate adjust-

ment, whichever is less, corresponding 

to that category, and the values of the 

cash collateral of each security bor-

rowing with a term to maturity or 

time to next scheduled interest rate 

adjustment, whichever is less, cor-

responding to such category. 

(B) In the case of category MB, the 

‘‘gross long immediate position’’ equals 

the sum of the market values of all 

long immediate positions in fixed rate 

mortgage-backed securities which are 

Treasury market risk instruments. 

(C) In the case of category AR, the 

‘‘gross long immediate position’’ equals 

the sum of the market values of all 

long immediate positions in adjustable 
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rate mortgage-backed securities which 

are Treasury market risk instruments. 

(ii)(A) The ‘‘gross short immediate 

position’’ for purposes of this section 

equals, for each category except cat-

egories MB and AR in § 402.2(f)(1), the 

sum of the market values of each short 

immediate position in Treasury mar-

ket risk instruments with a term to 

maturity (or, in the case of a floating 

rate note, the time to the next sched-

uled interest rate adjustment or the 

term to maturity, whichever is less) 

corresponding to such category, and 

the values of funds received from each 

financing transaction (including repur-

chase agreements, securities lending 

secured by cash collateral, and term 

financings, but excluding subordinated 

debt which meets the requirements of 

§ 240.15c3–1d of this title modified as 

provided in § 402.2d) with a term to ma-

turity or time to the next scheduled in-

terest rate adjustment, whichever is 

less, corresponding to that category. 

(B) In the case of category MB, the 

‘‘gross short immediate position’’ 

equals the sum of the market values of 

all short immediate positions in fixed 

rate mortgage-backed securities which 

are Treasury market risk instruments. 

(C) In the case of category AR, the 

‘‘gross short immediate position’’ 

equals the sum of the market values of 

all short immediate positions in ad-

justable rate mortgage-backed securi-

ties which are Treasury market risk 

instruments. 

(iii) The term long immediate position 
in a Treasury market risk instrument 

means, for purposes of this part: 

(A) The net long position in a Treas-

ury market risk instrument as of the 

trade date, except when the settlement 

date, in the case of a Treasury market 

risk instrument except a mortgage- 

backed security, is scheduled more 

than five business days in the future, 

and, in the case of a mortgage-backed 

security, more than thirty calendar 

days in the future; 

(B) The net long when-issued position 

in a marketable U.S. Treasury security 

between announcement and issue date; 

(C) The net long when-issued position 

in a government agency or a govern-

ment-sponsored agency debt security 

between release date and issue date; 

and 

(D) The net long when-issued position 

in a security described in 

§ 402.2(e)(1)(vi) between announcement 

date and issue date. 

(iv) The term short immediate position 

on a Treasury market risk instrument 

means, for purposes of this part: 

(A) The net short position in a Treas-

ury market risk instrument as of the 

trade date, except when the settlement 

date, in the case of a Treasury market 

risk instrument except a mortgage- 

backed security, is scheduled more 

than five business days in the future, 

and, in the case of a mortgage-backed 

security, more than thirty calendar 

days in the future; 

(B) The net short when-issued posi-

tion in a marketable U.S. Treasury se-

curity between announcement and 

issue date; 

(C) The net short when-issued posi-

tion in a government agency or a gov-

ernment-sponsored agency debt secu-

rity between release date and issue 

date; and 

(D) The net short when-issued posi-

tion in a security described in 

§ 402.2(e)(1)(vi) between announcement 

date and issue date. 

(2) Net immediate position interim hair-

cut. The ‘‘net immediate position in-

terim haircut’’ equals, for each cat-

egory in § 402.2(f)(1), the product of the 

net position haircut factor for that cat-

egory and the sum of the gross long im-

mediate position and the gross short 

immediate position for that category. 

For purposes of this part, a gross long 

immediate position shall be a positive 

number and a gross short immediate 

position shall be a negative number. 

Schedules B and C in paragraph (c) of 

this section can be used to make this 

calculation. 

(3) Total futures and options offset 

haircut. The ‘‘total futures and options 

offset haircut’’ equals the sum of the 

futures and options offset haircuts cal-

culated for each category in § 402.2(f)(1). 

The ‘‘futures and options offset hair-

cut’’ equals, for each category in 

§ 402.2(f)(1), the product of a futures and 

options offset factor of 20 percent and 

the smaller of the absolute values of 

the positive and negative aggregate in-

terim haircuts for that category. 
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Schedule D in paragraph (c) of this sec-

tion can be used to make this calcula-

tion. 

(i) Positive aggregate interim haircut. 
The ‘‘positive aggregate interim hair-

cut’’ equals, for each category in 

§ 402.2(f)(1), the sum of the positive net 

immediate position interim haircut 

(see paragraph (a)(2) of this section), 

the gross long futures and forward in-

terim haircut, and the positive gross 

options interim haircut for that cat-

egory. Schedule D in paragraph (c) of 

this section can be used to make this 

calculation. 

(A) Gross long futures and forward in-
terim haircut. The ‘‘gross long futures 

and forward interim haircut’’ equals, 

for each category in § 402.2(f)(1), the 

sum of the interim haircuts on each 

long futures position and long forward 

position placed, in the case of a futures 

or forward contract which is a Treas-

ury market risk instrument except 

those on mortgage-backed securities, 

in the category corresponding to the 

sum of the term to maturity of the 

contract and the term to maturity of 

the underlying instrument at the time 

of the maturity of the contract or, in 

the case of a futures or forward con-

tract on Treasury market risk mort-

gage-backed securities, in the category 

corresponding to the type of Treasury 

market risk mortgage-backed security. 

(1) For purposes of this part, the in-
terim haircut on each long futures posi-
tion and each long forward position is 

the product of the net position haircut 

factor for the category corresponding 

to, in the case of a futures or forward 

contract which is a Treasury market 

risk instrument except those on mort-

gage-backed securities, the maturity of 

the underlying instrument at the time 

of the maturity of the contract or, in 

the case of a futures or forward con-

tract on Treasury market risk mort-

gage-backed securities, the type of 

Treasury market risk mortgage-backed 

security and the value of the long fu-

tures position or long forward position 

evaluated at the current market price 

for such contract. 

(2) For purposes of this part, the 

gross long futures and forward interim 

haircut shall be a positive number. 

(B) Positive gross options interim hair-
cut. The ‘‘positive gross options in-

terim haircut’’ equals, for each cat-

egory in § 402.2(f)(1), the sum of the in-

terim haircuts on each purchased call 

and sold put placed in the category in 

which the underlying instrument 

would be placed. 

(1) For purposes of this part, the ‘‘in-

terim haircut on each purchased call 

and sold put’’ equals the lesser of the 

market value of the option or, (i) in the 

case of an option on a cash instrument, 

the product of the net position haircut 

factor for the category to which the 

underlying cash instrument cor-

responds and the market value of the 

underlying cash instrument or, (ii) in 

the case of an option on a futures con-

tract, the interim haircut on the un-

derlying futures contract. 

(2) For purposes of this part, the posi-

tive gross options interim haircut is a 

positive number. 

(ii) Negative aggregate interim haircut. 

The ‘‘negative aggregate interim hair-

cut’’ equals, for each category in 

§ 402.2(f)(1), the sum of the negative net 

immediate position interim haircut 

(see paragraph (a)(2) of this section), 

the gross short futures and forward in-

terim haircut, and the negative gross 

options interim haircut for that cat-

egory. Schedule D in paragraph (c) of 

this section can be used to make this 

calculation. 

(A) Gross short futures and forward in-

terim haircut. The ‘‘gross short futures 

and forward interim haircut’’ equals, 

for each category in § 402.2(f)(1), the 

sum of the interim haircuts on each 

short futures position and short for-

ward position placed, in the case of a 

futures or forward contract which is a 

Treasury market risk instrument ex-

cept those on mortgage-backed securi-

ties, in the category corresponding to 

the sum of the term to maturity of the 

contract and the term to maturity of 

the underlying instrument at the time 

of the maturity of the contract or, in 

the case of a futures or forward con-

tract on Treasury market risk mort-

gage-backed securities, in the category 

corresponding to the type of Treasury 

market risk mortgage-backed security. 

(1) For purposes of this part, the ‘‘in-

terim haircut on each short futures po-

sition and each short forward position’’ 
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is the product of the net position hair-

cut factor for the category cor-

responding to, in the case of a futures 

or forward contract which is a Treas-

ury market risk instrument except 

those on mortgage-backed securities, 

the maturity of the underlying instru-

ment at the time of the maturity of 

the contract or, in the case of a futures 

or forward contract on Treasury mar-

ket risk mortgage-backed securities, 

the type of Treasury market risk mort-

gage-backed security and the value of 

the short futures position or short for-

ward position evaluated at the current 

market price for such contract. 

(2) For purposes of this part, the 

gross short futures and forward interim 

haircut is a negative number. 

(B) Negative gross options interim hair-
cut. The ‘‘negative gross options in-

terim haircut’’ equals, for each cat-

egory in § 402.2(f)(1), the sum of the in-

terim haircuts on each sold call and 

purchased put placed in the category in 

which the underlying instrument 

would be placed. 

(1) For purposes of this part, the ‘‘in-

terim haircut on each sold call and 

purchased put’’ equals the lesser of the 

market value of the option or, (i) in the 

case of an option on a cash instrument, 

the product of the net position haircut 

factor for the category to which the 

underlying cash instrument cor-

responds and the market value of the 

underlying cash instrument or, (ii) in 

the case of an option on a futures con-

tract, the interim haircut on the un-

derlying futures contract. 

(2) For purposes of this part, the neg-

ative gross options interim haircut is a 

negative number. 

(4) Total hedging disallowance haircut. 
The ‘‘total hedging disallowance hair-

cut’’ equals the sum of the hedging dis-

allowance haircuts calculated pursuant 

to each netting of qualified netting in-

terim haircuts. The ‘‘hedging disallow-

ance haircut’’ equals the absolute 

value of the product of the applicable 

category pair hedging disallowance 

haircut factor specified in § 402.2(f)(3) 

and the smaller in absolute value of 

any two qualified netting interim hair-

cuts, netted in accordance with the 

provisions of this paragraph. Schedule 

E in paragraph (c) of this section can 

be used to make this calculation. 

(i) Qualified netting interim haircut. 
The term ‘‘qualified netting interim 

haircut’’ means a residual position in-

terim haircut or a net residual position 

interim haircut. 

(A) Residual position interim haircut. 
The ‘‘residual position interim hair-

cut’’ equals, for each category in 

§ 402.2(f)(1), the sum of the positive ag-

gregate interim haircut and the nega-

tive aggregate interim haircut cor-

responding to the category, calculated 

in accordance with the provisions of 

paragraph (a)(3) of this section. 

(B)(1) Net residual position interim 
haircut. The ‘‘net residual position in-

terim haircut’’ equals, for any two cat-

egories between which netting is per-

mitted, the sum of (i) the residual posi-

tion interim haircuts calculated for 

those categories, in the case of the cat-

egory of the larger in absolute value of 

the two residual position interim hair-

cuts being netted, and (ii) zero, in the 

case of the category of the smaller in 

absolute value of the two residual posi-

tion interim haircuts being netted. 

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph 

(a)(4), netting is permitted only be-

tween categories for which a category 

pair hedging disallowance haircut fac-

tor has been specified in paragraph 

§ 402.2(f)(3). 

(ii) Net residual position interim 

haircuts shall be substituted for the re-

sidual position interim haircuts in the 

respective categories in which they 

have been placed and shall be consid-

ered as if they were residual position 

interim haircuts. New net residual po-

sition interim haircuts may continue 

to be calculated until for each category 

pair for which netting is permitted at 

least one of the two qualified netting 

interim haircuts is zero or both quali-

fied netting interim haircuts are of the 

same sign. 

(5) Residual net position haircut. The 

‘‘residual net position haircut’’ equals 

the sum of the absolute values of all 

qualified netting interim haircuts re-

maining in each category after the 

completion of the calculation of per-

missible nettings described in para-

graph (a)(4) of this section. Schedule E 

in paragraph (c) of this section can be 

used to make this calculation. 

(b) Other securities haircut. The ‘‘other 

securities haircut’’ equals the sum of 
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all deductions specified in § 240.15c3–1 

(c)(2)(vi) and (c)(2)(viii) of this title and 

§§ 240.15c3–1a and 240.l5c3–1b of this title 

for long and short positions in securi-

ties, futures contracts, forward con-

tracts, options, and other inventory 

which are not Treasury market risk in-

struments as defined in § 402.2(e). 

(1) A registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer may elect to ex-

clude from its calculation of the Treas-

ury market risk haircut and include in 

its calculation of the other securities 

haircut long and short positions in 

Treasury market risk instruments if 

such positions form part of a hedge 

against long and short positions in se-

curities, futures contracts, forward 

contracts, or options which are not 

Treasury market risk instruments. 

Only the portion of the total position 

in a Treasury market risk instrument 

that forms part of such hedge may be 

excluded from the calculation of the 

Treasury market risk haircut and in-

cluded in the calculation of the other 

securities haircut. 

(2) For purposes of this paragraph (b), 

a gross long or short position in Treas-

ury market risk instruments shall be 

considered part of a hedge if the inclu-

sion of such position in the calculation 

of the other securities haircut would 

serve to reduce said haircut. 

(3) For purposes of this paragraph (b) 

as it relates to § 240.15c3–1(c)(2)(vi)(M) 

(‘‘undue concentration’’), references to 

‘‘10 percent of the ‘‘net capital’’’ shall 

be understood to refer to 10 percent of 

the liquid capital and references to 

‘‘Appendix (D) (17 CFR 240.15c3–1d)’’ 

shall be understood to refer to such 

section as modified by § 402.2d. 

(c) Schedules. This paragraph sets 

forth schedules which may be used by 

government securities brokers or deal-

ers in the calculation of total haircuts 

as required by this part 402. The appro-

priate regulatory agency or designated 

examining authority may specify other 

substantially similar forms required to 

be used by government securities bro-

kers or dealers in the calculation of 

such haircuts. 

SCHEDULE A—LIQUID CAPITAL REQUIREMENT, 
SUMMARY COMPUTATION 

[In thousands of dollars] 

1. Liquid capital 1 .......................................... lll 

2. Haircuts on security and financing posi-

tions including contractual commitments: 

a. Total governments offset portion 

haircut (Schedule C) ....................... lll 

b. Total futures and options offset 

haircut (Schedule D) ...................... lll 

c. Total hedging disallowance hair-

cut (Schedule E) ............................. lll 

d. Residual net position haircut 

(Schedule E) ................................... lll 

e. Other securities haircut (use SEC 

factors) ........................................... lll 

3. Haircuts on credit exposure: 

a. Total counterparty exposure hair-

cut .................................................. lll 

b. Total concentration of credit hair-

cut .................................................. lll 

c. Credit volatility haircut ............... lll 

4. Total haircuts (sum of lines 2 a through e, 

3 a, b, and c) ............................................... lll 

5. Capital-to-risk ratio (line 1 divided by line 

4) ................................................................ lll 

1 Identical to the amount reported on line 3640 of 
the Report on Finances and Operations of Govern-
ment Securities Brokers and Dealers, Form G–405. 
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INSTRUCTIONS TO SCHEDULES A THROUGH 

E 

Schedules A through E may be used by 

government securities brokers or dealers 

subject to 17 CFR 402 to determine the firm’s 

capital-to-risk ratio. Section 402.2 provides 

that a government securities broker or deal-

er must meet the applicable minimum dollar 

liquid capital requirement and that the 

firm’s ratio of liquid capital to risk (total 

haircuts) must be at least 1.2:1; liquid capital 

must exceed risk by at least 20 percent. 

Total haircuts is the risk measure used in 

the ratio; it is made up of measures of mar-

ket risk and measures of credit risk. The 

market risk of a government securities bro-

ker’s or dealer’s positions is accounted for 
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through the Treasury market risk haircut 

and the other securities haircut. Credit risk 

is accounted for in the counterparty expo-

sure, concentration of credit, and credit vol-

atility haircuts and in the computation of 

liquid capital through the various deductions 

and charges. 
Only positions in Treasury market risk in-

struments and financings may be used in the 

calculation of the Treasury market risk 

haircut. Treasury market risk instruments 

and financings are described in 17 CFR 402.2 

and in the instructions to the schedule where 

they are to be first entered. All other types 

of financial instruments are to be included in 

the calculation of the other securities hair-

cut. Calculation of the other securities hair-

cut is based on the SEC’s Rule 15c3–1 (17 CFR 

240.15c3–1). 
Treasury market risk instruments may be 

excluded from the calculation of the Treas-

ury market risk haircut if they are included 

in the calculation of the other securities 

haircut as part of a hedge against long and 

short positions in securities, futures con-

tracts, forward contracts, or options that are 

not Treasury market risk instruments. Only 

the portion of the total position in a Treas-

ury market risk instrument that forms part 

of such a hedge may be excluded, and the re-

sult of this transfer of the Treasury market 

risk instruments must be a reduction in the 

other securities haircut. 
The categories for classifying Treasury 

market risk instruments are designated in 17 

CFR 402.2(f)(1). The categories, which are 

designated by a maturity range, contain all 

securities with remaining terms to maturity 

greater than or equal to the lower end of the 

range but less than the higher. A half year is 

always considered to be 6 months. In cat-

egories A through D, zero-coupon instru-

ments are to be treated in the same manner 

as all other instruments. In categories E 

through J, the maturity designations in pa-

rentheses give the maturities of the zero- 

coupon instruments to be placed in that cat-

egory. All mortgage-backed securities that 

are Treasury market risk instruments are to 

be placed in category MB or category AR, de-

pending on whether they are backed by con-

ventional or adjustable-rate mortgages. 
All haircuts may be calculated to the near-

est hundred dollars, unless such rounding 

would materially affect the liquid capital 

calculation. 
Appendix A to the Preamble published 

with the temporary regulations for 17 CFR 

part 402 (52 FR 19669, May 26, 1987) contains 

an example of the capital calculation. It may 

also be used as an aid in completing these 

schedules. 

Schedule A—Liquid Capital Requirement 

Summary Computation 

Schedule A is used to determine the cap-

ital-to-risk ratio by comparing liquid capital 

to total haircuts. Schedule A will be the last 

schedule completed as many of the haircuts 

entered on Schedule A are calculated on 

Schedules B through E. 
Line 1—Enter liquid capital, which is iden-

tical to the amount reported on line 3640 of 

the Report on Finances and Operations of 

Government Securities Brokers and Dealers, 

Form G–405. 
Line 2—Haircuts on ‘‘Security and Financ-

ing Positions’’ including contractual com-

mitments: 
a. Enter the Total Governments Offset 

Portion Haircut from column 10 of Schedule 

C. 
b. Enter the Total Futures and Options Off-

set Haircut from column 19 of Schedule D. 
c. Enter the Total Hedging Disallowance 

Haircut as calculated in Schedule E, column 

27. 
d. Enter the Residual Net Position Haircut 

as given in column 28 of Schedule E. 
e. Enter the other securities haircut as de-

termined by applying the SEC haircut fac-

tors to securities, futures contracts, forward 

contracts, options and other inventory that 

are not Treasury market risk instruments as 

defined in 17 CFR 402.2(e). The other securi-

ties haircut is the sum of all applicable de-

ductions as specified in 17 CFR 240.15c3–1 

(c)(2)(vi) and (c)(2)(viii) and in 17 CFR 

240.15c3–1a and 240.15c3–1b. Any position(s) in 

Treasury market risk instruments that have 

been excluded from the calculation of the 

Treasury market risk haircut because they 

are part of a hedge with these other instru-

ments are to be included in the calculation 

of this haircut. 
Line 3—Haircuts on credit exposure: 
a. Enter the total counterparty exposure 

haircut which is the sum of the counterparty 

exposure haircut with each counterparty, ex-

cept a Federal Reserve Bank. A counterparty 

exposure haircut is equal to 5 percent of the 

net credit exposure to a single counterparty 

which is not in excess of 15 percent of the 

government securities broker’s or dealer’s 

liquid capital. If the net credit exposure to a 

counterparty does exceed 15 percent of liquid 

capital, the excess will be used in calculating 

the total concentration of credit haircut on 

line 3b. 
Net credit exposure equals the difference 

between the government securities broker’s 

or dealer’s credit exposure to a single 

counterparty and that counterparty’s credit 

exposure to the government securities 

broker or dealer. The government securities 

broker’s or dealer’s credit exposure to a 

counterparty is equal to the sum of the dol-

lar amount of funds, debt instruments, other 

securities, and other inventory at risk to the 

government securities broker or dealer in 

the event of the counterparty’s default and 

the market value of purchased unlisted op-

tions that are Treasury market risk instru-

ments and were written by the counterparty. 
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It does not include, however, (1) the deduc-

tion taken from net worth for unsecured re-

ceivables, repurchase and reverse repurchase 

agreement deficits, aged fails to deliver, and 

aged fails to receive arising from trans-

actions with the counterparty; (2) demand 

deposits in the case where the counterparty 

is a commercial bank; (3) loans of imme-

diately available funds (commonly referred 

to as ‘‘sales of federal funds’’) held by the 

government securities broker or dealer in 

connection with the clearance of securities 

on the day the loan is made in the case 

where the counterparty is a commercial 

bank; (4) custodial holdings of securities in 

the case where the counterparty is a clearing 

bank or clearing broker of the government 

securities broker or dealer; or (5) credit ex-

posure to the counterparty due to holding 

marketable instruments for which the 

counterparty is the obligor. 

The counterparty’s credit exposure to the 

government securities broker or dealer 

equals the dollar amount of funds, debt in-

struments, other securities, and other inven-

tory at risk to the counterparty in the event 

of the government security broker’s or deal-

er’s default and any unlisted options written 

by the government securities broker or deal-

er and held by the counterparty. 

b. Enter the total concentration of credit 

haircut which is the sum of all concentration 

of credit haircuts applied in cases where the 

net credit exposure (as defined above) to a 

single counterparty is in excess of 15 percent 

of the government securities broker’s or 

dealer’s liquid capital. The concentration of 

credit haircut is 25 percent of the amount of 

net credit exposure in excess of 15 percent of 

the government securities broker’s or deal-

er’s liquid capital. 

c. Enter the credit volatility haircut which 

equals a factor of 0.15 percent applied to the 

larger of the gross long or gross short posi-

tion in money market instruments quali-

fying as Treasury market risk instruments 

which mature in 45 days or more, in futures 

and forwards on these instruments that are 

settled on a cash or delivery basis, and in fu-

tures and forwards on time deposits de-

scribed in § 402.2(e)(1)(vii), that mature in 45 

days or more, settled on a cash or delivery 

basis. Money market instruments qualifying 

as Treasury market risk instruments are (1) 

marketable certificates of deposit with no 

more than one year to maturity, (2) bankers 

acceptances, and (3) commercial paper of no 

more than one year to maturity and which 

has only a minimal amount of credit risk as 

determined by the government securities 

broker or dealer pursuant to reasonably de-

signed written policies and procedures the 

government securities broker or government 

securities dealer establishes, maintains, and 

enforces to assess and monitor creditworthi-

ness. These policies and procedures should 

result in creditworthiness assessments that 

typically are consistent with market data. 

Line 4—Enter total haircuts which is the 

sum of lines 2 a through e, and 3 a, b, and c. 

Line 5—Enter the capital-to-risk ratio 

which is found by dividing line 1, ‘‘Liquid 

capital,’’ by line 4, ‘‘Total haircuts.’’ The 

capital-to-risk ratio must be at least equal 

to 1.2:1. 

Schedule B—Calculation of Net Immediate 

Position in Securities and Financings 

Schedule B is used to calculate the net im-

mediate position in and offset portion of se-

curities and financings. The results are then 

carried over to Schedule C for initial haircut 

calculations. Futures, forwards, and options 

which are Treasury market risk instruments 

are to be entered on Schedule D. 

Positions in and financings on debt instru-

ments other than mortgage-backed or ad-

justable rate mortgage-backed securities 

should be placed in the category cor-

responding to their remaining term to matu-

rity. In the case of a floating rate note, how-

ever, the note should be placed in the cat-

egory corresponding to the time to the next 

scheduled interest rate adjustment or re-

maining term to maturity, whichever is less. 

Column 1—Under ‘‘Financings-Long’’ re-

port in the appropriate category the con-

tract value of reverse repurchase agreements 

and the value(s) of cash collateral on secu-

rity borrowings. Financings so reported 

should be placed in the category cor-

responding to the remaining term to matu-

rity or time to the next scheduled interest 

rate adjustment, whichever is less. 

Column 2—Under ‘‘Financings-Short’’ re-

port in the appropriate category as a nega-

tive number the values of funds received 

from financing transactions. Include repur-

chase agreements, securities lending secured 

by cash collateral, and term financings, but 

exclude subordinated debt which meets the 

requirements of 17 CFR 240.15c3–1d as modi-

fied by 17 CFR 402.2d. Financings so reported 

should be placed in the category cor-

responding to the remaining term to matu-

rity or time to the next scheduled interest 

rate adjustment, whichever is less. 

Columns 3 and 4—Report in the appro-

priate column by maturity or type of mort-

gage-backed security under ‘‘Securities Posi-

tions’’ the sum of the market values of im-

mediate positions in Treasury market risk 

instruments. The net position in each indi-

vidual Treasury market risk instrument is 

to be appropriately reported as a long (+) or 

short (¥) position in summation with all 

other positions of the same category (long/ 

short). Short positions are assigned a nega-

tive value. Treasury market risk instru-

ments are defined in 17 CFR 402.2(e). Those 

to be reported in Schedule B are: 
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(1) Government securities as defined in 17 

CFR 400.3 except equity securities and mort-

gage-backed securities which do not pass 

through to the security holder on a pro rata 

basis a distribution based on the monthly 

payments and prepayments of principal and 

interest on the underlying pool of mortgage 

collateral less fees and expenses; 
(2) Zero-coupon receipts or certificates 

based on marketable Treasury notes or 

bonds; 
(3) Marketable certificates of deposit of no 

more than one year to maturity; 
(4) Bankers acceptances; 
(5) Commercial paper of no more than one 

year to maturity and which has only a mini-

mal amount of credit risk as determined by 

the government securities broker or dealer 

pursuant to reasonably designed written 

policies and procedures the government se-

curities broker or dealer establishes, main-

tains, and enforces to assess and monitor 

creditworthiness. These policies and proce-

dures should result in creditworthiness as-

sessments that typically are consistent with 

market data; and 
(6) Securities described in § 402.2(e)(1)(vi). 
Report all positions as of the trade date. If 

the settlement date is scheduled for more 

than five business days in the future (or, in 

the case of a mortgage-backed security, 

more than thirty calendar days in the fu-

ture), then report the position as a forward 

contract on Schedule D. Also, under ‘‘Secu-

rities Positions’’ in the appropriate column 

and category, report any when-issued posi-

tion in a marketable Treasury security be-

tween announcement and issue date, any 

when-issued position in a government agency 

or a government-sponsored agency debt secu-

rity between release date and issue date, and 

any when-issued position in a security de-

scribed in § 402.2(e)(1)(vi) between announce-

ment date and issue date. 
Exclude positions in Treasury market risk 

instruments which form part of a hedge 

against long and short positions in securi-

ties, futures contracts, forward contracts, or 

options that are not Treasury market risk 

instruments and are to be included in the 

calculation of the other securities haircut. 

Only that portion of the total position in a 

Treasury market risk instrument that forms 

part of such a hedge may be excluded, and 

the inclusion of the Treasury market risk in-

struments must reduce the other securities 

haircut. 
Column 5—Under ‘‘Total Securities and Fi-

nancing Positions (+)’’ report in the appro-

priate category the sum of the long 

financings (column 1) and long securities po-

sitions (column 3). 
Column 6—Under ‘‘Total Securities and Fi-

nancing Positions (¥)’’ report in the appro-

priate category the sum of the short 

financings (column 2) and short securities 

positions (column 4). 

Column 7—Under ‘‘Offset Portions’’ report 

in the appropriate category the lesser of the 

absolute values of the positive (column 5) or 

negative (column 6) total securities and fi-

nancing positions. 

Column 8—Under ‘‘Net Immediate Posi-

tions’’ report in the appropriate category the 

sum, or net value, of the positive (column 5) 

and negative (column 6) total securities and 

financing positions. 

Columns 7, ‘‘Offset Portions,’’ and 8, ‘‘Net 

Immediate Positions,’’ are to be carried to 

Schedule C. 

Schedule C—Governments Offset Portion and 

Net Immediate Position Interim Haircuts Cal-

culation 

Schedule C is used to calculate the total 

governments offset portion haircut and net 

immediate position interim haircuts by ap-

plying offset and net position haircut factors 

to the offset portions and net immediate po-

sitions in Treasury market risk instruments 

and financings. The total governments offset 

portion haircut is then carried to Schedule 

A, and the net immediate position interim 

haircuts are carried to Schedule D or E. 

Column 7—Transfer to column 7, ‘‘Govern-

ments Offset Portion—$ Amounts,’’ column 

seven from Schedule B, ‘‘Offset Portions.’’ 

Column 9—These are the governments off-

set portion haircut factors given at 17 CFR 

402.2(f)(2). They may be updated from time to 

time. 

Column 10—Under ‘‘Governments Offset 

Portion—Haircuts’’ report in the appropriate 

category the product of the corresponding 

values in column 7, ‘‘$ Amounts,’’ and in col-

umn 9, ‘‘Factors.’’ 

To determine the total governments offset 

portion haircut, sum the values under ‘‘Gov-

ernments Offset Portion—Haircuts’’ in col-

umn 10, and enter this number in the appro-

priate space. Carry this value to Schedule A, 

line 2a, converting, if necessary, to thou-

sands of dollars. 

Column 8—Transfer to column 8, ‘‘Net Im-

mediate Positions—$ Amounts,’’ column 

eight from Schedule B, ‘‘Net Immediate Po-

sitions.’’ 

Column 11—These are the net immediate 

position haircut factors given at 17 CFR 

402.2(f)(2). They may be updated from time to 

time. 

Column 12—Under ‘‘Net Immediate Posi-

tions—Interim Haircuts’’ place in the appro-

priate category the product of the cor-

responding values in column 8, ‘‘$ Amounts,’’ 

and in column 11, ‘‘Factors.’’ A haircut on a 

short position remains negative. 

Carry column 12 to Schedule D, or, if there 

are no futures, forwards, or options posi-

tions, to Schedule E. 
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Schedule D—Consolidation of Net Immediate 

Position Interim Haircuts with Gross Futures 

and Options Interim Haircuts 

Schedule D is used to enter haircuts on fu-

tures, forwards and options positions and to 

calculate the total futures and options offset 

haircut and the residual position interim 

haircuts as needed for Schedules A and E re-

spectively. If there are no futures and op-

tions positions, it is not necessary to fill out 

Schedule D. 
Report on Schedule D futures, forwards, 

and options which are Treasury market risk 

instruments as defined in § 402.2(e). These fu-

tures, forwards, and listed option contracts 

may be based on any of the Treasury market 

risk instruments described in the instruc-

tions to columns 3 and 4 on Schedule B or on 

time deposits whose changes in yield are 

closely correlated with marketable certifi-

cates of deposit which are Treasury market 

risk instruments, as described in 

§ 402.2(e)(1)(vii). Options on Treasury market 

risk futures contracts and unlisted options 

on marketable Treasury bills, notes, and 

bonds are also to be included. Futures con-

tracts may settle on a cash or delivery basis. 

Any of these contracts which are being in-

cluded as part of a hedge in the calculation 

of the other securities haircut must be ex-

cluded from Schedule D. 
Report as a forward contract any position 

for which the time between trade date and 

settlement date is more than five business 

days (30 calendar days for a mortgage-backed 

security). Any when-issued position in a 

marketable Treasury security established 

between announcement and issue date, any 

when-issued position in a government agency 

or a government-sponsored agency debt secu-

rity established between release date and 

issue date, and any when-issued position in a 

security described in § 402.2(e)(1)(vi) between 

announcement date and issue date is re-

ported in the appropriate category on Sched-

ule B under ‘‘Securities Positions.’’ 
Column 12—Transfer to column 12, ‘‘Net 

Immediate Position Interim Haircuts,’’ col-

umn 12 from Schedule C, ‘‘Net Immediate 

Positions—Interim Haircuts,’’ converting, if 

necessary, to thousands of dollars. 
Columns 13 and 14—Under ‘‘Gross Interim 

Haircuts—Futures and Forward’’ enter in the 

appropriate category the sum of the interim 

haircuts on the futures or forward positions 

belonging to that category. The interim 

haircut on a futures or forward position 

equals the product of the value of the posi-

tion evaluated at the current market price 

for such contract and the net position hair-

cut factor that corresponds to either the 

term to maturity of the underlying instru-

ment or, for mortgage-backed securities, the 

type of security. The term to maturity of the 

underlying instrument is the term to matu-

rity of the deliverable security at the time of 

the maturity of the futures or forward con-

tract. The haircut on a futures or forward 

position on a non-mortgaged-backed instru-

ment is to be entered in the category cor-

responding to the sum of the remaining time 

to maturity of the futures or forward con-

tract and the maturity of the underlying in-

strument. Haircuts on futures and forwards 

on mortgage-backed securities are to be en-

tered in the appropriate mortgage-backed se-

curities category. The interim haircuts on 

long futures and forwards are positive (col-

umn 13), and on short futures and forwards, 

negative (column 14). 
Columns 15 and 16—Under ‘‘Gross Interim 

Haircuts—Options’’ enter, in the category in 

which the instrument directly underlying 

the contract would be entered, the lesser of 

(1) the market value of the option or (2) the 

net immediate position interim haircut on 

the underlying cash instrument or gross fu-

tures interim haircut on the underlying fu-

tures contract. Note that in the case of an 

option on a futures contract the category in 

which the option contract is to be entered is 

the sum of the remaining time to maturity 

of the futures or forward contract and the 

maturity of the instrument underlying the 

futures or forward contract. The haircut fac-

tor used to determine the gross futures in-

terim haircut is that factor corresponding to 

the term to maturity of the deliverable secu-

rity at the time of the maturity of the fu-

tures or forward contract. Gross option hair-

cuts on purchased calls and sold puts are 

positive, those on sold calls and purchased 

puts are negative. 
Column 17—Under ‘‘Aggregate Interim 

Haircuts (+)’’ enter in the appropriate cat-

egory, the sum of any positive net imme-

diate position interim haircut (column 12) 

and the positive gross option (column 15) and 

gross futures and forward (column 13) in-

terim haircuts for that category. 
Column 18—Under ‘‘Aggregate Interim 

Haircuts (¥)’’ enter in the appropriate cat-

egory, the sum of any negative net imme-

diate position interim haircut (column 12) 

and the negative gross option (column 16) 

and gross futures and forward (column 14) in-

terim haircuts for that category. 
Column 19—Under ‘‘Futures and Options 

Offset Portions’’ enter, in the appropriate 

category, the lesser of the absolute values of 

the positive and negative aggregate interim 

haircuts (columns 17 and 18) for that cat-

egory. 
The total futures and options offset por-

tion is the sum of the values in column 19 

under ‘‘Futures and Options Offset Por-

tions.’’ 
The total futures and options offset hair-

cut is the total futures and options offset 

portion multiplied by a factor of 20 percent 

and is carried to line 2b, Schedule A. 
Column 20—Enter in the appropriate cat-

egory under ‘‘Residual Position Interim 
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Haircuts’’ the sum, or net value, of the posi-

tive and negative aggregate interim hair-

cuts. Carry this to column 20 on Schedule E. 

Schedule E—Calculation of Hedging Disallow-
ance Haircuts When Netting Haircuts Across 
Categories 

Schedule E is used to calculate the hedging 

disallowance and residual net position hair-

cuts which are then carried to Schedule A. 

The purpose of Schedule E is to hedge posi-

tions in different categories in order to re-

duce total haircuts. Netting the residual po-

sition interim haircuts reflects the risk re-

duction inherent in hedges between positions 

in different categories where the price vola-

tility is reasonably well correlated. 
Section 402.2(f)(3) of the rule specifies the 

hedging disallowance haircut factors for the 

category pairs. Netting of residual position 

interim haircuts is permitted only between 

any two categories for which a hedging dis-

allowance haircut factor is specified. Hedg-

ing disallowance haircuts are similar to off-

set haircuts in that they are applied to the 

smaller of the two residual position interim 

haircuts and represent the portion of the 

hedge being ‘‘disallowed.’’ A hedging dis-

allowance haircut is determined each time 

two residual position interim haircuts are 

netted. 
There are three levels of permissible net-

ting corresponding to the three hedging dis-

allowance haircut factors: The 20 percent, 30 

percent, and 40 percent levels. It is not nec-

essary to net all possible pairs at any one 

level. A greater reduction in total haircuts 

can sometimes be obtained by choosing not 

to net a pair at one level (e.g., the 20 percent 

level) so that one element of the pair can be 

netted against a third category at another 

level (e.g., the 30 percent level). 
Column 20—Transfer column 20, ‘‘Residual 

Position Interim Haircuts,’’ from Schedule 

D. If there are no futures or options posi-

tions, transfer instead column 12, ‘‘Net Im-

mediate Positions—Interim Haircuts,’’ from 

Schedule C. 
Column 21—Use the matrix at 17 CFR 

402.2(f)(3) to determine the categories from 

which the residual position interim haircuts 

may be paired at the 20 percent level. For 

each pair multiply the smaller of the abso-

lute values of the two residual position in-

terim haircuts by the hedging disallowance 

haircut factor of 20 percent, and, in the cat-

egory of the smaller, enter the resulting 

hedging disallowance haircut. 
Column 22—For each pair being netted at 

this level, enter under ‘‘Net Residual Posi-

tion Interim Haircuts’’ (1) the sum, or net 

value, of the two residual position interim 

haircuts (and/or net residual position in-

terim haircuts) in the category of the larger 

(in absolute value) of the two interim hair-

cuts that were netted, and (2) a zero in the 

category of the smaller. 

These net residual position interim hair-

cuts replace the residual position interim 

haircuts (or net residual position interim 

haircuts) from which they were derived. Net 

residual position interim haircuts can in 

turn be used in any other allowable netting 

exactly as residual position interim haircuts 

would be. If further netting of that category 

at the same level is permissible and possible, 

it will be necessary to replace the net resid-

ual position interim haircut involved with a 

new (and smaller) net residual position in-

terim haircut in column 22. 
Since the net residual position interim 

haircut in any category containing a hedging 

disallowance haircut is zero, further netting 

with any such category is impossible. 
After all netting has been completed for 

category pairs with a 20 percent hedging dis-

allowance haircut factor, move on to column 

23. 
Column 23—Use the matrix at 17 CFR 

402.2(f)(3) to determine the categories from 

which the residual position interim haircuts 

and/or net residual position interim haircuts 

may be paired at the 30 percent level. In each 

category, the newest (and smallest) net re-

sidual position interim haircut determined 

by netting at the 20 percent level replaces 

the old value and must be used in hedging in 

that category at higher levels. For each pair 

being netted, multiply the smaller of the ab-

solute values of the two (net) residual posi-

tion interim haircuts by the hedging dis-

allowance haircut factor of 30 percent, and in 

the category of the smaller, enter the result-

ing hedging disallowance haircut. 
Column 24—For each pair being netted at 

this level, enter under ‘‘Net Residual Posi-

tion Interim Haircuts’’ (1) the sum, or net 

value, of the two residual position interim 

haircuts and/or net residual position interim 

haircuts in the category of the larger (in ab-

solute value) of the two interim haircuts 

that were netted, and (2) a zero in the cat-

egory of the smaller. 
These net residual position interim hair-

cuts replace the residual position interim 

haircuts (or net residual position interim 

haircuts) from which they were derived. Net 

residual position interim haircuts can in 

turn be used in any other allowable netting 

exactly as residual position interim haircuts 

would be. If further netting of that category 

at the same level is permissible and possible, 

it will be necessary to replace the net resid-

ual position interim haircut involved with a 

new (and smaller) net residual position in-

terim haircut. 
After all netting has been completed for 

category pairs with a 30 percent hedging dis-

allowance haircut factor, continue to column 

25. 
Column 25—Use the matrix at 17 CFR 

402.2(f)(3) to determine the categories from 

which the residual position interim haircuts 

and/or net residual position interim haircuts 
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may be paired at the 40 percent level. In each 

category, any new net residual position in-

terim haircut determined by netting at the 

20 or 30 percent level replaces the old value 

and must be used in hedging with that cat-

egory at the 40 percent level. For each pair 

being netted, multiply the smaller of the ab-

solute values of the two (net) residual posi-

tion interim haircuts by the hedging dis-

allowance haircut factor of 40 percent and, in 

the category of the smaller, enter the result-

ing hedging disallowance haircut. 

Column 26—For each pair being netted at 

this level, enter under ‘‘Net Residual Posi-

tion Interim Haircuts’’ (1) the sum, or net 

value, of the two (net) residual position in-

terim haircuts in the category of the larger 

(in absolute value) of the two interim hair-

cuts that were netted, and (2) a zero in the 

category of the smaller. If further netting of 

that category at the same level is permis-

sible and possible, it will be necessary to re-

place the net residual position interim hair-

cut involved with a new (and smaller) net 

residua1 position interim haircut. 

Column 27—When all possible (net) resid-

ual position interim haircuts have been net-

ted, enter under ‘‘Hedging Disallowance 

Haircuts’’ all hedging disallowance haircuts 

calculated in the netting procedures, each in 

its appropriate category. 

Enter under ‘‘Total Hedging Disallowance 

Haircut’’ the sum of all the hedging disallow-

ance haircuts entered in column 27. Carry to 

Schedule A, line 2c. 

Column 28—Under ‘‘Qualified Netting In-

terim Haircuts’’ enter in the appropriate cat-

egory the absolute value of the haircut given 

under ‘‘Net Residual Position Interim Hair-

cut’’ at the highest hedging disallowance fac-

tor used for that category (columns 26, 24, or 

22). This value will also be the smallest of 

the net residual position interim haircuts in 

that category. If the position in a given cat-

egory was not used in hedging then enter the 

absolute value of the residual position in-

terim haircut from column 20. 

Sum the qualified netting interim hair-

cuts, enter this value under ‘‘Residual Net 

Position Haircut,’’ and carry to Schedule A, 

line 2d. 

[52 FR 27931, July 24, 1987, as amended at 53 

FR 28985, Aug. 1, 1988; 71 FR 54411, Sept. 15, 

2006; 79 FR 38455, July 8, 2014] 

§ 402.2b [Reserved] 

§ 402.2c Appendix C—Consolidated 
computations of liquid capital and 
total haircuts for certain subsidi-
aries and affiliates. 

(a) Consolidation. (1) A government 

securities broker or dealer (the ‘‘parent 

broker or dealer’’), in computing its 

liquid capital and total haircuts pursu-

ant to § 402.2: 

(i) Shall consolidate in a single com-

putation of liquid capital the assets 

and liabilities of any subsidiary or af-

filiate for which the parent broker or 

dealer guarantees, endorses, or as-

sumes directly or indirectly the obliga-

tions or liabilities if the parent broker 

or dealer has obtained the opinion of 

counsel described in paragraph (b) of 

this section with respect to such sub-

sidiary or affiliate; 

(ii) May not consolidate in a single 

computation of liquid capital the as-

sets and liabilities of any subsidiary or 

affiliate for which the parent broker or 

dealer guarantees, endorses, or as-

sumes directly or indirectly the obliga-

tions or liabilities if the parent broker 

or dealer has not obtained the opinion 

of counsel described in paragraph (b) of 

this section with respect to such sub-

sidiary or affiliate, but in that event, 

the parent broker or dealer shall com-

pute its total haircuts by adding the 

total haircuts of each such subsidiary 

or affiliate computed in accordance 

with the provisions of § 402.2 to the 

haircuts of the parent broker or dealer 

computed separately in accordance 

with the provisions of § 402.2; and 

(iii) May consolidate in its computa-

tion of liquid capital the assets and li-

abilities of any majority owned and 

controlled subsidiary or affiliate for 

which the parent broker or dealer does 

not guarantee, endorse or assume di-

rectly or indirectly the obligations or 

liabilities if the parent broker or deal-

er has obtained the opinion of counsel 

described in paragraph (b) of this sec-

tion with respect to such subsidiary or 

affiliate. 

(2) With respect to any subsidiary or 

affiliate whose assets and liabilities 

are consolidated in the parent broker’s 

or dealer’s computation of liquid cap-

ital according to the provisions of 

paragraph (a)(1)(i) or (a)(1)(iii) of this 

section, the parent broker or dealer 

shall compute its haircuts in accord-

ance with the provisions of § 402.2 as if 

the consolidated entity were one firm, 

or, in the alternative, shall add the 

total haircuts of each consolidated sub-

sidiary or affiliate computed in accord-

ance with the provisions of § 402.2 to 

the haircuts of the parent broker or 
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dealer computed separately in accord-

ance with the provisions of § 402.2. 

(b) Required counsel opinion. The opin-

ion of counsel referred to in paragraph 

(a) of this section shall demonstrate to 

the satisfaction of the Commission, 

through the Designated Examining Au-

thority, that net asset values, or the 

portion thereof related to the parent 

broker’s or dealer’s ownership interest 

in a majority owned and controlled 

subsidiary or affiliate, may be caused 

by the parent broker or dealer or an 

appointed trustee to be distributed to 

the parent broker or dealer within 30 

calendar days. Such opinion shall also 

set forth the actions necessary to cause 

such a distribution to be made, identify 

the parties having the authority to 

take such actions, identify and de-

scribe the rights of other parties or 

classes of parties, including but not 

limited to customers, general credi-

tors, subordinated lenders, minority 

shareholder employees, litigants and 

governmental or regulatory authori-

ties, who may delay or prevent such a 

distribution and such other assurances 

as the Commission or the Designated 

Examining Authority by rule or inter-

pretation may require. Such opinion 

shall be current and periodically re-

newed in connection with the parent 

broker’s or dealer’s annual audit pursu-

ant to § 240.17a–5 of this title, as made 

applicable to government securities 

brokers or dealers by § 405.2 of this 

chapter, or upon any material change 

in circumstances. 

(c) Principles of consolidation. The fol-

lowing minimum and non-exclusive re-

quirements shall govern the consolida-

tion of a subsidiary or affiliate in the 

computation of total liquid capital and 

total haircuts of a government securi-

ties broker or dealer pursuant to this 

section: 

(1) The total liquid capital of the gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

shall be reduced by the estimated 

amount of any taxes reasonably antici-

pated to be incurred upon distribution 

of the assets of the subsidiary or affil-

iate. 

(2) Liabilities of a consolidated sub-

sidiary or affiliate that are subordi-

nated to the claims of present and fu-

ture creditors pursuant to a satisfac-

tory subordination agreement shall not 

be added to consolidated net worth un-
less such subordination extends also to 
the claims of present or future credi-
tors of the parent broker or dealer and 
all consolidated subsidiaries. 

(3) Subordinated liabilities of a con-
solidated subsidiary or affiliate that 
are consolidated in accordance with 
paragraph (c)(2) of this section may not 
be prepaid, repaid or accelerated if any 
of the entities included in such consoli-
dation would otherwise be unable to 
comply with the provision of § 240.15c3– 
1d of this title, as modified by § 402.2d. 

(4) Each government securities 
broker or dealer included within the 
consolidation shall at all times be in 
compliance with the liquid capital or 
net capital requirement to which it is 
subject. 

(d) Certain Precluded Acts. Even if 
consolidation is not required or al-
lowed under paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion, no parent broker or dealer shall 
guarantee, endorse or assume directly 
or indirectly any obligation or liability 
of a subsidiary or affiliate unless the 
obligation or liability is reflected in 
the parent broker’s or dealer’s com-
putation of liquid capital. 

§ 402.2d Appendix D—Modification of 
§ 240.15c3–1d of this title, relating to 
satisfactory subordination agree-
ments, for purposes of § 402.2. 

Section 240.15c3–1d of this title shall 
apply to government securities brokers 
and dealers subject to the requirements 
of § 402.2 with the following modifica-
tions. 

(a) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 
include government securities brokers 
and dealers. 

(b) References to ‘‘17 CFR 240.15c3–1’’ 
mean § 402.2. 

(c) Section 240.15c3–1d(a)(2)(iii) is 
modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(iii) The term ‘‘Collateral Value’’ of 
any securities pledged to secure a se-
cured demand note shall mean the mar-
ket value of such securities after giv-
ing effect to the haircuts specified in 
§ 402.2a of this title.’’ 

(d) References to ‘‘17 CFR 240.15c3– 
1d’’ mean that section as modified by 
this section. 

(e) Section 240.15c3–1d(b)(6)(iii) is 
modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(iii) The secured demand note agree-
ment may also provide that, in lieu of 
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the procedures specified in the provi-

sions required by paragraph (b)(6)(ii) of 

this section, the lender, with the prior 

written consent of the government se-

curities broker or dealer and the Exam-

ining Authority for such broker or 

dealer, may reduce the unpaid prin-

cipal amount of the secured demand 

note. After giving effect to such reduc-

tion, the liquid capital, as defined in 

§ 402.2(d) of this title, of the govern-

ment securities broker or dealer may 

not be less than 150% of the govern-

ment securities broker’s or dealer’s 

total haircuts, as defined in § 402.2(g) of 

this title. No single secured demand 

note shall be permitted to be reduced 

by more than 15% of its original prin-

cipal amount and after such reduction 

no excess collateral may be withdrawn. 

No Examining Authority shall consent 

to a reduction of the principal amount 

of a secured demand note if, after giv-

ing effect to such reduction, liquid cap-

ital after deducting total haircuts 

would be less than 120% of the min-

imum dollar amount required by 

§ 402.2(b) or § 402.2(c) of this title as ap-

plicable.’’ 

(f) Section 240.15c3–1d(b)(7) is modi-

fied to read as follows: 

‘‘(7) A government securities broker 

or dealer at its option but not at the 

option of the lender may, if the subor-

dination agreement so provides, make 

a Payment of all or any portion of the 

Payment Obligation thereunder prior 

to the scheduled maturity date of such 

Payment Obligation (hereinafter re-

ferred to as a ‘‘Prepayment’’), but in no 

event may any Prepayment be made 

before the expiration of one year from 

the date such subordination agreement 

became effective. This restriction shall 

not apply to temporary subordination 

agreements which comply with the pro-

visions of paragraph (c)(5) of this sec-

tion. No Prepayment shall be made if, 

after giving effect thereto (and to all 

Payments of Payment Obligations 

under any other subordinated agree-

ments then outstanding the maturities 

or accelerated maturities of which are 

scheduled to fall due within six months 

after the date such Prepayment is to 

occur pursuant to this provision or on 

or prior to the date on which the Pay-

ment Obligation in respect of such Pre-

payment is scheduled to mature dis-

regarding this provision, whichever 

date is earlier) without reference to 

any projected profit or loss of the gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer, 

the liquid capital, as defined in 

§ 402.2(d) of this title, of the govern-

ment securities broker or dealer would 

be less than 150% of the government se-

curities broker’s or dealer’s total hair-

cuts, as defined in § 402.2(g) of this title. 

Notwithstanding the above, no Prepay-

ment shall occur without the prior 

written approval of the Examining Au-

thority for such government securities 

broker or dealer.’’. 

(g) Section 240.15c3–1d(b)(8) is modi-

fied to read as follows: 

‘‘(i) The Payment Obligation of the 

government securities broker or dealer 

in respect of any subordination agree-

ment shall be suspended and shall not 

mature if, after giving effect to Pay-

ment of such Payment Obligation (and 

to all Payments of Payment Obliga-

tions of such broker or dealer under 

any other subordination agreement(s) 

then outstanding which are scheduled 

to mature on or before such Payment 

Obligation), either the liquid capital, 

as defined in § 402.2(d) of this title, of 

the government securities broker or 

dealer would be less than 150% of the 

government securities broker’s or deal-

er’s total haircuts, as defined in 

§ 402.2(g) of this title, or the govern-

ment securities broker’s or dealer’s liq-

uid capital after deducting total hair-

cuts would be less than 120% of the 

minimum dollar amount required by 

§ 402.2(b) or § 402.2(c) of this title, as ap-

plicable. The subordination agreement 

may provide that if the Payment Obli-

gation of the government securities 

broker or dealer thereunder does not 

mature and is suspended as a result of 

the requirement of this paragraph 

(b)(8) for a period of not less than six 

months, the government securities 

broker or dealer shall thereupon com-

mence the rapid and orderly liquida-

tion of its business but the right of the 

lender to receive Payment, together 

with accrued interest or compensation, 

shall remain subordinate as required 

by the provisions of 17 CFR 240.15c3–1 

and 240.15c3–1d.’’. 

(h) Section 240.15c3–1d(b)(10)(ii)(B) is 

modified to read as follows: 
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‘‘(B) The liquid capital, as defined in 

§ 402.2(d) of this title, of the govern-

ment securities broker or dealer being 

less than 120% of total haircuts, as de-

fined in § 402.2(g) of this title, through-

out a period of 15 consecutive business 

days, commencing on the day the 

broker or dealer first determines and 

notifies the Examining Authority for 

the government securities broker or 

dealer, or the Examining Authority or 

the Commission first determines and 

notifies the government securities 

broker or dealer of such fact;’’. 

(i) Section 240.15c3–1d(c)(2) is modi-

fied to read as follows: 

‘‘(2) Notice of Maturity or Accelerated 
Maturity. Every government securities 

broker or dealer shall immediately no-

tify the Examining Authority for such 

broker or dealer if, after giving effect 

to all Payments of Payment Obliga-

tions subordination agreements then 

outstanding which are then due or ma-

ture within the following six months 

without reference to any projected 

profit or loss of the broker or dealer, 

the liquid capital, as defined in 

§ 402.2(d) of this title, of such govern-

ment securities broker or dealer, would 

be less than 150% of total haircuts, as 

defined in § 402.2(g) of this title.’’. 

(j) Section 240.15c3–1d(c)(5)(i) is modi-

fied to read as follows: 

‘‘(i) For the purpose of enabling a 

government securities broker or dealer 

to participate as an underwriter of se-

curities or other extraordinary activi-

ties in compliance with the capital re-

quirements of § 402.2 of this title, a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

shall be permitted, on no more than 

three occasions in any 12 month period, 

to enter into a subordination agree-

ment on a temporary basis which has a 

stated term of no more than 45 days 

from the date such subordination 

agreement became effective. This tem-

porary relief shall not apply to a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer if, 

within the preceding thirty calendar 

days, it has given notice pursuant to 

§ 405.3, or if immediately prior to enter-

ing into such subordination agreement, 

the liquid capital, as defined in 

§ 402.2(d) of this title, of such broker or 

dealer would be less than 150% of total 

haircuts, as defined in § 402.2(g) of this 

title, or the amount of its then out-

standing subordination agreements ex-
ceeds the limits specified in § 240.15c3– 
1(d). Such temporary subordination 
agreement shall be subject to all other 
provisions of this appendix D.’’. 

(k) Section 240.15c3–1d(c)(5)(ii)(A) is 
modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(A) After giving effect thereto (and 
to all Payments of Payment Obliga-
tions under any other subordinated 
agreements then outstanding the ma-
turity or accelerated maturities of 
which are scheduled to fall due within 
six months after the date such prepay-
ment is to occur pursuant to this pro-
vision or on or prior to the date on 
which the Payment Obligation in re-
spect of such prepayment is schedu1ed 
to mature disregarding this provision, 
whichever date is earlier) without ref-
erence to any projected profit or loss of 
the government securities broker or 
dealer, the liquid capital, as defined in 
§ 402.2(d) of this title, of such broker or 
dealer, would be less than 180% of total 
haircuts, as defined in § 402.2(g) of this 
title.’’. 

[52 FR 27931, July 24, 1987, as amended at 59 

FR 53731, Oct. 26, 1994] 

PART 403—PROTECTION OF CUS-
TOMER SECURITIES AND BAL-
ANCES 

Sec. 
403.1 Application of part to registered bro-

kers and dealers. 
403.2 Hypothecation of customer securities. 
403.3 Use of customers’ free credit balances. 
403.4 Customer protection—reserves and 

custody of securities. 
403.5 Custody of securities held by financial 

institutions that are government securi-

ties brokers or dealers. 
403.6 Compliance with part by futures com-

mission merchants. 
403.7 Effective dates. 

AUTHORITY: Sec. 101, Pub. L. 99–571, 100 

Stat. 3209; sec. 4(b), Pub. L. 101–432, 104 Stat. 

963; sec. 102, sec. 106, Pub. L. 103–202, 107 Stat. 

2344 (15 U.S.C. 78o–5(a)(5), (b)(1)(A), (b)(4)). 

SOURCE: 52 FR 27947, July 24, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 403.1 Application of part to reg-
istered brokers and dealers. 

With respect to their activities in 

government securities, compliance by 

registered brokers or dealers with 

§ 240.8c–1 of this title (SEC Rule 8c–1), 
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as modified by § 403.2 (a), (b) and (c), 

with § 240.15c2–1 of this title (SEC Rule 

15c2–1), with § 240.15c3–2 of this title 

(SEC Rule 15c3–2), as modified by 

§ 403.3, and with § 240.15c3–3 of this title 

(SEC Rule 15c3–3), as modified by § 403.4 

(a) through (d), (f)(2) through (3), (g) 

through (j), and (m), including provi-

sions in those rules relating to OTC de-

rivatives dealers, constitutes compli-

ance with this part. 

[71 FR 54411, Sept. 15, 2006] 

§ 403.2 Hypothecation of customer se-
curities. 

Every registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer shall comply with 

the requirements of § 240.8c–1 of this 

title concerning hypothecation of cus-

tomer securities with the following 

modifications: 

(a) In § 240.8c–1(a), the words ‘‘no gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer’’ 

shall be substituted for the words ‘‘no 

member of a national securities ex-

change, and no broker or dealer who 

transacts a business in securities 

through the medium of such member.’’ 

(b) Section 240.8c–1(d) is modified to 

read as follows: 

‘‘(d) Exemption for clearing liens. The 

provisions of paragraphs (a)(2), (a)(3) 

and (f) of this section shall not apply to 

any lien or claim of a clearing bank, or 

the clearing corporation (or similar de-

partment or association) of a national 

securities exchange or a registered na-

tional securities association, for a loan 

made to acquire any securities subject 

to said lien and to be repaid on the 

same calendar day, which loan is inci-

dental to the clearing of transactions 

in securities or loans through such 

bank, corporation, department or asso-

ciation; provided, however, that for the 

purpose of paragraph (a)(3) of this sec-

tion, ‘aggregate indebtedness of all cus-

tomers in respect of securities carried 

for their accounts’ shall not include in-

debtedness in respect of any securities 

subject to any lien or claim exempted 

by this paragraph.’’ 

(c) References to ‘‘member, broker or 

dealer’’ mean ‘‘government securities 

broker or dealer.’’ 

§ 403.3 Use of customers’ free credit 
balances. 

Every registered government securi-
ties broker or dealer shall comply with 
the requirement of § 240.15c3–2 of this 
title concerning the use of customer 
free credit balances. For purposes of 
this section, all references to ‘‘broker 
or dealer’’ in § 240.15c3–2 shall include 
government securities brokers and 
dealers. 

§ 403.4 Customer protection—reserves 
and custody of securities. 

Every registered government securi-
ties broker or dealer shall comply with 
the requirements of §§ 240.15c3–3 and 

240.15c3–3a of this title (SEC Rule 15c3– 

3 and Exhibit A thereto), with the fol-

lowing modifications: 
(a) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

include government securities brokers 

and dealers. 
(b) ‘‘Fully paid securities,’’ as defined 

in § 240.15c3–3(a)(3) of this title, in-

cludes all securities held by a govern-

ment securities broker or a govern-

ment securities dealer for the account 

of a customer who has made full pay-

ment for such securities. 
(c) ‘‘Margin securities,’’ as defined in 

§ 240.15c3–3(a)(4) of this title, includes 

any securities for which a customer 

has not made full payment and for 

which the customer has received an ex-

tension of credit by a government secu-

rities broker or government securities 

dealer for a portion of the purchase 

price. 
(d) ‘‘Excess margin securities,’’ as de-

fined in § 240.15c3–3(a)(5) of this title, 

includes margin securities carried for 

the account of a customer having a 

market value in excess of 140 percent of 

the total of the debit balances in the 

customer’s account or accounts with 

the broker or dealer. 
(e) For purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15c3–3(b)(3)(iii)(A) of this title is 

modified to read as follows: 
(A) Must provide to the lender upon 

the execution of the agreement, or by 

the close of the business day of the 

loan if the loan occurs subsequent to 

the execution of the agreement, collat-

eral that fully secures the loan of secu-

rities, consisting exclusively of cash or 

United States Treasury bills or Treas-

ury notes or an irrevocable letter of 
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credit issued by a bank as defined in 

§ 3(a)(6)(A)–(C) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 

78c(a)(6)(A)–(C)) or such other collat-

eral as the Secretary designates as per-

missible by order as consistent with 

the public interest, the protection of 

investors, and the purposes of the Act, 

after giving consideration to the 

collateral’s liquidity, 

(f)(1) For purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15c3–3(b)(4)(i)(C) is modified to 

read as follows: 

‘‘(C) Advise the counterparty in the 

repurchase agreement that the Securi-

ties Investor Protection Act of 1970 will 

not provide protection to the 

counterparty with respect to the repur-

chase agreement.’’ 

(2) For purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15c3–3(b)(4)(ii) is modified to read 

as follows: 

‘‘(ii) For purposes of this paragraph 

(4), securities are in the broker’s or 

dealer’s control only if they are in the 

control of the broker or dealer within 

the meaning of § 240.15c3–3(c)(1), (c)(3), 

(c)(5), (c)(6), or § 403.4(f) of this title.’’ 

(3) For purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15c3–3(b)(4)(iv) is redesignated 

§ 240.15c3–3(b)(4)(iv)(A) and paragraph 

(b)(4)(iv)(B) is added to read as follows: 

‘‘(B) A person that is a non-U.S. cit-

izen residing outside of the United 

States or a foreign corporation, part-

nership, or trust may waive, but only 

in writing, the right to receive the con-

firmation required by paragraph 

(b)(4)(i)(B) of this section.’’ 

(g)(1) Securities under the control of 

a broker or dealer, as described in 

§ 240.15c3–3(c) of this title, shall include 

securities maintained by a broker or 

dealer in an account at a depository in-

stitution, as defined in section 

19(b)(A)(i)–(vi) of the Federal Reserve 

Act (12 U.S.C. 461(b)(1)(A)(i)–(vi)), 

which depository institution has a 

book-entry securities account at a Fed-

eral Reserve Bank through which it 

provides clearing services (‘‘clearing 

bank’’), provided the securities are 

maintained in a Segregated Account of 

the government securities broker or 

dealer. For purposes of this paragraph 

(f)(1) and paragraph (h) of this section, 

a Segregated Account is an account 

(other than a clearing account) of the 

government securities broker or dealer 

maintained on the books of a clearing 

bank pursuant to a written clearing 

agreement with such clearing bank 

which provides that: 

(i) Such account is established for 

the purpose of segregating securities of 

counterparties or customers of such 

broker or dealer from proprietary secu-

rities of the broker or dealer; 

(ii) The broker or dealer is entitled to 

direct the disposition of the securities; 

and 

(iii) The clearing bank does not have, 

and will not assert, any claim or lien 

against such securities nor will the 

clearing bank grant any third party, 

including any Federal Reserve Bank, 

any interest in such securities so long 

as they are maintained in the seg-

regated account. 

(2) For purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15c3–3(c)(2) of this title is redesig-

nated as paragraph (c)(2)(i) and new 

paragraph (c)(2)(ii) is added to read as 

follows: 

‘‘(ii) Are carried for the account of 

any customer by a government securi-

ties broker or dealer in an account des-

ignated exclusively for customers of 

the government securities broker or 

dealer with a registered broker or deal-

er or another registered government 

securities broker or dealer (the ‘‘car-

rying broker or dealer’’) in compliance 

with instructions of the registered gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer to 

the carrying broker or dealer that the 

securities are to be maintained free of 

any charge, lien or claim of any kind in 

favor of the carrying broker or dealer 

or any persons claiming through such 

carrying broker or dealer; or’’. 

(h) For the purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15c3–3(d)(2) of this title is modified 

to read as follows: 

‘‘(2) Securities included on its books 

or records as failed to receive more 

than 30 calendar days, or in the case of 

mortgage-backed securities, more than 

60 calendar days, then the government 

securities broker or government secu-

rities dealer shall, not later than the 

business day following the day on 

which such determination is made, 

take prompt steps to obtain possession 

or control of securities so failed to re-

ceive through a buy-in procedure or 

otherwise; or’’ 
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(i) In addition to the notification re-

quired by § 240.15c3–3(i) of this title, 

whenever any government securities 

broker or dealer instructs its clearing 

bank to place securities in a Seg-

regated Account (as defined in para-

graph (f)(1) of this section), and the 

clearing bank refuses to do so as of the 

close of business on that day, the 

broker or dealer shall, in accordance 

with § 240.17a–11(f) of this title, give tel-

egraphic notice of the notification by 

the clearing bank within 24 hours and 

within 48 hours of the telegraphic no-

tice, file a report stating what steps 

are being taken to correct the situa-

tion. 

(j) For purposes of this section, 

§ 240.15c3–3(l) of this title is modified to 

read as follows: 

‘‘(l) Delivery or disposition of securities. 
Nothing stated in this section shall be 

construed as affecting the absolute 

right of a customer of a government se-

curities broker or dealer, unless other-

wise agreed in writing, in the normal 

course of business operations following 

demand made on the broker or dealer, 

to receive the physical delivery of cer-

tificates if the securities are issued in 

certificated form, or to direct a trans-

fer of or otherwise to exercise control 

over any securities if they are: 

‘‘(1) Fully-paid securities to which 

the customer is entitled; 

‘‘(2) Margin securities upon full pay-

ment by such customer to the broker 

or dealer of the customer’s indebted-

ness to the broker or dealer; or 

‘‘(3) Excess margin securities not rea-

sonably required to collateralize such 

customer’s indebtedness to the broker 

or dealer.’’. 

(k) Except with respect to a govern-

ment securities interdealer broker sub-

ject to the financial responsibility re-

quirements of § 402.1(e) and a registered 

government securities broker or dealer 

that is a futures commission merchant 

registered with the CFTC, § 240.15c3– 

3(e)(3) is modified for purposes of this 

section to read as follows: 

‘‘(3) Computations necessary to de-

termine the amount required to be de-

posited as specified in paragraph (e)(1) 

of this section shall be made weekly, as 

of the close of the last business day of 

the week, and the deposit so computed 

shall be made no later than 1 hour 

after the opening of banking business 

on the second following business day; 

provided, however, a government secu-

rities broker or dealer registered pur-

suant to section 15C(a)(1)(A) of the Act 

(15 U.S.C. 78o–5 (a)(1)(A)) which has a 

ratio of liquid capital to total haircuts 

(calculated in accordance with part 402 

of this chapter) of 1.8 or greater and 

which carries aggregate customer 

funds (as defined in paragraph (a)(10) of 

this section), as computed at the last 

required computation pursuant to this 

section, not exceeding $1 million, may 

in the alternative make the computa-

tion monthly, as of the close of the last 

business day of the month, and, in such 

event, shall deposit not less than 105 

percent of the amount so computed no 

later than 1 hour after the opening of 

banking business on the second fol-

lowing business day. If a registered 

government securities broker or deal-

er, computing on a monthly basis, has, 

at the time of any required computa-

tion, a ratio of liquid capital to total 

haircuts of less than 1.8, such broker or 

dealer shall thereafter compute weekly 

as aforesaid until four successive week-

ly computations are made, none of 

which were made at a time when its 

ratio of liquid capital to total haircuts 

was less than 1.8. Computations in ad-

dition to the computation required in 

this paragraph (3), may be made as of 

the close of any other business day, 

and the deposits so computed shall be 

made no later than 1 hour after the 

opening of banking business on the sec-

ond following business day. The reg-

istered government securities broker 

or dealer shall make and maintain a 

record of each such computation made 

pursuant to this paragraph (3) or other-

wise and preserve such record in ac-

cordance with § 240.17a–4.’’. 

(l) Except with respect to a govern-

ment securities interdealer broker sub-

ject to the financial responsibility re-

quirements of § 402.1(e) and a registered 

government securities broker or dealer 

that is a futures commission merchant 

registered with the CFTC, Note E(5) of 

§ 240.15c3–3a of this title is modified for 

purposes of this section to read as fol-

lows: 
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‘‘(5) Debit balances in margin ac-

counts (other than omnibus accounts) 

shall be reduced by the amount by 

which any single customer’s debit bal-

ance exceeds 25% (to the extent such 

amount is greater than $50,000) of the 

government securities broker’s or deal-

er’s liquid capital unless such broker or 

dealer can demonstrate that the debit 

balance is directly related to credit 

items in the Reserve Formula. Related 

accounts (e.g., the separate accounts of 

an individual, accounts under common 

control or subject to cross guarantees) 

shall be deemed to be a single cus-

tomer’s accounts for purposes of this 

provision.’’. 

(m) For purposes of this section, the 

suspension of § 240.15c3–3(m) of this 

title (38 FR 12103, May 9, 1973) is no 

longer effective and the paragraph is 

modified to read as follows: ‘‘(m) If a 

government securities broker or gov-

ernment securities dealer executes a 

sell order of a customer (other than an 

order to execute a sale of securities 

which the seller does not own, which 

for the purposes of this paragraph shall 

mean that the customer placing the 

sell order has identified the sale as a 

short sale to the government securities 

broker or dealer) and if for any reason 

whatever the government securities 

broker or government securities dealer 

has not obtained possession of the gov-

ernment securities, other than mort-

gage-backed securities, from the cus-

tomer within 30 calendar days, or in 

the case of mortgage-backed securities 

within 60 calendar days, after the set-

tlement date, the government securi-

ties broker or government securities 

dealer shall immediately thereafter 

close the transaction with the cus-

tomer by purchasing, or otherwise ob-

taining, securities of like kind and 

quantity. For purposes of this para-

graph (m), the term ‘‘customer’’ shall 

not include a broker or dealer who 

maintains a special omnibus account 

with another broker or dealer in com-

pliance with section 4(b) of Regulation 

T (12 CFR 220.4(b)). 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27947, July 24, 1987, as amended at 53 

FR 28986, Aug. 1, 1988; 59 FR 9406, Feb. 28, 

1994; 60 FR 18734, Apr. 13, 1995; 69 FR 33259, 

June 14, 2004] 

§ 403.5 Custody of securities held by fi-
nancial institutions that are gov-
ernment securities brokers or deal-
ers. 

(a) A government securities broker or 

dealer that is a financial institution 

shall: 
(1) Comply with part 450 with respect 

to all government securities held for 

the account of customers of the finan-

cial institution in its capacity as a fi-

duciary or custodian (unless otherwise 

exempt pursuant to § 450.3); and 
(2) Comply with part 450 and with 

paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) of this sec-

tion with respect to all fully paid and 

excess margin government securities 

held for customers of the financial in-

stitution in its capacity as government 

securities broker or dealer, and govern-

ment securities that are the subject of 

a repurchase agreement between the fi-

nancial institution and certain 

counterparties as described in para-

graph (d) of this section. 
(b) A financial institution shall not 

be in violation of the possession or con-

trol requirements of paragraphs (c) and 

(d) of this section if, solely as the re-

sult of normal business operations, 

temporary lags occur between the time 

when a security is first required to be 

in the financial institution’s possession 

or control and the time when it is actu-

ally placed in possession or control, 

provided that the financial institution 

takes timely steps in good faith to es-

tablish prompt possession or control. 

In the event that a financial institu-

tion has accepted funds from a cus-

tomer for the purchase of securities 

and the financial institution does not 

initiate the purchase of the specified 

securities by the close of the next busi-

ness day after receipt of such cus-

tomer’s funds, the financial institution 

shall immediately deposit or redeposit 

the funds in an account belonging to 

such customer and send the customer 

notice of such deposit or redeposit. 
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(c)(1) On each business day a finan-

cial institution shall determine the 

quantity and issue of such securities, if 

any, that are required to be but are not 

in the financial institution’s possession 

or control. As appropriate to bring 

such securities into possession or con-

trol, the financial institution shall: 

(i) Promptly obtain the release of 

any lien, charge, or other encumbrance 

against such securities; 

(ii) Promptly obtain the return of 

any securities loaned; 

(iii) Take prompt steps to obtain pos-

session or control of securities failed to 

receive for more than 30 calendar days, 

or in the case of mortgage-backed secu-

rities, for more than 60 calendar days; 

or 

(iv) Take prompt steps to buy in se-

curities as necessary to the extent any 

shortage of securities in possession or 

control cannot be resolved as required 

by any of the above procedures. 

(2) The financial institution shall 

prepare and maintain a current and de-

tailed description of the procedures and 

internal controls that it utilizes to 

comply with the possession or control 

requirements of this paragraph (c), 

which shall be made available upon re-

quest to its appropriate regulatory 

agency. 

(3) Nothing stated in this section 

shall be construed as affecting the ab-

solute right of a customer of a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer, un-

less otherwise agreed in writing, in the 

normal course of business operations 

following demand made on the broker 

or dealer, to receive the physical deliv-

ery of certificates if the securities are 

issued in certificated form, or to direct 

a transfer of or otherwise to exercise 

control over any securities if they are: 

(i) Fully-paid securities to which the 

customer is entitled; 

(ii) Margin securities upon full pay-

ment by such customer to the broker 

or dealer of the customer’s indebted-

ness to the broker or dealer; or 

(iii) Excess margin securities not rea-

sonably required to collateralize such 

customer’s indebtedness to the broker 

or dealer. 

(d)(1) A financial institution that re-

tains custody of securities that are the 

subject of a repurchase agreement be-

tween the financial institution and a 

counterparty shall: 

(i) Obtain the repurchase agreement 

in writing; 

(ii) Confirm in writing the specific 

securities that are the subject of a re-

purchase transaction pursuant to such 

agreement at the end of the day of ini-

tiation of the transaction and at the 

end of any other day during which 

other securities are substituted if the 

substitution results in a change to 

issuer, maturity date, par amount or 

coupon rate specified in the previous 

confirmation; 

(iii) Advise the counterparty in the 

repurchase agreement that the funds 

held by the financial institution pursu-

ant to a repurchase transaction are not 

a deposit and therefore are not insured 

by the Federal Deposit Insurance Cor-

poration, or the National Credit Union 

Share Insurance Fund, as applicable; 

(iv) If the counterparty agrees to 

grant the financial institution the 

right to substitute securities, include 

in the written repurchase agreement 

the provision by which the financial in-

stitution retains the right to sub-

stitute securities; 

(v) If the counterparty agrees to 

grant the financial institution the 

right to substitute securities, include 

in the written repurchase agreement 

the following disclosure statement, 

which must be prominently displayed 

in the written repurchase agreement 

immediately preceding the provision 

governing the right to substitution: 

‘‘REQUIRED DISCLOSURE 

The [seller] is not permitted to substitute 

other securities for those subject to this 

agreement and therefore must keep the [buy-

er’s] securities segregated at all times, un-

less in this agreement the [buyer] grants the 

[seller] the right to substitute other securi-

ties. If the [buyer] grants the right to sub-

stitute, this means that the [buyer’s] securi-

ties will likely be commingled with the [sell-

er’s] own securities during the trading day. 

The [buyer] is advised that, during any trad-

ing day that the [buyer’s] securities are com-

mingled with the [seller’s] securities, they 

may be subject to liens granted by the [sell-

er] to third parties and may be used by the 

[seller] for deliveries on other securities 

transactions. Whenever the securities are 

commingled, the [seller’s] ability to reseg-

regate substitute securities for the [buyer] 
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will be subject to the [seller’s] ability to sat-

isfy any lien or to obtain substitute securi-

ties.’’; and 

(vi) Maintain possession or control of 

securities that are the subject of the 

agreement in accordance with § 450.4(a) 

of this chapter, except when exercising 

its right of substitution in accordance 

with the provisions of the agreement 

and paragraph (d)(1)(iv) of this section. 
(2)(i) A confirmation issued in ac-

cordance with paragraph (d)(1)(ii) of 

this section shall specify the issuer, 

maturity date, coupon rate, par 

amount and market value of the secu-

rity and shall further identify a CUSIP 

or mortgage-backed security pool num-

ber, as appropriate, except that a 

CUSIP or a pool number is not required 

on the confirmation if it is identified 

in internal records of the broker or 

dealer that designate the specific secu-

rity of the counterparty. For purposes 

of this paragraph (d)(2), the market 

value of any security that is the sub-

ject of the repurchase transaction shall 

be the most recently available bid 

price plus accrued interest, obtained by 

any reasonable and consistent method-

ology. 
(ii) A person that is a non-U.S. cit-

izen residing outside of the United 

States or a foreign corporation, part-

nership, or trust may waive, but only 

in writing, the right to receive the con-

firmation required by paragraph 

(d)(1)(ii) of this section. 
(3) This paragraph (d) shall not apply 

to a repurchase agreement between the 

financial institution and a broker or 

dealer (including a government securi-

ties broker or dealer), a registered mu-

nicipal securities dealer, or a director 

or principal officer of the financial in-

stitution or any person to the extent 

that his claim is explicitly subordi-

nated to the claims of creditors of the 

financial institution. 
(e)(1) A government securities broker 

or dealer that is a branch or agency of 

a foreign bank shall keep on deposit 

with an insured bank (as that term is 

defined in 12 U.S.C. 1813(h)) an amount 

equal to the amount that would be re-

quired to be set aside pursuant to 

§ 240.15c3–3(e)(1) of this title with re-

spect to government securities of cus-

tomers of such branch or agency that 

are citizens or residents of the United 

States. The amount required to be de-

posited pursuant to this § 403.5(e)(1) 

may be reduced by the amount of as-

sets pledged or deposited by the branch 

or agency pursuant to regulations pro-

mulgated by a Federal or State bank-

ing regulatory agency that are attrib-

utable to liabilities to customers which 

are included both in the calculation of 

the required pledge or deposit of assets 

and in the calculation of the amount to 

be set aside pursuant to § 240.15c3– 

3(e)(1) of this title. 

(2) The amount deposited in accord-

ance with this section shall be pledged 

to the appropriate regulatory agency of 

the branch or agency making the de-

posit for the exclusive benefit of the 

customers to whom the credit balances 

are owed. 

(3) For purposes of making the cal-

culation pursuant to § 240.15c3–3(e)(1) of 

this title, the terms ‘‘free credit bal-

ances,’’ ‘‘other credit balances’’ and 

‘‘credit balances’’ shall not include any 

funds placed in deposits or accounts 

enumerated at 12 CFR 204.2. 

(4) For purposes of making the cal-

culation pursuant to § 240.15c3–3(e)(1) of 

this title, the formula set forth at 

§ 240.15c3–3a of this title shall be modi-

fied as follows: 

(i) For purposes of this section, ref-

erences to ‘‘securities account,’’ ‘‘cash 

account,’’ ‘‘margin account’’, or other 

customer accounts for purposes of this 

section shall not include any deposits 

or accounts enumerated at 12 CFR 

204.2; 

(ii) References to ‘‘security or ‘‘secu-

rities shall mean U.S. government se-

curities; 

(iii) References to net capital shall be 

inapplicable; 

(iv) Item 2 is modified to read as fol-

lows: 

‘‘2. Monies borrowed by the branch or 

agency collateralized by securities car-

ried for the account of customers. (See 

Note B.)’’; 

(v) Item 4 is modified to read as fol-

lows: 

‘‘4. Customers’ securities failed to re-

ceive only with respect to transactions 

for which payment has been received 

by and is under the control of the 

branch or agency. (See Note D.)’’; 
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(vi) Note B is modified to read as fol-

lows: 

‘‘NOTE B. Item 2 shall include the principal 

amount of Restricted Letters of Credit ob-

tained by members of Options Clearing Cor-

poration which are collateralized by cus-

tomers’ securities. Item 2 shall not include 

bank loans to customers in the ordinary 

course collateralized by the customers’ U.S. 

government securities.’’; and 

(vii) Note C is modified to read as fol-

lows: 

‘‘NOTE C. Item 3 shall include in addition 

to monies payable against customers’ securi-

ties loaned the amount by which the market 

value of securities loaned exceeds the collat-

eral value received from the lending of such 

securities. Item 3 shall exclude cash collat-

eral received pursuant to a written securities 

lending agreement that complies fully with 

the supervisory guidelines of its appropriate 

regulatory agency that expressly govern se-

curities lending practices.’’. 

(5) Computations necessary to deter-

mine the amount required to be depos-

ited as specified in paragraph (e)(1) of 

this section shall be made weekly, as of 

the close of the last business day of 

this week, and the deposit so computed 

shall be made no later than one hour 

after the opening of banking business 

on the second following business day. 

(6) A government securities broker or 

dealer that is a branch or agency of a 

foreign bank shall make and maintain 

a record of each computation made 

pursuant to paragraph (e)(5) of this sec-

tion and preserve each such record for 

a period of not less than three years, 

the first two years in an easily acces-

sible place. 

(f)(1) For purposes of this section, the 

terms ‘‘fully paid securities,’’ ‘‘margin 

securities,’’ and ‘‘excess margin securi-

ties’’ shall have the meanings described 

in § 403.4 (b), (c) and (d). 

(2) For purposes of this section, the 

term ‘‘customer’’ shall include any per-

son from whom or on whose behalf a fi-

nancial institution that is a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer has re-

ceived or acquired or holds securities 

for the account of that person or funds 

resulting from transactions in securi-

ties for or with such person or that rep-

resent principal, interest, or other pro-

ceeds of such securities. The term shall 

not include a broker or dealer that is 

registered pursuant to section 15, 15B 

or 15C (a)(1)(A) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 

78o, 78o–4, 78o–5(a)(1)(A)) or that has 

filed notice of its status as a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer pursu-

ant to section 15C(a)(1)(B) of the Act 

(15 U.S.C. 78o–5(a)(1)(B)) except with re-

spect to securities maintained by such 

broker or dealer in a Segregated Ac-

count as defined in § 403.4(f)(1) and with 

respect to securities otherwise identi-

fied by such broker or dealer as cus-

tomer securities for purposes of main-

taining possession or control of such 

securities as required by this part. The 

term ‘‘customer’’ shall not include a 

director or principal officer of the fi-

nancial institution or any other person 

to the extent that that person has a 

claim for property or funds, which by 

contract, agreement or understanding, 

or by operation of law, is part of the 

capital of the financial institution or is 

subordinated to the claims of creditors 

of the financial institution. 

(g) If a financial institution executes 

a sell order of a customer (other than 

an order to execute a sale of securities 

which the seller does not own, which 

for the purposes of this paragraph shall 

mean that the customer placing the 

sell order has identified the sale as a 

short sale to the financial institution) 

and if for any reason whatever the fi-

nancial institution has not obtained 

possession of the government securi-

ties, except mortgage-backed securi-

ties, from the customer within 30 cal-

endar days, or in the case of mortgage- 

backed securities within 60 calendar 

days, after the settlement date, the fi-

nancial institution shall immediately 

thereafter close the transaction with 

the customer by purchasing, or other-

wise obtaining, securities of like kind 

and quantity. 

(h) The appropriate regulatory agen-

cy of a financial institution that is a 

government securities broker or dealer 

may extend the period specified in 

paragraphs (c)(1)(iii) and (g) of this sec-

tion on application of the financial in-

stitution for one or more limited peri-

ods commensurate with the cir-

cumstances, provided the appropriate 

regulatory agency is satisfied that the 

financial institution is acting in good 

faith in making the application and 
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that exceptional circumstances war-
rant such action. Each appropriate reg-
ulatory agency should make and pre-
serve for a period of not less than three 
years a record of each extension grant-
ed pursuant to this paragraph, which 
contains a summary of the justifica-
tion for the granting of the extension. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27947, July 24, 1987, as amended at 53 

FR 28986, Aug. 1, 1988; 55 FR 6604, Feb. 26, 

1990; 59 FR 9406, Feb. 28, 1994; 60 FR 11026, 

Mar. 1, 1995] 

§ 403.6 Compliance with part by fu-
tures commission merchants. 

A registered government securities 
broker or dealer that is also a futures 
commission merchant registered with 
the CFTC shall comply with the provi-
sions of this part with respect to all 
customer funds and securities except 
those that are incidental to the bro-
ker’s or dealer’s futures-related busi-
ness, as defined in § 240.3a43–1(b) of this 
title. For purposes of the preceding 
sentence, the term ‘‘customer’’ shall 
have the meaning set forth in 
§ 240.15c3–3(a)(1) of this title. 

§ 403.7 Effective dates. 
(a) General. Except as provided in 

paragraphs (b) through (e) of this sec-

tion, this part shall be effective on the 

last business day in October 1987. 
(b) Confirmations. The requirements 

of §§ 403.4 and 403.5(d) to describe the 

specific securities that are the subject 

of a repurchase transaction, including 

the market value of such securities, on 

a confirmation at the initiation of a re-

purchase transaction or on substi-

tution of other securities shall be effec-

tive January 31, 1988. 
(c) Written repurchase agreements. The 

requirement to obtain a repurchase 

agreement in writing with the provi-

sions described in §§ 403.4 and 403.5(d) 

shall be effective October 31, 1987, in 

the case of new customers of a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer and 

shall be effective January 31, 1988, in 

the case of existing customers of a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer. 

For purposes of this paragraph, an 

‘‘existing customer’’ of a government 

securities broker or dealer is any 

counterparty with whom the govern-

ment securities broker or dealer has 

entered into a repurchase transaction 

on or after January 1, 1986, but before 

July 25, 1987. For purposes of this para-

graph, a ‘‘new customer’’ of a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer is any 

counterparty other than an existing 

customer. 

[52 FR 27947, July 24, 1987, as amended at 53 

FR 28986, Aug. 1, 1988; 79 FR 38456, July 8, 

2014] 

PART 404—RECORDKEEPING AND 
PRESERVATION OF RECORDS 

Sec. 
404.1 Application of part to registered bro-

kers and dealers. 
404.2 Records to be made and kept current 

by registered government securities bro-

kers and dealers; records of non-resident 

registered government securities brokers 

and dealers. 
404.3 Records to be preserved by registered 

government securities brokers and deal-

ers. 
404.4 Records to be made and preserved by 

government securities brokers and deal-

ers that are financial institutions. 
404.5 Securities counts by registered gov-

ernment securities brokers and dealers. 

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 78o–5 (b)(1)(B), 

(b)(1)(C), (b)(2), (b)(4). 

SOURCE: 52 FR 27952, July 24, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 404.1 Application of part to reg-
istered brokers and dealers. 

Compliance by a registered broker or 

dealer with § 240.17a–3 of this title (per-

taining to records to be made), 

§ 240.17a–4 of this title (pertaining to 

preservation of records), § 240.17a–13 of 

this title (pertaining to quarterly secu-

rities counts) and § 240.17a–7 of this 

title (pertaining to records of non-resi-

dent brokers or dealers), including pro-

visions in those rules relating to OTC 

derivatives dealers, constitutes compli-

ance with this part. 

[71 FR 54411, Sept. 15, 2006] 

§ 404.2 Records to be made and kept 
current by registered government 
securities brokers and dealers; 
records of non-resident registered 
government securities brokers and 
dealers. 

(a) Every registered government se-

curities broker or dealer shall comply 
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with the requirements of § 240.17a–3 of 

this title (SEC Rule 17a–3), with the 

following modifications: 

(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

and ‘‘broker or dealer registered pursu-

ant to Section 15 of the Act’’ include 

registered government securities bro-

kers or dealers. 

(2) References to §§ 240.17a–3, 240.17a– 

4, 240.17a–5, and 240.17a–13 mean such 

sections as modified by this part and 

part 405 of this chapter. 

(3) (i) Except in the case of a govern-

ment securities interdealer broker who 

is subject to the financial responsi-

bility rules of § 402.1(e) of this chapter 

and a registered government securities 

broker or dealer that is a futures com-

mission merchant registered with the 

CFTC, paragraph 240.17a–3(a)(1l) is 

modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(11) A record of the proof of money bal-

ances of all ledger accounts in the form of 

trial balances, and a record of the computa-

tion of liquid capital and total haircuts, as of 

the trial date, determined as provided in 

§ 402.2 of this title; provided however, that 

such computation need not be made by any 

registered government securities broker or 

dealer unconditionally exempt from part 402 

of this title. Such trial balances and com-

putations shall be prepared current1y at 

least once a month.’’. 

(ii) For a government securities 

interdealer broker who is subject to 

the financial responsibility rules of 

§ 402.1(e) of this chapter, references to 

§ 240.15c3–1 include modifications con-

tained in § 402.1(e) of this chapter. 

(4) Paragraph 240.17a–3(b)(1) is modi-

fied to read as follows: 

‘‘(1) This section shall not be deemed to re-

quire a government securities broker or 

dealer registered pursuant to section 

15C(a)(1)(A) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o– 

5(a)(1)(A)) to make or keep such records of 

transactions cleared for such government se-

curities broker or dealer as are customarily 

made and kept by a clearing broker or dealer 

pursuant to the requirements of §§ 240.17a–3 

and 240.17a–4: Provided, that the clearing 

broker or dealer has and maintains net cap-

ital of not less than $250,000 (or, in the case 

of a clearing broker or dealer that is a reg-

istered government securities broker or deal-

er, liquid capital less total haircuts, deter-

mined as provided in § 402.2 of this title, of 

not less than $250,000) and is otherwise in 

compliance with § 240.15c3–1, § 402.2 of this 

title, or the capital rules of the exchange of 

which such clearing broker or dealer is a 

member if the members of such exchange are 

exempt from § 240.15c3–1 by paragraph (b)(2) 

thereof.’’ 

(5) The undertaking in § 240.17a–3(b)(2) 

is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘The undersigned hereby undertakes to 

maintain and preserve on behalf of [reg-

istered government securities broker or deal-

er] the books and records required to be 

maintained by [registered government secu-

rities broker or dealer] pursuant to 17 CFR 

404.2 and 404.3 and Rules 17a–3 and 17a–4 

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

and to permit examination of such books and 

records at any time or from time to time 

during business hours by examiners or other 

representatives of the Securities and Ex-

change Commission, and to furnish to said 

Commission at its principal office in Wash-

ington, DC, or at any regional office of said 

Commission specified in a demand made by 

or on behalf of said Commission for copies of 

books and records, true, correct, complete, 

and current copies of any or all, or any part, 

of such books and records. This undertaking 

shall be binding upon the undersigned, and 

the successors and assigns of the under-

signed.’’. 

(6) Section 240.17a–3(c) is modified to 

read as follows: 

‘‘(c) This section shall not be deemed to re-

quire a government securities broker or 

dealer to make or keep such records as are 

required by paragraph (a) reflecting the sale 

and redemption of United States Savings 

Bonds, United States Savings Notes and 

United States Savings Stamps.’’. 

(b) Every registered government se-

curities broker or dealer shall comply 

with the requirements of § 240.17h–1T of 

this title (SEC Rule 17h–1T), with the 

following modifications: 

(1) For the purposes of this section, 

references to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ and 

‘‘broker or dealer registered with the 

Commission pursuant to Section 15 of 

the Act’’ mean registered government 

securities brokers or dealers. 

(2) For the purposes of this section, 

references to §§ 240.17h–1T and 240.17h– 

2T of this title mean those sections as 

modified by §§ 404.2(b) and 405.5, respec-

tively. 

(3) For the purposes of this section, 

‘‘associated person’’ has the meaning 

set out in Section 3(a)(18) of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78c(a)(18)), except that natural 

persons are excluded. 
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(4) Paragraphs 240.17h–1T(a)(1)(iii) 

through (vi) of this title are modified 

to read as follows: 

‘‘(iii) A description of all material pending 

legal or arbitration proceedings involving a 

Material Associated Person or the registered 

government securities broker or dealer that 

are required to be disclosed, under generally 

accepted accounting principles on a consoli-

dated basis, by the highest level holding 

company that is a Material Associated Per-

son. 

‘‘(iv) Consolidated and consolidating bal-

ance sheets, prepared in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles, 

which may be unaudited and which shall in-

clude the notes to the financial statements, 

as of quarter-end for the registered govern-

ment securities broker or dealer and its 

highest level holding company that is a Ma-

terial Associated Person; 

‘‘(v) Quarterly consolidated and consoli-

dating income statements and consolidated 

cash flow statements, prepared in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting prin-

ciples, which may be unaudited and which 

shall include the notes to the financial state-

ments, for the registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer and its highest level 

holding company that is a Material Associ-

ated Person; 

‘‘(vi) The amount as of quarter-end, and at 

month-end if greater than quarter-end, of 

the aggregate long and short securities and 

commodities positions held by each Material 

Associated Person, including a separate list-

ing of each single unhedged securities or 

commodities position, other than U.S. Treas-

ury securities, that exceeds the Materiality 

Threshold at any month-end;’’ 

(5) Paragraphs 240.17h–1T(a)(3) and 

(a)(4) of this title are modified to read 

as follows: 

‘‘(3) The information, reports and records 

required by the provisions of this section 

shall be maintained and preserved in accord-

ance with the provisions of § 404.3 of this title 

and shall be kept for a period of not less than 

three years in an easily accessible place. 

‘‘(4) For the purposes of this section and 

§ 405.5 of this title, the term ‘‘Materiality 

Threshold’’ shall mean the greater of: 

‘‘(i) $100 million; or 

‘‘(ii) 10 percent of the registered govern-

ment securities broker’s or dealer’s liquid 

capital based on the most recently filed 

Form G–405 (or, in the case of futures com-

mission merchants and interdealer brokers 

subject to the capital rules in §§ 402.1(d) and 

402.1(e), respectively, tentative net capital 

based on the most recently filed Form X– 

17A–5) or 10 percent of the Material Associ-

ated Person’s tangible net worth, whichever 

is greater.’’ 

(6) Paragraph 240.17h–1T(b) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(b) Special provisions with respect to Mate-

rial Associated Persons subject to the super-

vision of certain domestic regulators. A reg-

istered government securities broker or deal-

er shall be deemed to be in compliance with 

the recordkeeping requirements of paragraph 

(a)(1)(iii) through (x) of this section with re-

spect to a Material Associated Person if: * * 

* ’’ 

(7) Paragraph 240.17h–1T(c) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(c) Special provisions with respect to Mate-

rial Associated Persons subject to the super-

vision of a foreign financial regulatory author-

ity. A registered government securities 

broker or dealer shall be deemed to be in 

compliance with the recordkeeping require-

ments of paragraph (a)(1)(iii) through (x) of 

this section with respect to a Material Asso-

ciated Person if such registered government 

securities broker or dealer maintains in ac-

cordance with the provisions of this section 

copies of the reports filed by such Material 

Associated Person with a Foreign Financial 

Regulatory Authority. The registered gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer shall 

maintain a copy of the original report and a 

copy translated into the English language. 

For the purposes of this section, the term 

Foreign Financial Regulatory Authority 

shall have the meaning set forth in section 

3(a)(52) of the Act.’’ 

(8) Paragraph 240.17h–1T(d) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(d) Exemptions. (1) The provisions of this 

section shall not apply to any registered gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer: 

‘‘(i) Which is exempt from the provisions of 

§ 240.15c3–3 of this title, as made applicable 

by § 403.4, pursuant to paragraph (k)(2) of 

§ 240.15c3–3 of this title; or 

‘‘(ii) If the registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer does not qualify for an 

exemption from the provisions of § 240.15c3–3 

of this title, as made applicable by § 403.4, 

and such registered government securities 

broker or dealer does not hold funds or secu-

rities for, or owe money or securities to, cus-

tomers and does not carry the accounts of, or 

for, customers; unless 

‘‘(iii) In the case of paragraphs (d)(1)(i) or 

(ii) of this section, the registered govern-

ment securities broker or dealer maintains 

capital of at least $20,000,000, including debt 

subordinated in accordance with Appendix D 

of § 240.15c3–1 of this title, as modified by Ap-

pendix D of § 402.2. 
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‘‘(2) The provisions of this section shall not 

apply to any registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer which maintains cap-

ital of less than $250,000, including debt sub-

ordinated in accordance with Appendix D of 

§ 240.15c3–1 of this title, as modified by Ap-

pendix D of § 402.2, even if the registered gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer holds 

funds or securities for, or owes money or se-

curities to, customers or carries the ac-

counts of, or for, customers. 

‘‘(3) The provisions of this section shall not 

apply to any registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer which has an associated 

person that is a registered broker or dealer, 

provided that: 

‘‘(i) The registered broker or dealer is sub-

ject to, and in compliance with, the provi-

sions of § 240.17h–1T and § 240.17h–2T of this 

title, and 

‘‘(ii) All of the Material Associated Persons 

of the registered government securities 

broker or dealer are Material Associated 

Persons of the registered broker or dealer 

subject to § 240.17h–1T and § 240.17h–2T of this 

title. 

‘‘(4) In calculating capital for the purposes 

of this paragraph, a registered government 

securities broker or dealer shall include with 

its equity capital and subordinated debt the 

equity capital and subordinated debt of any 

other registered government securities bro-

kers or dealers or registered brokers or deal-

ers that are associated persons of such reg-

istered government securities broker or deal-

er, except that the equity capital and subor-

dinated debt of registered brokers and deal-

ers that are exempt from the provisions of 

§ 240.15c3–3 of this title, pursuant to para-

graph (k)(1) of § 240.15c3–3, shall not be in-

cluded in the capital computation. 

‘‘(5) The Secretary may, upon written ap-

plication by a Reporting Registered Govern-

ment Securities Broker or Dealer, exempt 

from the provisions of this section, either 

unconditionally or on specified terms and 

conditions, any registered government secu-

rities brokers or dealers that are associated 

persons of such Reporting Registered Gov-

ernment Securities Broker or Dealer. The 

term ‘‘Reporting Registered Government Se-

curities Broker or Dealer’’ shall mean any 

registered government securities broker or 

dealer that submits such application to the 

Secretary on behalf of its associated reg-

istered government securities brokers or 

dealers.’’ 

(9) Paragraph 240.17h–1T(g) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(g) Implementation schedule. Every reg-

istered government securities broker or deal-

er subject to the requirements of this section 

shall maintain and preserve the information 

required by paragraphs (a)(1)(i), (ii), and (iii) 

of this section commencing June 30, 1995. 

Commencing September 30, 1995, the provi-

sions of this section shall apply in their en-

tirety.’’ 

(c)(1) Every non-resident government 

securities broker or dealer registered 

or applying for registration pursuant 

to Section 15C of the Act shall comply 

with § 240.17a–7 of this title, provided 

that: 

(i) For the purposes of this section, 

references to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ and 

‘‘broker or dealer registered or apply-

ing for registration pursuant to Sec-

tion 15 of the Act’’ mean registered 

government securities brokers or deal-

ers; and 

(ii) For the purposes of this section, 

references to ‘‘any rule or regulation of 

the Commission’’ and ‘‘any rule or reg-

ulation of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission’’ mean any rule or regula-

tion of the Secretary. 

(2) For the purposes of this section, 

the term ‘‘non-resident government se-

curities broker or dealer’’ means: 

(i) In the case of an individual, one 

who resides in or has his principal 

place of business in any place not sub-

ject to the jurisdiction of the United 

States; 

(ii) In the case of a corporation, one 

incorporated in or having its principal 

place of business in any place not sub-

ject to the jurisdiction of the United 

States; and 

(iii) In the case of a partnership or 

other unincorporated organization or 

association, one having its principal 

place of business in any place not sub-

ject to the jurisdiction of the United 

States. 

(d) Effective date. Paragraph (a) of 

this section shall be effective on Octo-

ber 31, 1987, except that registered gov-

ernment securities brokers and dealers 

are required to maintain the records 

specified in § 240.17a–3(a) (12), (13), (14) 

and (15) beginning July 25, 1987. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27952, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 11026, Mar. 1, 1995; 60 FR 20399, Apr. 26, 

1995] 
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§ 404.3 Records to be preserved by reg-
istered government securities bro-
kers and dealers. 

(a) Every registered government se-

curities broker or dealer, except a gov-

ernment securities interdealer broker 

subject to the financial responsibility 

rules of § 402.1(e) and a registered gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

that is also a futures commission mer-

chant registered with the CFTC, shall 

comply with the requirements of 

§ 240.17a–4 of this title (SEC Rule 17a–4), 

with the following modifications: 
(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

and ‘‘broker and dealer registered pur-

suant to Section 15 of the Act’’ include 

registered government securities bro-

kers or dealers. 
(2) References to §§ 240.17a–3, .17a–4, 

and .17a–5 mean such sections as modi-

fied by this part and part 405 of this 

chapter. 
(3) References to § 240.15c3–1, relating 

to net capital, and ‘‘Computation for 

Net Capital’’ thereunder mean § 402.2 of 

this chapter and the computation of 

the ratio of liquid capital to total hair-

cuts required thereunder. 
(4) References to § 240.15c3–3, relating 

to possession or control of customer se-

curities and balances, mean § 403.4 of 

this chapter. 
(5) References to Form X–17A–5 mean 

Form G–405 (§ 449.5 of this chapter). 
(6) The computation described in 

§ 240.17a–4(b)(8)(x) is not required. 
(b) A government securities inter-

dealer broker subject to the financial 

responsibility rules of § 402.1(e) and a 

registered government securities 

broker or dealer that is also a futures 

commission merchant registered with 

the CFTC, shall comply with the re-

quirements of § 240.17a–4 of this title 

(SEC Rule 17a–4), with the following 

modifications: 
(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

and ‘‘broker and dealer’’ include reg-

istered government securities brokers 

or dealers. 
(2) References to §§ 240.17a–3, 240.17a– 

4, and 240.17a–5 mean such sections as 

modified by this part and part 405 of 

this chapter. 
(3) With respect to a government se-

curities interdealer broker subject to 

the financial responsibility rules of 

§ 402.1(e) of this chapter, references to 

§ 240.15c3–1, relating to net capital, and 

‘‘Computation for Net Capital’’ there-

under include the modifications con-

tained in § 402.1(e) of this chapter. 

(4) References to § 240.15c3–3, relating 

to possession or control of customer se-

curities and balances, mean § 403.4 of 

this chapter. 

(c) This section shall be effective on 

July 25, 1987. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27952, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 11026, Mar. 1, 1995] 

§ 404.4 Records to be made and pre-
served by government securities 
brokers and dealers that are finan-
cial institutions. 

(a) Records to be made and kept. Every 

financial institution that is a govern-

ment securities broker or dealer and 

that is not exempt from this part pur-

suant to part 401 of this chapter shall 

comply with the requirements of 

§§ 404.2 and 404.3 unless such financial 

institution: 

(1) Is subject to 12 CFR part 12 (relat-

ing to national banks), 12 CFR part 208 

(relating to state member banks of the 

Federal Reserve System) or 12 CFR 

part 344 (relating to state banks that 

are not members of the Federal Re-

serve System), or is a United States 

branch or agency of a foreign bank and 

complies with 12 CFR part 12 (for feder-

ally licensed branches and agencies of 

foreign banks) or 12 CFR part 208 (for 

uninsured state-licensed branches and 

agencies of foreign banks) or 12 CFR 

part 344 (for insured state licensed 

branches and agencies of foreign 

banks); 

(2) Complies with the recordkeeping 

requirements of § 450.4(c), (d) and (f) of 

this chapter; and 

(3) Makes and keeps current: 

(i)(A) A securities record or ledger re-

flecting separately for each govern-

ment security as of the settlement 

dates all ‘‘long’’ or ‘‘short’’ positions 

(including government securities that 

are the subjects of repurchase or re-

verse repurchase agreements) carried 

by such financial institution for its 

own account or for the account of its 

customers or others (except securities 
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held in a fiduciary capacity) and show-

ing the location of all government se-

curities long and the offsetting posi-

tion to all government securities short, 

including long security count dif-

ferences and short security count dif-

ferences classified by the date of the 

count and verification in which they 

were discovered, and in all cases the 

name or designation of the account in 

which each position is carried; 

(B) A complete and current Form G- 

FIN-4 (§ 449.3 of this chapter) or Form 

U–4 (promulgated by a self-regulatory 

organization) or Form MSD–4 (as re-

quired for associated persons of bank 

municipal securities dealers) for each 

associated person as defined in § 400.3 of 

this chapter; 

(C) A Form G-FIN-5 (§ 449.4 of this 

chapter) or Form U–5 (promulgated by 

a self-regulatory organization) or Form 

MSD–5 (as required for associated per-

sons of bank municipal securities deal-

ers) for each associated person whose 

association has been terminated as pro-

vided in § 400.4(d)(2) of this chapter; and 

(D) A complete and current Form G- 

FIN (§ 449.1 of this chapter) and, if ap-

plicable, a Form G-FINW (§ 449.2 of this 

chapter). 

(ii) For purposes of paragraph 

(a)(3)(i)(A) of this section, ‘‘safe-

keeping’’ may be shown as a location of 

any securities long as long as the fi-

nancial institution complies with the 

requirements of part 450 of this chapter 

with respect to such securities. 

(b) Preservation of records. (1) The 

records required by paragraph 

(a)(3)(i)(A) of this section shall be pre-

served for not less than six years, the 

first two years in an easily accessible 

place. 

(2) The records required by para-

graphs (a)(3)(i) (B) and (C) of this sec-

tion shall be preserved for at least 

three years after the person who is the 

subject of the record has terminated 

his employment and any other associa-

tion with the government securities 

broker or dealer function of the finan-

cial institution. 

(3) The records required by paragraph 

(a)(3)(i)(D) of this section shall be pre-

served for at least three years after the 

financial institution has notified the 

appropriate regulatory agency that it 

has ceased to function as a government 

securities broker or dealer. 

(c) Effective date. This section shall be 

effective on July 25, 1987, except that 
until October 31, 1987, a financial insti-

tution government securities broker or 

dealer is not required to make and 

keep current the securities position 

record required by paragraph 

(a)(3)(i)(A) of this section. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27952, July 24, 1987, as amended at 53 

FR 28987, Aug. 1, 1988; 60 FR 11026, Mar. 1, 

1995; 62 FR 7155, Feb. 18, 1997; 72 FR 54411, 

Sept. 15, 2006] 

§ 404.5 Securities counts by registered 
government securities brokers and 
dealers. 

(a) Securities counts. Every registered 

government securities broker or dealer 

shall comply with the requirements of 

§ 240.17a–13 of this title (Commission 

Rule 17a–13), with the modification 

that references to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

and ‘‘broker and dealer registered pur-

suant to Section 15 of the Act’’ include 

registered government securities bro-

kers or dealers. 

(b) Effective date. This section shall 

be effective on October 31, 1987. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27952, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 11026, Mar. 1, 1995] 

PART 405—REPORTS AND AUDIT 

Sec. 

405.1 Application of part to registered bro-

kers and dealers and to financial institu-

tions; transition rule. 

405.2 Reports to be made by registered gov-

ernment securities brokers and dealers. 

405.3 Notification provisions for certain reg-

istered government securities brokers 

and dealers. 

405.4 Financial recordkeeping and reporting 

of currency and foreign transactions by 

registered government securities brokers 

and dealers. 

405.5 Risk assessment reporting require-

ments for registered government securi-

ties brokers and dealers. 

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 78o–5 (b)(1)(B), 

(b)(1)(C), (b)(2), (b)(4). 

SOURCE: 52 FR 27954, July 24, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 
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§ 405.1 Application of part to reg-
istered brokers and dealers and to 
financial institutions; transition 
rule. 

(a) Compliance by registered brokers 

or dealers with §§ 240.17a–5, 240.17a–8, 

and 240.17a–11 of this title (Commission 

Rules 17a–5, 17a–8 and 17a–11), including 

provisions of those rules relating to 

OTC derivatives dealers, constitutes 

compliance with this part. 

(b) A government securities broker or 

dealer that is a financial institution 

and is subject to financial reporting 

rules of its appropriate regulatory 

agency is exempt from the provisions 

of §§ 405.2 and 405.3. 

(c) This part shall be effective July 

25, 1987, Provided however, 

(1) That registered government secu-

rities brokers or dealers shall first be 

required to file the reports required by 

§ 240.17a–5(a), by virtue of § 405.2, for the 

month and the quarter during which 

they were first required to comply with 

part 402 of this chapter other than the 

interim liquid capital requirements of 

§ 402.1(f); but that 

(2) For any quarter ending prior to 

the quarter during which they were 

first required to comply with part 402 

of this chapter other than the interim 

liquid capital requirements of § 402.1(f), 

registered government securities bro-

kers or dealers shall file with the des-

ignated examining authority for such 

registered broker or dealer, within 17 

business days after the close of the 

quarter, an unaudited balance sheet 

(with appropriate notes) for such quar-

ter, prepared in accordance with gen-

erally accepted accounting principles. 

[52 FR 27954, July 24, 1987, as amended at 71 

FR 54411, Sept. 15, 2006] 

§ 405.2 Reports to be made by reg-
istered government securities bro-
kers and dealers. 

(a) Every registered government se-

curities broker or dealer, except a gov-

ernment securities interdealer broker 

subject to the financial responsibility 

requirements of § 402.1(e) of this chap-

ter and a government securities broker 

or dealer that is also a futures commis-

sion merchant registered with the 

CFTC, shall comply with the require-

ments of § 240.17a–5 of this title (SEC 

Rule 17a–5), with the following modi-

fications: 

(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

include registered government securi-

ties brokers and dealers. 

(2) References to ‘‘rules of the Com-

mission’’ or words of similar import in-

clude, where appropriate, the regula-

tions contained in this subchapter. 

(3) References to Form X–17A–5 mean 

Form G–405 (§ 449.5 of this chapter). 

(4) For the purposes of § 240.17a–5(a)(4) 

of this title, the Commission may, on 

the terms and conditions stated in that 

subparagraph, declare effective a plan 

with respect to Form G–405, in which 

case, that plan shall be treated the 

same as a plan approved with respect 

to Form X–17A–5. 

(5) References to ‘‘net capital’’ mean 

‘‘liquid capital’’ as defined in § 402.2(d) 

of this chapter. 

(6) References to § 240.15c3–1, relating 

to net capital, mean § 402.2 of this chap-

ter. 

(7) Paragraph 240.17a–5(c)(2)(ii) is 

modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(ii) A footnote containing a state-

ment of the registered government se-

curities broker’s or dealer’s liquid cap-

ital, total haircuts, and ratio of liquid 

capital to total haircuts, determined in 

accordance with § 402.2 of this title. 

Such statement shall include summary 

financial statements of subsidiaries 

consolidated pursuant to § 402.2c of this 

title, where material, and the effect 

thereof on the liquid capital, total 

haircuts and ratio of liquid capital to 

total haircuts of the registered govern-

ment securities broker or dealer.’’. 

(8) References to § 240.15c3–3 and the 

exhibits thereto, relating to possession 

or control of customer securities and 

reserve requirements, mean § 403.4 of 

this chapter. 

(9) The reference to § 240.15b1–2 of this 

title, relating to financial statements 

to be filed upon registration, means 

§ 240.15Ca2–2. 

(10) The supplemental report de-

scribed in § 240.17a–5(e)(4) of this title, 

concerning the Securities Investor Pro-

tection Act, is not required. 

(11) The statement described in 

§ 240.17a–5(f)(2) of this title shall be 

headed ‘‘Notice Pursuant to Section 

405.2,’’ and shall be filed within 30 days 
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following the effective date of registra-

tion as a government securities broker 

or dealer. 

(12) References in § 240.17a–5(h)(2) of 

this title to § 240.17a–11 mean § 405.3(a) 

of this chapter. 

(b) A government securities inter-

dealer broker subject to the financial 

responsibility requirements of § 402.1(e) 

of this chapter shall comply with the 

requirements of § 240.17a–5 of this title 

(SEC Rule 17a–5), with the following 

modifications: 

(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

include government securities inter-

dealer brokers; 

(2) References to ‘‘rules of the Com-

mission’’ or words of similar import in-

clude, where appropriate, the regula-

tions contained in this subchapter. 

(3) References to ‘‘net capital’’ mean 

net capital calculated as provided in 

§ 402.1(e) of this chapter. 

(4) References to § 240.15c3–1, relating 

to net capital, include the modifica-

tions contained in § 402.1(e) of this 

chapter. 

(5) References to § 240.15c3–3 and the 

exhibits thereto, relating to possession 

or control of customer securities and 

reserve requirements, mean § 403.4 of 

this chapter. 

(6) The reference to § 240.15b1–2 of this 

title, relating to financial statements 

to be filed upon registration, means 

§ 240.15Ca2–2. 

(7) The supplemental report described 

in § 240.17a–5(e)(4) of this title, con-

cerning the Securities Investor Protec-

tion Act, is not required. 

(8) The statement described in 

§ 240.17a–5(f)(2) of this title shall be 

headed ‘‘Notice Pursuant to Section 

405.2’’ and shall be filed within 30 days 

following the effective date of registra-

tion as a government securities broker. 

(9) References in § 240.17a–5(h)(2) of 

this title to § 240.17a–11 mean § 405.3(b) 

of this chapter. 

(c) A registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer that is also a fu-

tures commission merchant registered 

with the CFTC shall comply with the 

requirements of § 240.17a–5 of this title 

(SEC Rule 17a–5), with the following 

modifications: 

(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

include registered government securi-

ties brokers and dealers. 

(2) References to ‘‘rules of the Com-

mission’’ or words of similar import in-

clude, where appropriate, the regula-

tions contained in this subchapter. 

(3) References to § 240.15c3–3 and the 

exhibits thereto, relating to possession 

or control of customer securities and 

reserve requirements, mean § 403.4 of 

this chapter. 

(4) The reference to § 240.15b1–2 of this 

title, relating to financial statements 

to be filed upon registration, means 

§ 240.15Ca2–2. 

(5) The supplemental report described 

in § 240.17a–5(e)(4) of this title, con-

cerning the Securities Investor Protec-

tion Act, is not required. 

(6) The statement described in 

§ 240.17a–5(f)(2) of this title shall be 

headed ‘‘Notice Pursuant to § 405.2,’’ 

and shall be filed within 30 days fol-

lowing the effective date of registra-

tion as a government securities broker 

or dealer. 

(7) References in § 240.17a–5(h)(2) of 

this title to § 240.17a–11 mean § 405.3(c) 

of this chapter. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27954, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 11026, Mar. 1, 1995; 64 FR 1737, Jan. 12, 

1999; 79 FR 38456, July 8, 2014] 

§ 405.3 Notification provisions for cer-
tain registered government securi-
ties brokers and dealers. 

(a) Every registered government se-

curities broker or dealer, other than a 

government securities interdealer 

broker that is subject to the financial 

responsibility requirements of § 402.1(e) 

and a government securities broker or 

dealer that is also a futures commis-

sion merchant registered with the 

CFTC, shall comply with the require-

ments of § 240.17a–11 of this title (SEC 

Rule 17a–11), with the following modi-

fications: 

(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

include registered government securi-

ties brokers and dealers. 

(2) References to § 240.15c3–1, relating 

to net capital, mean § 402.2 of this chap-

ter. 

(3) References to ‘‘net capital’’ mean 

‘‘liquid capital’’ as defined in § 402.2 of 

this chapter. 
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(4) References to § 240.17a–5, relating 

to reports and audit, mean § 405.2(a) of 

this chapter. 

(5) Section 240.17a–11(c), for the pur-

poses of this section, is modified to 

read as follows: 

‘‘(c) Every registered government se-

curities broker or dealer shall send no-

tice promptly (but within 24 hours) in 

accordance with paragraph (g) of this 

section if a computation made pursu-

ant to the requirements of § 402.2 of 

this title shows, at any time during the 

month, that its liquid capital is less 

than 150 percent of total haircuts, de-

termined in accordance with § 402.2 of 

this title, or that its capital after de-

ducting total haircuts from liquid cap-

ital is less than 120 percent of the reg-

istered government securities broker 

or dealer’s minimum capital require-

ment specified in § 402.2 (b) or (c) of this 

title as applicable.’’ 

(6) References to § 240.17a–3, relating 

to records, mean § 404.2 of this chapter. 

(b) A government securities inter-

dealer broker that is subject to the fi-

nancial responsibility requirements of 

§ 402.1(e) of this chapter shall comply 

with the requirements of § 240.17a–11 of 

this title (SEC Rule 17a–11), with the 

following modifications: 

(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

include government securities inter-

dealer brokers; 

(2) References to § 240.15c3–1, relating 

to net capital, include the modifica-

tions contained in § 402.1(e) of this 

chapter. 

(3) References to ‘‘net capital’’ mean 

net capital calculated as provided in 

§ 402.1(e) of this chapter. 

(4) References to § 240.17a–5, relating 

to reports and audit, mean § 405.2(b) of 

this chapter. 

(5) References to § 240.17a–3, relating 

to records, mean § 404.2 of this chapter. 

(c) A registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer that is also a fu-

tures commission merchant registered 

with the CFTC shall comply with the 

requirements of § 240.17a–11 of this title 

(SEC Rule 17a–11), with the following 

modifications: 

(1) References to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ 

include government securities brokers 

and dealers. 

(2) References to § 240.15c3–1, relating 

to net capital, mean either § 240.15c3–1 

or § 1.17 of this title, depending on 

which computation results in the high-

er net capital requirement. 

(3) References to ‘‘net capital’’ mean 

the higher of net capital calculated 

under § 240.15c3–1 or § 1.17 of this title. 

(4) References to § 240.17a–5, relating 

to reports and audit, mean § 405.2(c) of 

this chapter. 

(5) Section 240.17a–11(c) for the pur-

poses of this section is modified to read 

as follows: 

‘‘(c) Every broker or dealer shall send 

notice promptly (but within 24 hours) 

after the occurrence of the events spec-

ified in paragraphs (c)(1), (c)(2), (c)(3), 

or (c)(4) of this section in accordance 

with paragraph (g) of this section:’’ 

(6) A new paragraph 240.17a–11(c)(4) is 

added to read as follows: 

‘‘(4) If a computation made by a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

that is not a registered broker or deal-

er but that is also a futures commis-

sion merchant registered with the 

Commodity Futures Trading Commis-

sion shows that: 

‘‘(i) The adjusted net capital of such 

entity is less than the greater of: 

‘‘(A) 150 percent of the appropriate 

minimum dollar amount required by 

§ 1.17(a)(1)(i), or 

‘‘(B) 6 percent of the following 

amount: The customer funds required 

to be segregated pursuant to § 4d(2) of 

the Commodity Exchange Act and § 1.17 

of this title, less the market value of 

commodity options purchased by op-

tion customers on or subject to the 

rules of a contract market, provided, 

however, the deduction for each option 

customer shall be limited to the 

amount of customer funds in such op-

tion customer’s account; or 

‘‘(ii) At any point during the month, 

aggregate indebtedness is in excess of 

1200 percent of net capital or total net 

capital is less than 120 percent of the 

minimum net capital required.’’ 

(7) References to § 240.17a–3, relating 

to records, mean § 404.2 of this chapter. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27954, July 24, 1987, as amended at 59 

FR 53731, Oct. 26, 1994; 59 FR 55910, Nov. 9, 

1994; 60 FR 18734, Apr. 13, 1995] 
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§ 405.4 Financial recordkeeping and 
reporting of currency and foreign 
transactions by registered govern-
ment securities brokers and deal-
ers. 

Every registered government securi-

ties broker or dealer who is subject to 

the requirements of the Currency and 

Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 

1970 shall comply with the reporting, 

recordkeeping and record retention re-

quirements of 31 CFR part 103. Where 

31 CFR part 103 and § 404.3 of this chap-

ter require the same records to be pre-

served for different periods of time, 

such records or reports shall be pre-

served for the longer period of time. 

§ 405.5 Risk assessment reporting re-
quirements for registered govern-
ment securities brokers and deal-
ers. 

(a) Every registered government se-

curities broker or dealer shall comply 

with the requirements of § 240.17h–2T of 

this title (SEC Rule 17h–2T), with the 

following modifications: 

(1) For the purposes of this section, 

references to ‘‘broker or dealer’’ and 

‘‘broker or dealer registered with the 

Commission pursuant to Section 15 of 

the Act’’ mean registered government 

securities brokers or dealers. 

(2) For the purposes of this section, 

references to §§ 240.17h–1T and 240.17h– 

2T of this title mean those sections as 

modified by §§ 404.2(b) and 405.5, respec-

tively. 

(3) For the purposes of this section, 

‘‘associated person’’ has the meaning 

set out in Section 3(a)(18) of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78c(a)(18)), except that natural 

persons are excluded. 

(4) Paragraph 240.17h–2T(b) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(b) Exemptions. (1) The provisions of 

this section shall not apply to any reg-

istered government securities broker 

or dealer: 

‘‘(i) Which is exempt from the provi-

sions of § 240.15c3–3 of this title, as 

made applicable by § 403.4, pursuant to 

paragraph (k)(2) of § 240.15c3–3 of this 

title; or 

‘‘(ii) If the registered government se-

curities broker or dealer does not qual-

ify for exemption from the provisions 

of § 240.15c3–3 of this title, as made ap-

plicable by § 403.4, and such registered 

government securities broker or dealer 

does not hold funds or securities for, or 

owe money or securities to, customers 

and does not carry the accounts of, or 

for, customers; unless 

‘‘(iii) In the case of paragraphs (b)(1) 

(i) or (ii) of this section, the registered 

government securities broker or dealer 

maintains capital of at least $20,000,000, 

including debt subordinated in accord-

ance with appendix D of § 240.15c3–1 of 

this title, as modified by appendix D of 

§ 402.2. 

‘‘(2) The provisions of this section 

shall not apply to any registered gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

which maintains capital of less than 

$250,000, including debt subordinated in 

accordance with appendix D of 

§ 240.15c3–1 of this title, as modified by 

appendix D of § 402.2, even if the reg-

istered government securities broker 

or dealer holds funds or securities for, 

or owes money or securities to, cus-

tomers or carries the accounts of, or 

for, customers. 

‘‘(3) The provisions of this section 

shall not apply to any registered gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer 

which has an associated person that is 

a registered broker or dealer, provided 

that: 

‘‘(i) The registered broker or dealer is 

subject to, and in compliance with, the 

provisions of § 240.17h–1T and § 240.17h– 

2T of this title, and 

‘‘(ii) All of the Material Associated 

Persons of the registered government 

securities broker or dealer are Material 

Associated Persons of the registered 

broker or dealer subject to § 240.17h–1T 

and § 240.17h–2T of this title. 

‘‘(4) In calculating capital for the 

purposes of this paragraph, a registered 

government securities broker or dealer 

shall include with its equity capital 

and subordinated debt the equity cap-

ital and subordinated debt of any other 

registered government securities bro-

kers or dealers or registered brokers or 

dealers that are associated persons of 

such registered government securities 

broker or dealer, except that the eq-

uity capital and subordinated debt of 

registered brokers and dealers that are 

exempt from the provisions of 

§ 240.15c3–3 of this title, pursuant to 

paragraph (k)(1) of § 240.15c3–3, shall 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 14:21 May 30, 2018 Jkt 244060 PO 00000 Frm 01301 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\17\17V4.TXT 31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
D

S
K

54
D

X
V

N
1O

F
R

 w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



1292 

17 CFR Ch. IV (4–1–18 Edition) Pt. 420 

not be included in the capital computa-

tion. 

‘‘(5) The Secretary may, upon written 

application by a Reporting Registered 

Government Securities Broker or Deal-

er, exempt from the provisions of this 

section, either unconditionally or on 

specified terms and conditions, any 

registered government securities bro-

kers or dealers that are associated per-

sons of such Reporting Registered Gov-

ernment Securities Broker or Dealer. 

The term ‘‘Reporting Registered Gov-

ernment Securities Broker or Dealer’’ 

shall mean any registered government 

securities broker or dealer that sub-

mits such application to the Secretary 

on behalf of its associated registered 

government securities brokers or deal-

ers.’’ 

(5) Paragraph 240.17h–2T(c) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(c) Special provisions with respect to 
Material Associated Persons subject to the 
supervision of certain domestic regulators. 
A registered government securities 

broker or dealer shall be deemed to be 

in compliance with the reporting re-

quirements of paragraph (a) of this sec-

tion with respect to a Material Associ-

ated Person if such registered govern-

ment securities broker or dealer files 

Items 1, 2, and 3 (in Part I) of Form 17– 

H in accordance with paragraph (a) of 

this section, provided that: 

‘‘(1) Such Material Associated Person 

is subject to examination by or the re-

porting requirements of a Federal 

banking agency and the registered gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer or 

such Material Associated Person fur-

nishes in accordance with paragraph 

(a) of this section copies of reports 

filed by the Material Associated Person 

with the Federal banking agency pur-

suant to section 5211 of the Revised 

Statutes, section 9 of the Federal Re-

serve Act, section 7(a) of the Federal 

Deposit Insurance Act, section 10(b) of 

the Home Owners’ Loan Act, or section 

5 of the Bank Holding Company Act of 

1956; or * * * ’’ 

(6) Paragraph 240.17h–2T(d) of this 

title is modified to read as follows: 

‘‘(d) Special provisions with respect to 
Material Associated Persons subject to the 
supervision of a foreign financial regu-
latory authority. A registered govern-

ment securities broker or dealer shall 

be deemed to be in compliance with the 
reporting requirements of paragraph 
(a) of this section with respect to a Ma-
terial Associated Person if such reg-
istered government securities broker 
or dealer furnishes, in accordance with 
the provisions of paragraph (a) of this 
section, Items 1, 2, and 3 (in Part I) of 
Form 17–H and copies of the reports 
filed by such Material Associated Per-
son with a Foreign Financial Regu-
latory Authority. The registered gov-
ernment securities broker or dealer 
shall file a copy of the original Foreign 
Financial Regulatory report and a copy 
translated into the English language. 
For the purposes of this section, the 
term Foreign Financial Regulatory Au-
thority shall have the meaning set 
forth in section 3(a)(52) of the Act.’’ 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[60 FR 20401, Apr. 26, 1995, as amended at 79 

FR 38456, July 8, 2014] 

PART 420—LARGE POSITION 
REPORTING 

Sec. 
420.1 Applicability. 
420.2 Definitions. 
420.3 Reporting. 
420.4 Recordkeeping. 
420.5 Applicability date. 

APPENDIX A TO PART 420—SEPARATE REPORT-

ING ENTITY 
APPENDIX B TO PART 420—SAMPLE LARGE PO-

SITION REPORT 

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 78o–5(f). 

SOURCE: 79 FR 73414, Dec. 10, 2014, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 420.1 Applicability. 
(a) This part is applicable to all per-

sons that participate in the govern-
ment securities market, including, but 
not limited to: Government securities 
brokers and dealers, depository institu-
tions that exercise investment discre-
tion, registered investment companies, 
registered investment advisers, pension 
funds, hedge funds, and insurance com-
panies that may control a position in a 
recently-issued marketable Treasury 
bill, note, or bond as those terms are 
defined in § 420.2. 

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of 
this section, Treasury requests that 

central banks (including U.S. Federal 
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Reserve Banks for their own account), 

foreign governments, and international 

monetary authorities voluntarily sub-

mit large position reports when they 

meet or exceed a reporting threshold. 

§ 420.2 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this part: 
Aggregating entity means a single en-

tity (e.g., a parent company, affiliate, 

or organizational component) that is 

combined with other entities, as speci-

fied in the definition of ‘‘reporting en-

tity’’ of this section, to form a report-

ing entity. In those cases where an en-

tity has no affiliates, the aggregating 

entity is the same as the reporting en-

tity. 
Control means having the authority 

to exercise investment discretion over 

the purchase, sale, retention, or financ-

ing of specific Treasury securities. 
Large position threshold means the 

minimum dollar par amount of the 

specified Treasury security that a re-

porting entity must control in order 

for the entity to be required to submit 

a large position report. It also means 

the minimum number of futures, op-

tions on futures, and exchange-traded 

options contracts for which the speci-

fied Treasury security is deliverable 

that the reporting entity must control 

in order for the entity to be required to 

submit a large position report. Treas-

ury will announce the large position 

thresholds, which may vary with each 

notice of request to report large posi-

tion information and with each speci-

fied Treasury security. Treasury may 

announce different thresholds for cer-

tain reporting criteria. Under no cir-

cumstances will a large position 

threshold be less than 10 percent of the 

amount outstanding of the specified 

Treasury security. 
Recently-issued means: 
(1) With respect to Treasury securi-

ties that are issued quarterly or more 

frequently, the three most recent 

issues of the security. 
(2) With respect to Treasury securi-

ties that are issued less frequently 

than quarterly, the two most recent 

issues of the security. 
(3) With respect to a reopened secu-

rity, the entire issue of a reopened se-

curity (older and newer portions) based 

on the date the new portion of the re-

opened security is issued by Treasury 

(or for when-issued securities, the 

scheduled issue date). 
(4) For all Treasury securities, a se-

curity announced to be issued or auc-

tioned but unissued (when-issued), 

starting from the date of the issuance 

announcement. The most recent issue 

of the security is the one most recently 

announced. 
(5) Treasury security issues other 

than those specified in paragraphs (1) 

and (2) of this definition, provided that 

such large position information is nec-

essary and appropriate for monitoring 

the impact of concentrations of posi-

tions in Treasury securities. 
Reporting entity means any corpora-

tion, partnership, person, or other enti-

ty and its affiliates, as further provided 

herein. For the purposes of this defini-

tion, an affiliate is any: Entity that is 

more than 50% owned, directly or indi-

rectly, by the aggregating entity or by 

any other affiliate of the aggregating 

entity; person or entity that owns, di-

rectly or indirectly, more than 50% of 

the aggregating entity; person or enti-

ty that owns, directly or indirectly, 

more than 50% of any other affiliate of 

the aggregating entity; or entity, a 

majority of whose board of directors or 

a majority of whose general partners 

are directors or officers of the aggre-

gating entity or any affiliate of the ag-

gregating entity. 
(1) Subject to the conditions pre-

scribed in appendix A to this part, one 

aggregating entity, or a combination of 

aggregating entities, may be recog-

nized as a separate reporting entity. 
(2) Notwithstanding this definition, 

any persons or entities that inten-

tionally act together with respect to 

the investing in, retention of, or fi-

nancing of Treasury securities are con-

sidered, collectively, to be one report-

ing entity. 
Reporting requirement means that an 

entity must file a large position report 

when it meets any one of eight criteria 

contained in appendix B to this part. 

§ 420.3 Reporting. 
(a) A reporting entity must file a 

large position report if it meets the re-

porting requirement as defined in 

§ 420.2. Treasury will provide notice of 

the large position thresholds by issuing 
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a press release and subsequently pub-

lishing the notice in the FEDERAL REG-

ISTER. Such notice will identify the 

Treasury security issue(s) to be re-

ported (including, where applicable, 

identifying the related STRIPS prin-

cipal component); the date or dates for 

which the large position information 

must be reported; and the large posi-

tion thresholds for that issue. A report-

ing entity is responsible for taking rea-

sonable actions to be aware of such a 

notice. 

(b) A reporting entity shall select one 

entity from among its aggregating en-

tities (i.e., the designated filing entity) 

as the entity designated to compile and 

file a report on behalf of the reporting 

entity. The designated filing entity 

shall be responsible for filing any large 

position reports in response to a notice 

issued by Treasury and for maintaining 

the additional records prescribed in 

§ 420.4. 

(c)(1) In response to a notice issued 

under paragraph (a) of this section re-

questing large position information, a 

reporting entity that controls an 

amount of the specified Treasury secu-

rity that equals or exceeds one of the 

specified large position thresholds stat-

ed in the notice shall compile and re-

port the amounts of the reporting enti-

ty’s positions in the order specified, as 

follows: 

(i) Part I. Positions in the Security 

Being Reported as of the Opening of 

Business on the Report Date, including 

positions: 

(A) In book-entry accounts of the re-

porting entity; 

(B) As collateral against borrowings 

of funds on general collateral finance 

repurchase agreements; 

(C) As collateral against borrowings 

of funds on tri-party repurchase agree-

ments; 

(D) As collateral or margin to secure 

other contractual obligations of the re-

porting entity; and 

(E) Otherwise available to the report-

ing entity. 

(ii) Part II. Settlement Obligations 

Attributable to Outright Purchase and 

Sale Contracts Negotiated Prior to or 

on the Report Date (excluding settle-

ment fails), including: 

(A) Obligations to receive or deliver, 

on the report date, the security being 

reported attributable to contracts for 

cash settlement (T + 0); 

(B) Obligations to receive or deliver, 

on the report date, the security being 

reported attributable to contracts for 

regular settlement (T + 1); 

(C) Obligations to receive or deliver, 

on the report date, the security being 

reported attributable to contracts, in-

cluding when-issued contracts, for for-

ward settlement (T + n, n>1); 

(D) Obligations to receive, on the re-

port date, the security being reported 

attributable to Treasury auction 

awards; and 

(E) Obligations to receive or deliver, 

on the report date, principal STRIPS 

derived from the security being re-

ported attributable to contracts for 

cash settlement, regular settlement, 

when-issued settlement, and forward 

settlement. 

(iii) Part III. Settlement Obligations 

Attributable to Delivery-versus-Pay-

ment Financing Contracts (including 

repurchase agreements and securities 

lending agreements) Negotiated Prior 

to or on the Report Date (excluding 

settlement fails), including: 

(A) Obligations to receive or deliver, 

on the report date, the security being 

reported, and principal STRIPS derived 

from the security being reported, at-

tributable to overnight agreements; 

(B) Obligations to receive or deliver, 

on the report date, the security being 

reported, and principal STRIPS derived 

from the security being reported, at-

tributable to term agreements due to 

open on, or due to close on, the report 

date; and 

(C) Obligations to receive or deliver, 

on the report date, the security being 

reported, and principal STRIPS derived 

from the security being reported, at-

tributable to open agreements due to 

open on, or due to close on, the report 

date. 

(iv) Part IV. Settlement Fails from 

Days Prior to the Report Date (Legacy 

Obligations), including obligations to 

receive or deliver, on the report date, 

the security being reported, and prin-

cipal STRIPS derived from the secu-

rity being reported, arising out of set-

tlement fails on days prior to the re-

port date. 

(v) Part V. Settlement Fails as of the 

Close of Business on the Report Date, 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 14:21 May 30, 2018 Jkt 244060 PO 00000 Frm 01304 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\17\17V4.TXT 31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
D

S
K

54
D

X
V

N
1O

F
R

 w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



1295 

Department of the Treasury § 420.3 

including obligations to receive or de-

liver, on the business day following the 

report date, the security being re-

ported, and principal STRIPS derived 

from the security being reported, aris-

ing out of settlement fails on the re-

port date. 

(vi) Part VI. Positions in the Security 

Being Reported as of the Close of Busi-

ness on the Report Date, including po-

sitions: 

(A) In book-entry accounts of the re-

porting entity; 

(B) As collateral against borrowings 

of funds on general collateral finance 

repurchase agreements; 

(C) As collateral against borrowings 

of funds on tri-party repurchase agree-

ments; 

(D) As collateral or margin to secure 

other contractual obligations of the re-

porting entity; and 

(E) Otherwise available to the report-

ing entity. 

(vii) Part VII. Quantity of Continuing 

Delivery-versus-Payment Financing 

Contracts for the Security Being Re-

ported, including the gross amount of 

security being reported borrowed or 

lent out on term delivery-versus-pay-

ment repurchase agreements opened 

before the report date and not due to 

close until after the report date, and on 

open delivery-versus-payment repur-

chase agreements opened before the re-

port date and not closed on the report 

date. 

(viii) Part VIII. Futures and Options 

Contracts, including: 

(A)(1) Net position, as of the close of 

market on the business day prior to 

the report date, in futures, options on 

futures, and exchange-traded options 

contracts on which the security being 

reported is deliverable (report number 

of contracts); and 

(2) Net position, as of the close of 

market on the report date, in futures, 

options on futures, and exchange-trad-

ed options contracts on which the secu-

rity being reported is deliverable (re-

port number of contracts). 

(B)(1) Net position, as of the close of 

market on the business day prior to 

the report date, in over-the-counter op-

tions contracts on which the security 

being reported is deliverable (report 

notional amount of contracts regard-

less of option delta); and 

(2) Net position, as of the close of 

market on the report date, in over-the- 

counter options contracts on which the 

security being reported is deliverable 

(report notional amount of contracts 

regardless of option delta). 

(d) An illustration of a sample report 

is contained in appendix B of this part. 

(e) Each of the components of Part I– 

Part VIII of paragraph (c)(1) of this sec-

tion shall be reported as a positive 

number or zero. All reportable amounts 

should be reported in the order speci-

fied above and at par in millions of dol-

lars, except futures, options on futures, 

and exchange-traded options contracts, 

which should be reported as the num-

ber of contracts. Over-the-counter op-

tions contracts should be reported as 

the notional dollar amount of con-

tracts regardless of option delta. 

(f) Each submitted large position re-

port must include the following admin-

istrative information: Name of the re-

porting entity; address of the principal 

place of business; name and address of 

the designated filing entity; the Treas-

ury security that is being reported; the 

CUSIP number for the security being 

reported; the report date or dates for 

which information is being reported; 

the date the report was submitted; 

name and telephone number of the per-

son to contact regarding information 

reported; and name and position of the 

authorized individual submitting this 

report. 

(1) Reporting entities have the option 

to identify the type(s) of business en-

gaged in by the reporting entity and its 

aggregating entities with positions in 

the specified Treasury security by 

checking the appropriate box. The 

types of businesses include: Broker or 

dealer, government securities broker 

or dealer, municipal securities broker 

or dealer, futures commission mer-

chant, bank holding company, non- 

bank holding company, bank, invest-

ment adviser, commodity pool oper-

ator, pension trustee, non-pension 

trustee, and insurance company. Re-

porting entities may select as many 

business types as applicable. If the re-

porting entity is engaged in a business 

that is not listed, it could select 

‘‘other’’ and provide a description of its 

business with respect to positions in 

the specified Treasury security. 
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(2) Reporting entities also have the 
option to identify their overall invest-
ment strategy with respect to positions 
in the specified Treasury security by 
checking the appropriate box. Active 
investment strategies include those 
that involve purchasing, selling, bor-
rowing, lending, and financing posi-
tions in the security prior to maturity. 
Passive investment strategies include 
those that involve holding the security 
until maturity. A combination of ac-
tive and passive strategies would in-
volve applying the aforementioned ac-
tive and passive strategies to all or a 
portion of a reporting entity’s posi-
tions in the specified Treasury secu-
rity. Reporting entities may select the 
most applicable investment strategy. 

(g) The large position report must be 
signed by one of the following: The 
chief compliance officer; chief legal of-
ficer; chief financial officer; chief oper-
ating officer; chief executive officer; or 
managing partner or equivalent of the 
designated filing entity. The des-
ignated filing entity must also include 
in the report, immediately preceding 
the signature, a statement of certifi-
cation as follows: 

By signing below, I certify that the infor-

mation contained in this report with regard 

to the designated filing entity is accurate 

and complete. Further, after reasonable in-

quiry and to the best of my knowledge and 

belief, I certify that: (i) The information 

contained in this report with regard to any 

other aggregating entities is accurate and 

complete; and (ii) the reporting entity, in-

cluding all aggregating entities, is in compli-

ance with the requirements of 17 CFR part 

420. 

(h) The report must be filed before 
noon Eastern Time on the fourth busi-
ness day following issuance of the press 
release. 

(i) A report to be filed pursuant to 
paragraph (c) of this section will be 
considered filed when received by the 
Federal Reserve Bank of New York. 
The report may be filed by facsimile or 
delivered hard copy. The Federal Re-
serve Bank of New York may in its dis-
cretion also authorize other means of 
reporting. 

(j) A reporting entity that has filed a 

report pursuant to paragraph (c) of this 

section shall, at the request of Treas-

ury or the Federal Reserve Bank of 

New York, timely provide any supple-

mental information pertaining to such 

report. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

§ 420.4 Recordkeeping. 

(a) Recordkeeping responsibility of ag-
gregating entities. Notwithstanding the 

provisions of paragraphs (b) and (c) of 

this section, an aggregating entity 

that controls a portion of its reporting 

entity’s position in a recently-issued 

Treasury security, when such position 

of the reporting entity equals or ex-

ceeds $2 billion, shall be responsible for 

making and maintaining the records 

prescribed in this section. 

(b) Records to be made and preserved by 
entities that are subject to the record-
keeping provisions of the SEC, Treasury, 
or the appropriate regulatory agencies for 
financial institutions. As an aggregating 

entity, compliance by a registered 

broker or dealer, registered govern-

ment securities broker or dealer, no-

ticed financial institution, depository 

institution that exercises investment 

discretion, registered investment ad-

viser, or registered investment com-

pany with the applicable recordkeeping 

provisions of the SEC, Treasury, or the 

appropriate regulatory agencies for fi-

nancial institutions shall constitute 

compliance with this section, provided 

that, if such entity is also the des-

ignated filing entity, it: 

(1) Makes and keeps copies of all 

large position reports filed pursuant to 

this part; 

(2) Makes and keeps supporting docu-

ments or schedules used to compute 

data for the large position reports filed 

pursuant to this part, including any 

certifications or schedules it receives 

from aggregating entities pertaining to 

their holdings of the reporting entity’s 

position; 

(3) Makes and keeps a chart showing 

the organizational entities that are ag-

gregated (if applicable) in determining 

the reporting entity’s position; and 

(4) With respect to recordkeeping 

preservation requirements that contain 

more than one retention period, pre-

serves records required by paragraphs 

(b)(1) through (3) of this section for the 

longest record retention period of ap-

plicable recordkeeping provisions. 
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(c) Records to be made and preserved by 

other entities. (1) An aggregating entity 

that is not subject to the provisions of 

paragraph (b) of this section shall 

make and preserve a journal, blotter, 

or other record of original entry con-

taining an itemized record of all trans-

actions that contribute to a reporting 

entity’s position, including informa-

tion showing the account for which 

such transactions were effected and the 

following information pertaining to the 

identification of each instrument: The 

type of security, the par amount, the 

CUSIP number, the trade date, the ma-

turity date, the type of transaction 

(e.g., a reverse repurchase agreement), 

and the name or other designation of 

the person from whom sold or pur-

chased. 

(2) If such aggregating entity is also 

the designated filing entity, then in ad-

dition it shall make and preserve the 

following records: 

(i) Copies of all large position reports 

filed pursuant to this part; 

(ii) Supporting documents or sched-

ules used to compute data for the large 

position reports filed pursuant to this 

part, including any certifications or 

schedules it receives from aggregating 

entities pertaining to their holdings of 

the reporting entity’s position; and 

(iii) A chart showing the organiza-

tional entities that are aggregated (if 

applicable) in determining the report-

ing entity’s position. 

(3) With respect to the records re-

quired by paragraphs (c)(1) and (2) of 

this section, each such aggregating en-

tity shall preserve such records for a 

period of not less than six years, the 

first two years in an easily accessible 

place. If an aggregating entity main-

tains its records at a location other 

than its principal place of business, the 

aggregating entity must maintain an 

index that states the location of the 

records, and such index must be easily 

accessible at all times. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

§ 420.5 Applicability date. 

The provisions of this part shall be 

first applicable beginning March 31, 

1997. 

APPENDIX A TO PART 420—SEPARATE 
REPORTING ENTITY 

Subject to the following conditions, one or 

more aggregating entity(ies) (e.g., parent, 

subsidiary, or organizational component) in 

a reporting entity, either separately or to-

gether with one or more other aggregating 

entity(ies), may be recognized as a separate 

reporting entity. All of the following condi-

tions must be met for such entity(ies) to 

qualify for recognition as a separate report-

ing entity: 
(1) Such entity(ies) must be prohibited by 

law or regulation from exchanging, or must 

have established written internal procedures 

designed to prevent the exchange of informa-

tion related to transactions in Treasury se-

curities with any other aggregating entity; 
(2) Such entity(ies) must not be created for 

the purpose of circumventing these large po-

sition reporting rules; 
(3) Decisions related to the purchase, sale 

or retention of Treasury securities must be 

made by employees of such entity(ies). Em-

ployees of such entity(ies) who make deci-

sions to purchase or dispose of Treasury se-

curities must not perform the same function 

for other aggregating entities; and 
(4) The records of such entity(ies) related 

to the ownership, financing, purchase and 

sale of Treasury securities must be main-

tained by such entity(ies). Those records 

must be identifiable—separate and apart 

from similar records for other aggregating 

entities. 
To obtain recognition as a separate report-

ing entity, each aggregating entity or group 

of aggregating entities must request such 

recognition from Treasury pursuant to the 

procedures outlined in § 400.2(c) of this chap-

ter. Such request must provide a description 

of the entity or group and its position within 

the reporting entity, and provide the fol-

lowing certification: 
[Name of the entity(ies)] hereby certifies 

that to the best of its knowledge and belief 

it meets the conditions for a separate report-

ing entity as described in appendix A to 17 

CFR part 420. The above named entity also 

certifies that it has established written poli-

cies or procedures, including ongoing compli-

ance monitoring processes, that are designed 

to prevent the entity or group of entities 

from: 
(1) Exchanging any of the following infor-

mation with any other aggregating entity (a) 

positions that it holds or plans to trade in a 

Treasury security; (b) investment strategies 

that it plans to follow regarding Treasury se-

curities; and (c) financing strategies that it 

plans to follow regarding Treasury securi-

ties, or 
(2) In any way intentionally acting to-

gether with any other aggregating entity 

with respect to the purchase, sale, retention 

or financing of Treasury securities. 
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The above-named entity agrees that it will 

promptly notify Treasury in writing when 

any of the information provided to obtain 

separate reporting entity status changes or 

when this certification is no longer valid. 
Any entity, including any organizational 

component thereof, that previously has re-

ceived recognition as a separate bidder in 

Treasury auctions from Treasury pursuant 

to 31 CFR part 356 is also recognized as a sep-

arate reporting entity without the need to 

request such status, provided such entity 

continues to be in compliance with the con-

ditions set forth in appendix A to 31 CFR 

part 356. 

APPENDIX B TO PART 420—SAMPLE 

LARGE POSITION REPORT 

FORMULA FOR DETERMINING WHETHER TO 

SUBMIT A LARGE POSITION REPORT 

(Report all components as a positive number 

or zero in millions of dollars at par value) 
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PART 449—FORMS, SECTION 15C 
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE 
ACT OF 1934 

Sec. 

449.1 Form G-FIN, notification by financial 

institutions of status as government se-

curities broker or dealer pursuant to sec-

tion 15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Securities Ex-

change Act of 1934. 

449.2 Form G-FINW, notification by finan-

cial institutions of cessation of status as 

government securities broker or dealer 

pursuant to section 15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 

§ 400.6 of this chapter. 

449.3 Form G-FIN-4, notification by persons 

associated with financial institutions 

that are government securities brokers 

and dealers pursuant to section 

15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 and § 400.4 of this chapter. 

449.4 Form G-FIN-5, notification of termi-

nation of association with a financial in-

stitution that is a government securities 

broker or dealer pursuant to section 

15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 and § 400.4 of this chapter. 

449.5 Form G–405, information required of 

registered government securities brokers 

and dealers pursuant to section 15C of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 

§§ 405.2 and 405.3 of this chapter. 

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 78o–5(a), (b)(1)(B), 

(b)(4). 

SOURCE: 52 FR 27956, July 24, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 449.1 Form G-FIN, notification by fi-
nancial institutions of status as gov-
ernment securities broker or dealer 
pursuant to section 15C(a)(1)(B)(i) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. 

This form is to be used by financial 

institutions that are government secu-

rities brokers or dealers not exempt 

under part 401 of this chapter to notify 

their appropriate regulatory agency of 

their status. The form is promulgated 

by the Board of Governors of the Fed-

eral Reserve System and is available 

from the Board of Governors of the 

Federal Reserve System, the Comp-

troller of the Currency, the Federal De-

posit Insurance Corporation, and the 

SEC. 

[52 FR 27956, July 24, 1987, as amended at 79 

FR 38456, July 8, 2014] 

§ 449.2 Form G-FINW, notification by 
financial institutions of cessation of 
status as government securities 
broker or dealer pursuant to sec-
tion 15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 and § 400.6 of 
this chapter. 

This form is to be used by financial 

institutions that are government secu-

rities brokers or dealers to notify their 

appropriate regulatory agency that 

they have ceased to function as a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer. 

The form is promulgated by the Board 

of Governors of the Federal Reserve 

System and is available from the Board 

of Governors of the Federal Reserve 

System, the Comptroller of the Cur-

rency, the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation, and the SEC. 

[52 FR 27956, July 24, 1987, as amended at 79 

FR 38456, July 8, 2014] 

§ 449.3 Form G-FIN-4, notification by 
persons associated with financial 
institutions that are government se-
curities brokers and dealers pursu-
ant to section 15C(a)(1)(B)(i) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
§ 400.4 of this chapter. 

This form is to be used by associated 

persons of financial institutions that 

are government securities brokers or 

dealers to provide certain information 

to the financial institution and the ap-

propriate regulatory agency con-

cerning employment, residence, and 

statutory disqualification. The form is 

promulgated by the Department of the 

Treasury and is available from the 

Board of Governors of the Federal Re-

serve System, the Comptroller of the 

Currency, the Federal Deposit Insur-

ance Corporation, and the SEC. 

[52 FR 27956, July 24, 1987, as amended at 79 

FR 38456, July 8, 2014] 

EDITORIAL NOTE: For FEDERAL REGISTER ci-

tations affecting Form G-FIN-4, see the List 

of CFR Sections Affected, which appears in 

the Finding Aids section of the printed vol-

ume and at www.fdsys.gov. 
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§ 449.4 Form G-FIN-5, notification of 
termination of association with a fi-
nancial institution that is a govern-
ment securities broker or dealer 
pursuant to section 15C(a)(1)(B)(i) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 and § 400.4 of this chapter. 

This form is to be used by financial 
institutions that are government secu-
rities brokers or dealers to notify the 
appropriate regulatory agency of the 
fact that an associated person is no 
longer associated with the government 
securities broker or dealer function of 
the financial institution. The form is 
promulgated by the Department of the 
Treasury and is available from the 
Board of Governors of the Federal Re-

serve System, the Comptroller of the 

Currency, the Federal Deposit Insur-

ance Corporation, and the SEC. 

[52 FR 27956, July 24, 1987, as amended at 79 

FR 38456, July 8, 2014] 

§ 449.5 Form G–405, information re-
quired of registered government se-
curities brokers and dealers pursu-
ant to section 15C of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 and §§ 405.2 
and 405.3 of this chapter. 

This form is to be used by registered 

government securities brokers and 

dealers to make the monthly, quar-

terly and annual financial reports re-

quired by part 405 of this chapter. The 

form is promulgated by the Depart-

ment of the Treasury and is available 

from the SEC and the designated exam-

ining authorities. 

EDITORIAL NOTE: For FEDERAL REGISTER ci-

tations affecting Form G–405, see the List of 

CFR Sections Affected, which appears in the 

Finding Aids section of the printed volume 

and at www.fdsys.gov. 
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SUBCHAPTER B—REGULATIONS UNDER TITLE II OF THE 
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ACT OF 1986 

PART 450—CUSTODIAL HOLDINGS 
OF GOVERNMENT SECURITIES BY 
DEPOSITORY INSTITUTIONS 

Sec. 

450.1 Scope of regulations; office respon-

sible. 

450.2 Definitions. 

450.3 Exemption for holdings subject to fi-

duciary standards. 

450.4 Custodial holdings of government se-

curities. 

450.5 Effective date. 

AUTHORITY: Sec. 201, Pub. L. 99–571, 100 

Stat. 3222–23 (31 U.S.C. 3121, 9110); Sec. 101, 

Pub. L. 99–571, 100 Stat. 3208 (15 U.S.C. 78o- 

5(b)(1)(A), (b)(4), (b)(5)(B)). 

SOURCE: 52 FR 27957, July 24, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 450.1 Scope of regulations; office re-
sponsible. 

(a) This part applies to depository in-

stitutions that hold government secu-

rities as fiduciary, custodian, or other-

wise for the account of a customer, and 

that are not government securities bro-

kers or dealers, as defined in sections 

3(a)(43) and 3(a)(44) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 

78c(a)(43)–(44)). Depository institutions 

exempt under part 401 of this chapter 

from the requirements of Subchapter A 

of this chapter must comply with this 

part. Certain depository institutions 

that are government securities brokers 

or dealers must also comply with this 

part, as well as with additional require-

ments set forth in § 403.5. 

(b) The regulations in this sub-

chapter are promulgated by the Assist-

ant Secretary (Domestic Finance) pur-

suant to a delegation of authority from 

the Secretary of the Treasury. The of-

fice responsible for the regulations is 

the Office of the Commissioner, Bureau 

of the Fiscal Service. Procedures for 

obtaining interpretations of the regula-

tions are set forth at § 400.2. 

[52 FR 27957, July 24, 1987, as amended at 53 

FR 28987, Aug. 1, 1988; 79 FR 38456, July 8, 

2014] 

§ 450.2 Definitions. 
For purposes of this subchapter: 
(a) Appropriate regulatory agency has 

the meaning set out in section 

3(a)(34)(G) of the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(34)(G)), ex-

cept that the appropriate regulatory 

agency for— 
(1) A Federal credit union as defined 

in 12 U.S.C. 1752(1) and an insured cred-

it union as defined in 12 U.S.C. 1752(7) 

is the National Credit Union Adminis-

tration; and 
(2) Any depository institution for 

whom an appropriate regulatory agen-

cy is not explicitly specified by either 

section 3(a)(34)(G) or this paragraph, is 

the SEC; 
(b) Customer includes, but is not lim-

ited to, the counterparty to a trans-

action pursuant to a repurchase agree-

ment for whom the depository institu-

tion retains possession of the security 

sold subject to repurchase, but does not 

include a broker or dealer that is reg-

istered pursuant to section 15, 15B or 

15C(a)(1)(A) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o, 

78o–4, 78o–5(a)(l)(A)) or that has filed 

notice of its status as a government se-

curities broker or dealer pursuant to 

section 15C(a)(1)(B) of the Act (15 

U.S.C. 78o–5(a)(1)(B)) except as provided 

in § 450.4. 
(c) Depository institution has the 

meaning stated in clauses (i) through 

(vi) of section 19(b)(1)(A) of the Federal 

Reserve Act (12 U.S.C. 461(b)(1)(A) (i)– 

(vi)) and also includes a foreign bank, 

an agency or branch of a foreign bank 

and a commercial lending company 

owned or controlled by a foreign bank 

(as such terms are defined in the Inter-

national Banking Act of 1978, Pub. L. 

95–369, 92 Stat. 607); 
(d) Fiduciary capacity includes trust-

ee, executor, administrator, registrar, 

transfer agent, guardian, assignee, re-

ceiver, managing agent, and any other 

similar capacity involving the sole or 

shared exercise of discretion by a de-

pository institution having fiduciary 

powers that is supervised by a Federal 

or state financial institution regu-

latory agency; and 
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(e) Government securities means: 

If . . . Then . . . 

(1)(i) A depository institution is a government securities broker 
or dealer as defined in sections 3(a)(43) and 3(a)(44) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(43)–(44)).

‘‘Government securities’’ means those obligations described in 
subparagraphs (A), (B), (C), or (E) of section 3(a)(42) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(42)(A)– 
(C), (E)) 

(ii) A depository institution is exempt under Part 401 of this 
chapter from the requirements of Subchapter A.

‘‘Government securities’’ means those obligations described in 
subparagraphs (A), (B), (C), or (E) of section 3(a)(42) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(42)(A)– 
(C), (E)) 

(2) A depository institution is not a government securities 
broker or dealer as defined in sections 3(a)(43) and 3(a)(44) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 
78c(a)(43)–(44)).

‘‘Government securities’’ means those obligations described in 
subparagraphs (A), (B), or (C) of section 3(a)(42) of the Se-
curities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(42)(A)–(C)) 

[52 FR 27957, July 24, 1987, as amended at 55 FR 6604, Feb. 26, 1990; 66 FR 28655, May 24, 2001; 

66 FR 29888, June 1, 2001] 

§ 450.3 Exemption for holdings subject 
to fiduciary standards. 

(a) The Secretary has determined 

that the rules and standards of the 

Comptroller of the Currency, the Board 

of Governors of the Federal Reserve 

System, and the Federal Deposit Insur-

ance Corporation governing the hold-

ing of government securities in a fidu-

ciary capacity by depository institu-

tions subject thereto are adequate. Ac-

cordingly, such depository institutions 

are exempt from this part with respect 

to their holdings of government securi-

ties in a fiduciary capacity and their 

holdings of government securities in a 

custodial capacity provided that: 

(1) Such institution has adopted poli-

cies and procedures that would apply 

to such custodial holdings all the re-

quirements imposed by its appropriate 

regulatory agency that are applicable 

to government securities held in a fidu-

ciary capacity, and 

(2) Such custodial holdings are sub-

ject to examination by the appropriate 

regulatory agency for compliance with 

such fiduciary requirements. 

(b) The Secretary expects that each 

appropriate regulatory agency will no-

tify the Department if it materially re-

vises its rules and standards governing 

the holding of government securities in 

a fiduciary capacity. 

[52 FR 27957, July 24, 1987, as amended at 70 

FR 29446, May 23, 2005; 79 FR 38456, July 8, 

2014] 

§ 450.4 Custodial holdings of govern-
ment securities. 

Depository institutions that are sub-
ject to this part shall observe the fol-
lowing requirements with respect to 
their holdings of government securities 
for customer accounts: 

(a)(1) Except as otherwise provided in 
this section, a depository institution 
shall maintain possession or control of 
all government securities held for the 
account of customers by segregating 
such securities from the assets of the 
depository institution and keeping 
them free of any lien, charge or claim 
of any third party granted or created 
by such depository institution. 

(2)(i) Where customer securities are 
maintained by a depository institution 
at another depository institution, in-
cluding but not limited to a cor-
respondent bank or a trust company 
(‘‘custodian institution’’), the deposi-
tory institution shall be in compliance 
with paragraph (a)(1) of this section if: 

(A) The depository institution noti-
fies the custodian institution that such 
securities are customer securities; 

(B) The custodian institution main-
tains such securities in an account 
that is designated for customers of the 
depository institution and that does 
not contain proprietary securities of 
the depository institution; and 

(C) The depository institution in-
structs the custodian institution to 
maintain such securities free of any 

lien, charge, or claim of any kind in 

favor of such custodian institution or 

any persons claiming through it. 
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(ii) To the extent that a custodian in-

stitution holds securities that have 

been identified as customer securities 

by a depository institution in accord-

ance with paragraph (a)(2)(i) of this 

section, the custodian institution shall 

treat such securities as customer secu-

rities separate from any other securi-

ties held for the account of the deposi-

tory institution. 

(3)(i) Where securities that a deposi-

tory institution is required, pursuant 

to this part 450, to keep free of all 

liens, charges, or other claims (‘‘cus-

tomer securities’’) are maintained by a 

depository institution at a Federal Re-

serve Bank, the depository institution 

shall be in compliance with paragraph 

(a)(1) of this section if any lien, charge 

or other claim of such Federal Reserve 

Bank or any person claiming through 

it against securities of the depository 

institution expressly excludes cus-

tomer securities. 

(ii) Notwithstanding paragraph 

(a)(3)(i) of this section, a depository in-

stitution described in that paragraph 

shall be in compliance with paragraph 

(a)(1) of this section if a Federal Re-

serve Bank retains a lien on securities 

received during the day that are subse-

quently determined to be customer se-

curities, provided that, 

(A) On that day, the depository insti-

tution: 

(1) Because of extraordinary cir-

cumstances, at the end of that day ei-

ther requests a discount window ad-

vance or is unable to eliminate an 

overdraft with its Federal Reserve 

Bank and the Federal Reserve Bank ex-

tends credit to the depository institu-

tion in order to assure the safety and 

soundness or liquidity of the deposi-

tory institution; and 

(2) After reasonable efforts, is unable 

to provide the Federal Reserve Bank 

with an adequate security interest in 

other collateral that is clearly identifi-

able as pledgeable by the depository in-

stitution sufficient to fully 

collateralize such extension of credit; 

and 

(B) The depository institution dili-

gently pursues with the Federal Re-

serve Bank the substitution of other 

collateral for securities determined to 

be customer securities; and 

(C) The Federal Reserve Bank agrees 

that to the extent the lien extends to 

collateral of a value greater than the 

outstanding balance on the loan, cus-

tomer securities will be the first col-

lateral released from the lien. 

(4)(i) To the extent that a depository 

institution holds securities that have 

been identified to such depository in-

stitution as customer securities by a 

government securities broker or deal-

er, or that the government securities 

broker or dealer has instructed the de-

pository institution to place in a seg-

regated account, in accordance with 

part 403 of subchapter A of this chap-

ter, the depository institution shall 

treat such securities as customer secu-

rities separate from any other securi-

ties held for the account of the govern-

ment securities broker or dealer and 

shall comply with all of the provisions 

of this section with respect to such 

customer securities, except as provided 

in paragraph (a)(4)(ii) of this section. 

(ii) A clearing bank that provides 

clearing services for a government se-

curities broker or dealer and that 

maintains a segregated account as de-

scribed in § 403.4 of this chapter shall 

not be required to transfer securities to 

such account upon the instruction of 

the broker or dealer for whom such ac-

count is maintained if the clearing 

bank determines that such securities 

continue to be required as collateral 

for an extension of clearing credit to 

such dealer. Whenever a clearing bank 

does not segregate securities as of the 

close of business upon the instruction 

of such broker or dealer, it shall send a 

notification to the appropriate regu-

latory agency of the broker or dealer 

for whom such account is maintained. 

Such securities shall thereafter be seg-

regated pursuant to the instruction of 

the broker or dealer as soon as they are 

no longer required by the clearing bank 

as collateral for the extension of clear-

ing credit. 

(5) A depository institution that is 

subject to part 403 is not required to 

maintain possession or control of mar-

gin securities as that term is defined in 

§ 403.5(f)(1). 

(6) Notwithstanding the requirement 

of paragraph (a)(1) to maintain posses-

sion or control of customer securities, 

a depository institution may lend such 
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securities to a third party pursuant to 

the written agreement of the customer, 

if such loan of securities is carried out 

in full compliance with supervisory 

guidelines of its appropriate regulatory 

agency that expressly govern securities 

lending practices. 

(b)(1) Except as otherwise provided in 

paragraph (b)(2) of this section, a de-

pository institution shall issue a con-

firmation or a safekeeping receipt for 

each security held for a customer in ac-

cordance with this section with the ex-

ception of securities that are the sub-

ject of repurchase transactions which 

are subject to the requirements of 

§ 403.5(d) of this chapter. The confirma-

tion or safekeeping receipt shall iden-

tify the issuer, maturity date, par 

amount and coupon rate of the security 

being confirmed. The confirmation 

may be supplied to the customer in any 

manner that complies with applicable 

Federal banking regulations. 

(2) A depository institution shall not 

be required to send the confirmation or 

safekeeping receipt required by para-

graph (b)(1) of this section to a cus-

tomer that is a non-U.S. citizen resid-

ing outside the United States or a for-

eign corporation, partnership, or trust, 

if such customer expressly waives in 

writing the right to receive such con-

firmation or safekeeping receipt. 

(c) Records of government securities 

held for customers shall be maintained 

and shall be kept separate and distinct 

from other records of the depository in-

stitution. Such records shall: 

(1) Provide a system for identifying 

each customer, and each government 

security (or the amount of each issue 

of a government security issued in 

book-entry form) held for the cus-

tomer; 

(2) Describe the customer’s interest 

in the government security; 

(3) Indicate all receipts and deliveries 

of government securities and all re-

ceipts and disbursements of cash by the 

depository institution in connection 

with such securities; 

(4) Include a copy of the safekeeping 

receipt or a confirmation issued for 

each government security held; and 

(5) Provide an adequate basis for 

audit of such information. 

(d) Counts of government securities 

held for customers in both definitive 

and book-entry form shall be con-

ducted at least annually and such 

counts shall be reconciled with cus-

tomer account records. 

(1) Counts of book-entry securities 

and of definitive securities held outside 

the possession of the depository insti-

tution shall be made by reconciliation 

of the records of the depository institu-

tion with those of any depository, de-

pository institution, or Federal Re-

serve Bank on whose books the deposi-

tory institution has securities ac-

counts. 

(2) The depository institution con-

ducting the count shall also verify any 

such securities in transfer, in transit, 

pledged, loaned, borrowed, deposited, 

failed to receive, failed to deliver, sub-

ject to repurchase or reverse repur-

chase agreements or otherwise subject 

to the depository institution’s control 

or direction that are not in its physical 

possession, where the securities have 

been in such status for longer than 

thirty days. 

(3) The dates and results of such 

counts and reconciliations shall be doc-

umented with differences noted in a se-

curity count difference account not 

later than seven business days after 

the date of each required count and 

verification as provided in this para-

graph (d). 

(e) For purposes of this section, a de-

pository institution shall treat a gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer as 

a customer with respect to securities 

maintained by such government securi-

ties broker or dealer in a Segregated 

Account as defined in § 403.4(f)(1) of this 

chapter and with respect to securities 

otherwise identified to the depository 

institution as customer securities for 

purposes of maintaining possession or 

control of such securities as required 

by part 403 of this chapter. The record-

keeping requirements of paragraph (c) 

of this section require the depository 

institution to treat such securities as 

customer securities separate from any 

other securities held for the account of 

the government securities broker or 

dealer, but do not require the deposi-

tory institution to keep records identi-

fying individual customers of the gov-

ernment securities broker or dealer. 

(f) The records required by para-

graphs (c) and (d)(3) of this section 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 14:21 May 30, 2018 Jkt 244060 PO 00000 Frm 01320 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\17\17V4.TXT 31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
D

S
K

54
D

X
V

N
1O

F
R

 w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



1311 

Department of the Treasury § 450.5 

shall be preserved for not less than six 

years, the first two years in an easily 

accessible place. 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 

Budget under control number 1535–0089) 

[52 FR 27957, July 24, 1987, as amended at 60 

FR 11026, Mar. 1, 1995] 

§ 450.5 Effective date. 

This part shall be effective October 

31, 1987. 

PARTS 451–499 [RESERVED] 
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